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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on
GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors’) of GET Holdings Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive; (2) there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement in this report
misleading; and (3) all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases
and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of GET
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, referred to
as the “Group”), | would like to present the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (the “Year”) together with its strategies and
prospects.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$61,680,000 for the Year
(2018: loss of approximately HK$244,267,000).

The Group’s consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$67,200,000 for the Year (2018: loss of
approximately HK$251,411,000).

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the Year
(2018: Nil).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The Group is principally engaged in the Software Business, the Corporate
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business, the B2C Online
Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business, and the Securities
Investment Business (all as defined below). The business operations of
the Group were affected by the volatility of the global macro-economic
environment in 2019, whereas business opportunities arose alongside with
risks and uncertainties.

The Software Business continued to remain as one of the main revenue
streams and pillar businesses of the Group. The Group has constantly
reviewed and upgraded various software products during the Year in order
to keep up with the fast-changing information technology (“I.T.”) industry.
During the Year, revenue generated from the Software Business amounted
to approximately HK$73,994,000, representing approximately 20.0% of the
Group’s total turnover from continuing operations for the Year.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRE®|E

We are dedicated to enhancing the connectivity and compatibility with our
customers through offering I.T. products and solutions. Moreover, in the
second half of the Year, we took an initiative to expand our landscape via the
B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business. We expect
that the new business together with other business segments create a vibrant
ecosystem to allow us to serve better our customers around the world. During
the Year, the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business
was commenced to serve business customers and individual customers by
mainly offering them quality electronic lifestyle products, including but not
limited to smart phones and gadgets, which enlarged our footprints in the
technology industry. During the Year, the revenue from the B2C Online Sales
Platform and B2B Product Trading Business accounted for approximately
67.5% of the Group’s total turnover from continuing operations for the Year.

The Company had decided to suspend the operation of the Securities
Investment Business in May 2018, and had, taking into account the then
prevailing market situations, sought to dispose of some of the assets entailed
in the Securities Investment Business during the period from October 2018 to
January 2019. However, in view of the low interest rate environment and the
solid financial position of the Group, the Group made a pre-IPO investment in
March 2019. The Directors believed that the pre-IPO investment represented
a strategic move to potentially revive the Securities Investment Business and
there was room for improvement of the performance of this business segment.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$81,350,000 and net current
assets of approximately HK$152,240,000. Based on the solid financial
position, the Group will remain cautious in looking for and evaluating business
opportunities with growth potential. It will strategically invest its capital with the
aim of generating long-term and stable revenue and achieving further business
diversification, thereby delivering the best returns to the shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, despite the challenging business environment as well as the
complicated socio-economic environment, the Group is cautiously optimistic
about the future market conditions. In the coming year, the Group will continue
to endeavour at its best to capture stable business growth and return, and to
ultimately bring sustainable return to the Shareholders. The Group will continue
to effectively utilise its resources to expand its core businesses and to keep
exploring new business opportunities with good potentials. At the same time,
the Group will strive to maintain an appropriate balance between risk and
return.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
my gratitude to all our business partners, the Shareholders and customers for
their continuing trust and support in the past year. | would also like to extend
my sincere thanks to all staff of the Group and members of the Board for their
dedication and devotion during 2019, alongside their desire for the Group to
realise progress.

Wong Jing Shong
Chairman and Executive Director

20 March 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW
Continuing Operations
Software Business

During the Year, the business of research, development and distribution of
personal computer (“PC”) performance software, anti-virus software, mobile
phone applications and toolbar advertisements (“Software Business”) of
the Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$73,994,000 (2018:
approximately HK$85,823,000), representing a decrease of approximately
13.8% as compared to that of 2018. The segment loss of the Software
Business amounted to approximately HK$46,264,000 (2018: loss of
approximately HK$130,895,000), including an impairment loss on goodwil
(“Impairment Loss on Goodwill”) of approximately HK$65,000,000 (2018:
approximately HK$163,000,000) in relation to the cash-generating unit (‘CGU”)
of the Software Business, representing a decrease of approximately 64.7% as
compared to that of 2018. Details of the Impairment Loss on Goodwill are set
out in the sub-section headed “Updates on Material Asset Impairment” in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this report and note
23 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this report.

During the Year, the Group has continued to strengthen its foothold in the
software industry through Boom Max International Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Boom Max Group”), the operating unit of the Group carrying
on the Software Business. While advances in technology provide us with a
seamless life experience, computer users are more vulnerable to the ever-
evolving cyberthreats from malware, computer virus and leakage or misuse
of personal data. Seeing this global trend in the I.T. industry, the Group has
strived to develop computer optimisation together with anti-malware software
which provide a smooth, stable and safe experience to computer users. Over
the years, the Boom Max Group has consistently delivered cybersecurity
solutions and PC optimisation to its customers over the globe.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the Boom Max Group continued to uphold its commitment
in enhancing its product innovation and customer satisfaction. The research
and development team of the Boom Max Group which is armed by a group
of experts with profound experience in network security endeavours to create
new products and enhance our software products. The team has been
proactively staying up with the trends and development of the L.T. industry.
The Boom Max Group revamped its various software products during the
Year. In May 2019 and June 2019, the Boom Max Group introduced the
enhanced software products, I0bit Software Updater 2 and IObit Malware
Fighter 7, respectively. In August 2019 and September 2019, the Boom
Max Group announced an upgraded version of its software product, namely
|Obit Uninstaller 9.0, and one of its best sellers, namely Driver Booster 7.0,
respectively. The Boom Max Group further launched an upgraded version
of its flagship product, namely Advanced SystemCare 13.0, in October
2019, featuring a better system utility with improvements in PC cleaning and
optimisation and spyware and infections removal functions. In the future,
the Boom Max Group will continue to review and streamline our software
products, and continue to boost strong market presence in the industry.

During the Year, the Boom Max Group continued to build and reinforce its
sales and distribution channels. Apart from strengthening its customer base in
traditional markets such as the United States, Russia, Japan and Europe, the
Group will continue to explore business opportunities and expand distribution
channels in the emerging markets such as countries in the Asia-Pacific region.
In addition, our software products are available at www.iobit.com, or other
software downloading directory websites and affiliate websites. New versions
of our software products are available for downloading on the website in
different languages, such as English, Spanish, French, Chinese and Dutch.
As the slower-than-expected growth in emerging markets and the fierce
competition in the I.T. industry continued to impact the sales performance of
our software products, the Software Business remained weak during the Year.

As at 31 December 2019, according to the internal sales data of the Boom
Max Group, its products had more than 110 million users in total, including
new non-paying and active paying users (i.e. users who had subscribed
product at least once during the Year) (2018: more than 100 million).

Going forward, the governments’ fiscal and monetary policies, trade tariff and
geopolitical tensions around the globe have continued to affect the global
economic activities, which may lead to a more fragile economic condition.
Despite these headwinds, the recent coronavirus pandemic has been
unexpectedly unlocking new possibilities to I.T. businesses. While employees
are required to work remotely and people are confined to their homes, there
is a potential boost in the number of PC users as well as the sales of the
software products. As a result, these external factors may make an impact on
the financial performance of the Software Business. Moreover, in response to
the changing business environment and rapidly evolving I.T. industry, the Boom
Max Group will continue to focus on exploring new technological application
realm and enhancing its software products. It will also strengthen and expand
its distribution and sales channels by cooperating closely with local dealers
and affiliates.

R R EN &R

AN [ - Boom Max e B 4 48 BR 4% HL 17 Nos H & S AlFT
MEFEREEHHEAEF - Boom MaxEE B KA B B B
—YRPFEEE T EAEEEEBNERERAN B/
FEMEMEMARMNEGER ZEBF —HERBRERE
REMBEITENERBE - NAFE - Boom Maxi B
HHEBHHGERET TRE-R-_T—LhFRAR=
T—NF7N A Boom Maxte B # H s iRV E S
Al A 0bit Software Updater 2} 10bit Malware Fighter 7
RZE—AFNARZZT—NFNA  Boom Maxt @5
B B8 45 L BN WO F AR iR AR (BlIObit Uninstaller 9.0)
N — k45 44 & (ENDriver Booster 7.0) e A= Z— S
+ A Boom Maxts B3 — 25 HE [ H 5 & @ A FH AR i
AN (B Advanced SystemCare 13.0) * E R MaEE £
BIGEE RELINAE A R R B R BB R 615 5
ik o 7K SR Boom MaxEe B 42 & 25 1% B (L B P e X {4
i BT ZITEM S EBIGE -

RS E  Boom Maxie B AR R 7 N iNog H 35S K 2 3
RE B EEXE  HEN  BAMBNEERTS
MEPERIN AEEREBERR T AR ERKEFHE
ISR ERBWER D HRE - I BT B E
an A e www.iobit.comal EL 4t B 14 T 87 B %48 uh K Bk B2 49
VAT o AMUE AT FRILIT AR ERE R X R RE
ENFIRE T REE I E M SATRA A T - R
B S RN TR HI AL R N B AR R IT RN BN R RS
FERMRMERNEERE EHEBRAFENR
BIRES

R-Z—NF+=-A=+—H " B#EBoom MaxEE A
R EHE Bk - HE G A P 2218 :8110,000,000% - B 1
HRBRNETRAP (BRAFERIIIE—REM
ZAP) (ZZ—)\4 : #100,000,000% ) °

RERK SERFRREBEEEREK  E2REE
AR E ST M EEOR BB B RFEZ B2 IREER
B SREARRENES - BERREE AR EMN
AERIFAEIMNESERBEMELS R A A 8L 1% - i
RETHEERBRR EAFIMEZRIRG BASHK
RPBERBHEMFEEAAIER At ZFH
MAREZEUHFEBHFBRE I REEE S
BB E TR LAURRE ) B ARHRTTE - Boom Max
SEBEEZTINRRI M ERERL AR AR E
fn o TR RE B B T R SR R B A T B E A A0
BEERDHMHERE

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report2019

8



9

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business

During the Year, revenue from this business segment was approximately
HK$46,347,000 (2018: approximately HK$40,967,000), representing an
increase of approximately 13.1% as compared with that of 2018. This
business segment recorded a loss of approximately HK$6,794,000 for the
Year (2018: loss of approximately HK$16,348,000), representing a decrease of
approximately 58.4% as compared with that of 2018. The loss was primarily
attributable to the keen competition in the I.T. market.

The Group provides corporate management solutions, I.T. contract services,
network infrastructure solutions, network professional services and I.T. project
implementation services (“Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract
Services Business”) to corporate clients mainly in Hong Kong through its
indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries, e-Perfect IT Limited (“e-Perfect IT”) and
Wafer Systems (Hong Kong) Limited (“Wafer HK”).

As at 31 December 2019, the right-of-use assets of e-Perfect IT was
approximately HK$716,000. The Group tested it for impairment and
recorded an impairment loss on right-of-use assets in respect of e-Perfect
IT of approximately HK$716,000 for the Year due to the estimation that its
current operation may not generate any positive cash flow in the foreseeable
future. In 2018, the Group recorded the impairment losses of approximately
HK$3,934,000, HK$300,000 and HK$4,588,000 on goodwill in respect of
e-Perfect IT, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets under this
business segment respectively.

The Group engaged Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited, an
independent professional valuer, to determine the recoverable amount of
CGU of Wafer HK as at 31 December 2019. As the recoverable amount
of CGU of Wafer HK as at 31 December 2019 on a fair value less costs of
disposal (‘FVLCD”) basis was higher than that on a value in use (“VIU”) basis,
FVLCD was adopted to be the recoverable amount of CGU of Wafer HK
in accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36. The recoverable
amount of CGU of Wafer HK attributable to the Group was approximately
HK$22,675,000 as at 31 December 2019, which was lower than the carrying
amount of this CGU attributable to the Group by approximately HK$254,000,
as a result of to the uncertain market conditions and fierce competition in
the market. The CGU has been reduced to its recoverable amount and the
Group recognised an impairment loss on goodwill in respect of Wafer HK of
approximately HK$254,000 (2018: HKS$nil) for the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Details of the impairment loss relating to this business segment are set out
in notes 22 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this
report.

Affected by the growing concerns over the coronavirus, the Hong Kong
economy is expected to be uncertain. Additionally, the severe competition
in the I.T. industry in Hong Kong is expected to adversely affect the financial
performance of the Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract
Services Business. In coming years, the operation of the Corporate
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business is expected to
remain challenging. The Group will endeavour to expand customer base in
coming years to improve the financial performance of this segment.

Furthermore, the Group’s management will continue to pay close attention
to the prospect of this business segment and may consider the possibility of,
including but not limited to, scale-down or disposal of part of this business
segment in the coming future.

B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business

During the Year, revenue derived from this business segment was
approximately HK$249,498,000 (2018: Nil). The segment profit of this
business for the Year was approximately HK$4,107,000 (2018: Nil).

Globalisation and the ever-evolving technology have prompted changes in
our everyday life and brought people all over the world closer. Amidst this
new era of technology, we are committed to enhancing the lifestyle of our
customers through developing online and offline sales channel to offer quality
products to our customers around the world. Leveraging on our strengths
in the I.T. industry, the Group commenced a new business activity focusing
on offering quality electronic lifestyle products to domestic and international
customers. During the Year, the Group commenced the operation of a
business-to-customer online sales platform (‘B2C Online Sales Platform”), and
the business-to-business product trading (‘B2B Product Trading”) through
GET Development Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and its
subsidiary.

During the Year, the Group commenced the operation of B2B Product Trading
business, with an aim to diversify the Group’s business portfolio, expand
geographical footprint and increase market penetration. The Group has
introduced quality products from various regions of the globe to other parts
of the world. In operating the B2B Product Trading business, the Group has
strived to carefully control the cost and increase the variety of products when
business opportunities arise.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

In respect of the operation of the B2C Online Sales Platform, adhering to
the service tenet of “Buy Global, Sell Global’, the Group targets to source
quality products from various regions around the world and sell them to
global customers, who can then enjoy a more convenient and secured cross-
border online shopping experience. During the Year, the Group had registered
seller accounts on several B2C foreign trade e-commerce platforms to offer a
spectrum of quality products to customers around the world.

The Group enriches its portfolio in the technology industry through the
commencement of the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading
Business. During the Year, there was a widespread popularity over our
electronic lifestyle products, including electronic devices, gadgets and electric
scooters. According to the internal sales data of the B2C Online Sales Platform
and B2B Product Trading Business, during the Year, over 86% of the turnover
of the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business was
attributable to the sale of electronic lifestyle products.

Looking forward, we will continue our efforts in operating the B2C Online Sales
Platform and B2B Product Trading Business with an aim to enhance the living
standard of our consumers by offering them with quality products via our
online and offline sales channels.

Securities Investment Business

During the Year, the Group recorded a segment profit for the securities
investment business (“Securities Investment Business”) of approximately
HK$8,381,000 (2018: loss of approximately HK$2,636,000). Such turnaround
from a loss to a profit was primarily attributable to the net fair value gain
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“‘FVTPL Financial
Assets”) of approximately HK$8,462,000 for the Year (2018: fair value loss of
approximately HK$2,830,000).

During the period from 24 October 2018 to 23 January 2019, the Group
disposed of an aggregate of 186,492,340 shares (‘Finsoft Shares”) of Finsoft
Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Finsoft”), a company listed on GEM
(stock code: 8018), in a series of transactions on the open market of the Stock
Exchange (collectively, the “Finsoft Disposal”). The aggregate net proceeds of
the Finsoft Disposal (after deducting stamp duty and related expenses) were
approximately HK$12.4 million at an average price of approximately HK$0.07
per Finsoft Share. The proceeds from the Finsoft Disposal would be used for
general working capital of the Group. Having considered the then prevailing
financial market in Hong Kong, the Directors considered it was the appropriate
time for the Group to realise its investment in Finsoft and refocus its resources
on the Group’s other core business segments. The Finsoft Disposal resulted
in an accumulated fair value loss of approximately HK$13,340,000 which has
been transferred from investment revaluation reserve to accumulated losses
of the Group during the Year. Upon settlement of the Finsoft Disposal, the
Group did not hold any investment in Finsoft. Details of the disposals of the
Finsoft Shares during the period from 24 October 2018 to 9 January 2019 are
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 9 January 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 25 March 2019, Perfect Growth Limited (“Perfect Growth”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a subscription agreement
(“Subscription Agreement”) with Tailam Tech Construction Holdings Limited
(“Tailam”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Tailam Group”), and a guarantor
(“Subscription Guarantor”), being an individual who is the majority shareholder
of Tailam, pursuant to which Perfect Growth agreed to subscribe for, and
Tailam agreed to allot and issue, 1,400,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01
par value each in the issued share capital of Tailam (“Subscription Shares”),
representing approximately 6.54% of the issued share capital of Tailam upon
completion as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares,
at the subscription price of HK$19,500,000 in cash, subject to the terms and
conditions of the Subscription Agreement (“Subscription”).

Besides, in accordance with terms and conditions of the Subscription
Agreement, the Subscription Guarantor granted to the Group a put option
in respect of all (and not part only) of the Subscription Shares owned by
the Group as at the date on which the put option is exercised to require
the Subscription Guarantor to purchase, or to procure the purchase of, the
Subscription Shares if certain triggering event occurs.

Completion of the Subscription took place immediately after signing of the
Subscription Agreement on 25 March 2019. The principal businesses of
the Tailam Group include manufacturing and selling of pre-stressed high-
strength concrete piles and commercial concrete in The People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”). Details of the Subscription are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 25 March 2019.

As disclosed in the prospectus of Tailam dated 5 December 2019, Perfect
Growth has irrevocably undertaken to Tailam and the Subscription Guarantor
that subject to compliance with the requirements of applicable Hong Kong
laws, regulations and provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange, Perfect Growth will not, among others,
dispose of the shares of Tailam of which it is shown in the prospectus of Tailam
to be beneficial owner during the period ending on the date which is 180 days
from the date of listing of shares of Tailam. Details of the lock-up undertaking
are disclosed in the prospectus of Tailam dated 5 December 2019.

Dealings in the shares of Tailam (stock code: 6193) commenced at 9:00 a.m.
on 18 December 2019 on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The put
option granted by the Subscription Guarantor to the Group as mentioned
above lapsed on the date of listing of shares of Tailam. Immediately following
completion of the capitalisation issue and the share offer of Tailam, Perfect
Growth was interested in 21,000,000 ordinary shares, representing 5.25%
of the issued shares of Tailam. The Group’s investment in Tailam has
been classified as the FVTPL Financial Assets of the Group in its financial
statements, which is within the Securities Investment Business. The Group
expected to achieve returns with its short-to-medium term strategy in its
investment in Tailam, subject to the volatile economy situation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

As disclosed in the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2018, the operation of this business segment had been suspended
with effect from May 2018. In view of the low interest rate environment
and the solid financial position of the Group, the Directors believed that the
Subscription represented a strategic move to potentially revive the Securities
Investment Business and there was room for improvement of the performance
of this business segment.

The trade tariffs, the fluctuations in global interest rate and the outbreak of
the novel coronavirus are expected to bring instabilities and risks to the future
prospects of the financial market in Hong Kong. In the meantime, the Group
will continue to explore potential investment opportunities and closely monitor
the financial market of Hong Kong as well as the performance of the Securities
Investment Business.

As at 31 December 2019, fair value of the FVTPL Financial Assets and
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI
Financial Assets”) of the Group were approximately HK$32,536,000
(31 December 2018: approximately HK$4,224,000) and approximately
HK$1,040,000 (31 December 2018: approximately HK$5,439,000)
respectively, consisting of four investment items (2018: four items), three
of which are shares listed on the Stock Exchange and one is shares of an
unlisted company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
R R EN &R

Below are the securities investments held by the Group as at 31 December WA TR AXREBR —Z—hE+-_A=+—HBAHAZE

2019: FRE
Percentage
of total issued
share capital Percentageto  Percentage to Unrealised
of the investee Fair  the Group’s net the Group’s gain/(loss)
company as at value as at assets as at  total assets as at on change Dividend
Place of Number of shares 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December in fair value income
Name of investee company Notes  incorporation held by the Group 2019 2019 2019 2019 for the Year for the Year
R=Z-1%
+ZA=1-H RZB-AE  RIB-hE REER

HRREDAZ  W-E-AF  tZA=t-A TZA=t-B ATEE2EL
AEEREZ BRORAEEZ t2A=1-A2 HAEEZ thgEz  AERLKE/ FEER

BREDAER Wi ERRIBE RHHE BAL LYEE HEREEOM  KELEEAL (E#8) RERA
(Note 1) (Audited) (Audited)

(Mst1) (B&H) (BEH)

(HK$'000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000)

(F#7) (i) (&7

(Approximately)  (Approximately)  (Approximately) (Approximately) (Approximately)

(#4) (8#) (#4) (B4) (#4)

FVTOCI Financial Assets
BREMZAURNATEESIRNEREE

Convoy Global Holdings Limited 2 Cayman lslands 13,612,000 0.09% 1,040 0.34% 0.28% (135) =
(*Convoy Global')
RERRERERAR ([REBR]) HEHE

FVTPL Financial Assets
BRRENATEESRNEREE

Convoy Global 2 Cayman Islands 10,000 0.000067% 1 0.00033% 0.00027% ) -

RERR RERE

First Credit Finance Group Limited 3 Bermuda 84,460,000 2.33% 3885 1.27% 1.06% (338) -
(‘First Credit’) ARE

F-EREBEEARLAF (5-ER))

Tailam 4 Cayman Islands 21,000,000 5.25% 28,300 9.23% 7.63% 8,800 -

ZHf L

Jun Yang Energy Holdings Limited 5 Cayman Isiands 12,448 1.67% 380 0.11% 0.09% - -

("Jun Yang Energy’)

EBRERARAR ([ERER]) REHs

& Represents amount less than HK$1,000 * g% 88 L R,00008 T

Notes : B 2E -

s The percentages were calculated based on the then latest monthly return or 1. B T ERERS AR AN EE®EE AT
next day disclosure of return of the investee companies publicly available on the YR AERANTARERERE ((YEH) -

website of the Stock Exchange (where applicable).
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Convoy Global (stock code: 1019) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Convoy Group”) principally engage in independent financial advisory
business, money lending business, proprietary investment business, assets
management business and securities dealing business. Based on the annual
report of Convoy Global for the year ended 31 December 2016 published on 27
April 2017, the Convoy Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2016
was approximately HK$1,205.1 million (2015: approximately HK$604.6 million),
representing an increase of approximately 99.3%. The Convoy Group recorded
net loss of approximately HK$104.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2016
(2015: net loss of approximately HK$484.1 million), representing an improvement
of approximately 78.5% relative to the year before. As disclosed in its interim
report for the six months ended 30 June 2017 dated 22 August 2017, to pursue
the vision of becoming a leading financial group in Asia, Convoy Global had set
three short-term goals: (i) to establish a comprehensive financial service platform in
Asia, with special focus on Hong Kong and Mainland China; (i) to realise synergies
among its different business segments and regions of operation; and (i) to
improve the effectiveness of its capital structure. At the request of Convoy Global,
trading in its shares on the Stock Exchange was suspended since 7 December
2017 (“Suspension”). As disclosed in the announcements of Convoy Global dated
3 February 2020 and 7 February 2020, among other matters, the Stock Exchange
might cancel the listing of Convoy Global if trading in the shares of Convoy
Global had remained suspended until 31 January 2020. As disclosed in the
same announcements, on 20 January 2020, Convoy Global made a submission
to the Stock Exchange in which Convoy Global, among other matters, reported
to the Stock Exchange of its progress in relation to the fulfilment of the trading
resumption conditions stated in a letter from the Stock Exchange to Convoy
Global on 22 March 2018, and requested an extension of the remedial period
for Convoy Global to satisfy all trading resumption conditions. As at 7 February
2020, Convoy Global was in the process of further communicating with the Stock
Exchange. Besides, as disclosed in the announcement of Convoy Global dated
7 February 2020, Convoy Global has been diligently liaising with the auditors to
complete the audit procedures and it expected to publish annual results for 2017
and 2018, annual reports for 2017 and 2018, interim results for 2018 and 2019
and interim reports for 2018 and 2019 of Convoy Global as soon as practicable.
Convoy Global has operated normally and has had substantial business and
operations before and after the Suspension. As a result of the business review
and transformation implemented by the new management team and the
implementation of various measures to transform the business of Convoy Global,
Convoy Global has achieved significant financial and operational improvements
in 2019 compared to 2018. Convoy Global has adopted a vigilant posture in
its overall business growth strategy and cost management in the context of the
recent uncertainties in the business environment. Convoy Global published results
of internal control review of Convoy Global in its announcement dated 7 February
2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

First Credit (stock code: 8215) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “First Credit Group”) focus on money lending business. Based on the
annual report of First Credit for the year ended 31 December 2018 published
on 25 March 2019, the First Credit Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
December 2018 was approximately HK$92.76 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 20.16% over the revenue of approximately HK$116.19
million recorded for the year ended 31 December 2017. The profit for the year
attributable to owners of the company decreased by approximately 51.25%
from approximately HK$53.18 million for the year ended 31 December 2017
to approximately HK$25.93 million for the year ended 31 December 2018. As
disclosed in the annual report of First Credit for the year ended 31 December
2018 published on 25 March 2019, the First Credit Group would maintain
healthy development of different business segments to consolidate its business
portfolio and diversify its source of income. While leveraging its experience in
money lending business, the First Credit Group would like to further develop
such business by expanding its customer base to different territories including
Mainland China and Macau in light of the keen competition in the ever-changing
local market. As disclosed in the third quarterly report of First Credit for the
nine months ended 30 September 2019 dated 7 November 2019, the First
Credit Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$67.79 million for the nine
months ended 30 September 2019 (for the nine months ended 30 September
2018: approximately HK$71.49 million). The First Credit Group also recorded
a loss attributable to owner of company of approximately HK$49.90 million for
the nine months ended 30 September 2019 (for the nine months ended 30
September 2018: profit of approximately HK$23.17 million). As disclosed in the
announcement of First Credit dated 1 November 2019, the First Credit Group
has ceased to carry on the securities brokerage and margin financing business
in August 2019. The licence to carry on Type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated
activity under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) held by its wholly-owned subsidiary had been revoked in October
2019. Since then, the First Credit Group has been focusing on its money
lending business and has continued to develop its loan portfolio by diversifying
its customer base from different market segments and strengthen its credit risk
control by reviewing and modifying its credit assessments and control measures.
The First Credit Group will continue to closely monitor its cash position and
explore potential investment opportunities including but not limited to investments
in bonds, debt instruments, listed equity securities or project-based investments,
subject to the prevailing market condition and the financial position of the First
Credit Group. Trading in the shares of First Credit has been suspended since 24
November 2017 pursuant to Section 8(1) of the Securities and Futures (Stock
Market Listing) Rules (Chapter 571V of the Laws of Hong Kong). As disclosed
in the announcement of First Credit dated 24 June 2019, the Stock Exchange
has withheld exercising its right to delist First Credit although trading in its shares
remained suspended on 31 July 2019. As disclosed in the announcement of First
Credit dated 24 June 2019, First Credit has been using its best endeavour and
taking necessary steps to procure for a resumption of trading of the Shares. As
disclosed in the announcement of First Credit dated 31 January 2020, First Credit
made written representations to the Commission Secretary of the Securities and
Futures Commission on 31 October 2019 and 16 January 2020 for the purpose
of its trade resumption application.
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The principal businesses of Tailam (stock code: 6193) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Tailam Group”) are manufacturing and selling pre-
stressed high-strength concrete piles and commercial concrete in the PRC. As
disclosed in the prospectus of Tailam dated 5 December 2019, the revenue of
the Tailam Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 was approximately
RMB454.2 million, representing an increase of approximately 52.1% as compared
to approximately RMB298.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2017.
The net profit of the Tailam Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
was approximately RMB34.0 million (2017: approximately RMB27.6 million),
representing an increase of approximately 23.2% as compared to that of 2017.
The revenue of the Tailam Group for the six months ended 30 June 2019 was
approximately RMB271.3 million, representing an increase of approximately
41.4% compared to approximately RMB191.9 million for the six months ended
30 June 2018. The net profit of the Tailam Group for the six months ended 30
June 2019 was approximately RMB16.5 million (six months ended 30 June 2018:
approximately RMB19.8 million), representing a decrease of approximately 16.7%
as compared to that of 2018. Dealings in the shares of Tailam commenced on
18 December 2019 on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. As disclosed
in the prospectus of Tailam dated 5 December 2019, the Tailam Group aims to
further strengthen its established market position in Nantong, Jiangsu Province
and continue to grow its revenue and net profit. To achieve this goal, the Tailam
Group plans to pursue strategies, including to expand production facilities,
enhance and expand workforce to keep up with business expansion, further
improve environmental protection system, further strengthen sales and marketing
capabilities, and continue to strengthen production and operating capabilities by
enhancing the enterprise resource planning system.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

58 Jun Yang Energy, which was incorporated in the Cayman Islands, is an unlisted
company. Jun Yang Energy and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Jun
Yang Energy Group”) principally engage in solar energy business with a focus
on development, construction, operation and maintenance of power stations in
the PRC. Based on the unaudited consolidated management accounts of the
Jun Yang Energy Group for the year ended 31 December 2018, the revenue of
the Jun Yang Energy Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to
approximately HK$75,990,000 (2017: approximately HK$84,719,000). Loss of the
Jun Yang Energy Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 was approximately
HK$59,853,000 (2017: approximately HK$44,524,000). Upon completion of the
Fund Raising Proposal (as defined below) on 6 September 2019, the shareholding
of Lucky Famous Limited (“Lucky Famous”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, in Jun Yang Energy was diluted to approximately 1.67% and Jun Yang
Energy ceased to be recognised as an associate in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company. Details of the investment in Jun Yang Energy are set
out in the sub-section headed “Investment in Jun Yang Energy” under the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this report. On 31 May 2018,
the National Development and Reform Commission and the Ministry of Finance
and National Energy Administration jointly released the “Notice on matters relevant
to photovoltaic power generation in 2018”, stating that construction of general
solar power stations had been suspended in 2018 and standardised management
applied to development of distributed solar power generation projects, and for
new-on-grid solar power operations, the levels of subsidy had been lowered.
The management of Jun Yang Energy will continue to keep a close watch on
policy direction and change in development situations, adjust its capital strategy
accordingly and make timely disclosure to its shareholders.

Investment in Jun Yang Energy

In 2016, Lucky Famous, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired
approximately 35% of the issued share capital of Jun Yang Energy (formerly
known as Jun Yang Solar Power Investment Holdings Limited) at an aggregate
cash consideration of HK$40,290,000. On 24 February 2017, the Group
entered into a shareholder loan agreement in relation to the provision of a
loan in the principal amount of US$3,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$27,230,000) to Jun Yang Energy. The loan was unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable upon demand. The loan was in proportion to the
then shareholding of the Group in Jun Yang Energy corresponding to those
made by the other shareholders of Jun Yang Energy. Taking into account
the declining financial performance and working capital position of the Jun
Yang Energy Group and the low recoverability of the loan due from the Jun
Yang Energy Group, the Group recorded an expected credit loss allowance
of approximately HK$27,230,000 on the loan due from the Jun Yang Energy
Group for the year ended 31 December 2018. Details of the shareholder loan
agreement are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 24 February
2017.

The Jun Yang Energy Group is principally engaged in solar energy business
with a focus on development, construction, operation and maintenance of
power stations in the PRC.

On 23 August 2019, Lucky Famous received an offer letter (“Offer Letter”) from
the legal adviser to a shareholder (“Offeror”) of Jun Yang Energy to invite further
capital contribution by each of the shareholders of Jun Yang Energy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

Pursuant to the Offer Letter, the Jun Yang Energy Group was facing financial
difficulties and the Jun Yang Energy Group would be in need of financing in the
sum of at least RMB18,000,000 in September 2019. In view of such shortage
of funds, the Offeror proposed that Jun Yang Energy shall raise a sum of
approximately HK$20,000,000 by way of equity issue and all shareholders of
Jun Yang Energy, inclusive of Lucky Famous, would be entitled to take up their
respective new shares in proportion to their then existing shareholding in Jun
Yang Energy and any new shares not taken up by any shareholder of Jun Yang
Energy would be taken up by the Offeror at the same subscription price (“Fund
Raising Proposal”).

On 30 August 2019, Lucky Famous replied to the legal adviser of the Offeror
that Lucky Famous agreed to the Fund Raising Proposal but would not make
any further capital contribution to participate in the Fund Raising Proposal.
After careful consideration, the Directors were of the view that there was
imminent need for Jun Yang Energy to raise capital to repay its liabilities and
fund its future operations. However, it was better for the Group to focus its
resources and manpower on its core businesses, while avoiding any financial
and management risk arising from further investment in the Jun Yang Energy
Group.

Completion of the Fund Raising Proposal took place on 6 September 2019.
Upon such completion, the shareholding of Lucky Famous in Jun Yang Energy
was diluted from approximately 35% to approximately 1.67% and Jun Yang
Energy ceased to be recognised as an associate in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company. Details of the Fund Raising Proposal are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 30 August 2019. Loss on deemed
disposal of an associate of approximately HK$2,129,000 was recorded as
other gains and losses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss of the
Company for the Year.

During the Year, the Group recorded a share of profit of approximately
HK$887,000 from the investment in Jun Yang Energy (2018: share of loss of
approximately HK$21,704,000). The turnaround from a loss to a profit from
the investment in Jun Yang Energy was mainly a mixed result of (i) a drop in
its gross profit; (i) the absence of impairment loss caused by the uncertainty
in deferred collection of government subsidies receivables for the Year; and (i)
the absence of impairment loss on its fixed assets for the Year.

Discontinued Operation
Money Lending Business

The Group was engaged in money lending business (“Money Lending
Business”) for the year ended 31 December 2018 through Citi Profit Finance
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Citi Profit Finance Limited
held a money lenders licence granted under the Money Lenders Ordinance
(Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong). After the expiry of the money lenders
licence on 25 September 2018, the operation of the Money Lending Business
of the Group has been discontinued.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

More details of the discontinued operation are set out in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statement in this report.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

During the Year, revenue of the Group’s continuing operations was
approximately HK$369,839,000, representing an increase of approximately
177.6% as compared to the revenue of approximately HK$133,230,000 for
2018. The revenue from continuing operations of the Group for the Year was
mainly contributed by the revenue of (i) the Software Business of approximately
HK$73,994,000; (i) the Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract
Services Business of approximately HK$46,347,000; and (i) the B2C
Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business of approximately
HK$249,498,000.

Gross Profit

Gross profit from continuing operations of the Group for the Year decreased
by approximately 6.9% to approximately HK$73,017,000 for the Year from
approximately HK$78,397,000 for 2018.

Finance Costs

The finance costs incurred from continuing operations of the Group were
approximately HK$103,000 for the Year. The Group did not record any finance
costs for 2018.

Loss for the Year

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$61,680,000 from
continuing and discontinued operations for the Year (2018: net loss of
approximately HK$244,267,000). The net loss for the Year was mainly the
combined effects of (i) segment loss of the Software Business of approximately
HK$46,264,000 (2018: loss of approximately HK$130,895,000), including
the Impairment Loss on Goodwill of approximately HK$65,000,000 (2018:
approximately HK$163,000,000); (i) segment profit of the Securities
Investment Business of approximately HK$8,381,000 (2018: loss of
approximately of HK$2,636,000);
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business of approximately
HK$6,794,000 (2018: loss of approximately HK$16,348,000); (iv) segment
profit of the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business of
approximately HK$4,107,000 (2018: nil); and (v) other corporate expenses of

(i) segment loss of the Corporate

approximately HK$14,996,000 incurred during the Year (2018: approximately
HK$20,568,000).

The net loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$67,200,000 for the Year as compared with the net loss attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$251,411,000 for 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposit of approximately HK$81,350,000 (31 December 2018:
approximately HK$149,336,000), which were principally denominated in
United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars (2018: United States dollars
and Hong Kong dollars). During the Year, the Group generally financed its
operations with internal resources and there was no significant change in its
capital structure.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had total assets amounting to
approximately HK$370,896,000 (31 December 2018: approximately
HK$433,035,000) and total liabilities of approximately HK$64,320,000 (31
December 2018: approximately HK$53,723,000). The gearing ratio of the
Group, calculated as total liabilities over total assets, was approximately 17.3%
as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: approximately 12.4%).

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend any payment of dividend for the Year (2018:
Nil).

Charges on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group pledged bank deposits of approximately
US$81,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$627,000) (31 December 2018:
approximately US$80,000 and HK$1,013,000 (in aggregate, equivalent to
approximately HK$1,637,000)) for securing banking facilities of HK$500,000
(31 December 2018: HK$1,500,000) granted to the Group. The bank deposits
were denominated in United States dollars with a term of six months at fixed
interest rate of 0.45% per annum.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had undrawn banking facilities
of approximately HK$857,000 (31 December 2018: approximately
HK$1,866,000).

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Group did not hold any
margin trading account.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RISK FACTORS
Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the Year, business activities of the Group were mainly denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars. The United States dollar
is the main currency for transactions made by the Group. Since the Hong
Kong dollar remains pegged to the United States dollar within a defined
range, the Group is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk
against the United States dollar and therefore has not entered into any foreign
exchange contract as hedging measures. The Directors did not consider
the Group as being exposed to any significant foreign currency exchange
risk. Notwithstanding the above, the Group continues to manage its foreign
currency risk against other currencies by closely monitoring movement of
exchange rates and may use hedging derivatives, such as foreign currency
forward contracts, as and when appropriate.

Financial Risk

The total assets of the Group of approximately HK$370,896,000 as at 31
December 2019 mainly included the FVTOCI Financial Assets of approximately
HK$1,040,000, the FVTPL Financial Assets of approximately HK$32,536,000,
goodwill of approximately HK$80,825,000 and intangible assets of
approximately HK$82,969,000. The Group’s FVTOCI Financial Assets and the
FVTPL Financial Assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity security price risk due to
fluctuation of the fair value of the FVTOCI Financial Assets and the FVTPL
Financial Assets. The Directors regularly review exposure of the Group’s
FVTOCI Financial Assets and the FVTPL Financial Assets to equity security
price risk. Moreover, the Directors closely monitor the financial performance
and operation of cash generating units containing goodwill and intangible
assets, and conduct impairment review on goodwill and intangible assets
annually and more frequently should there be any unforeseeable events or
changes in circumstances pointing to potential impairment.

Operation Risk

The Group is exposed to the corresponding operation risks each of its
business divisions faces. To manage those risks, the management of each
business division is responsible for monitoring the operation of their respective
divisions and assessing related operation risks. They are responsible for
implementing the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and shall
report any irregularities in connection with operation of projects to the Directors
and seek direction.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Credit Risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk arising from the operating activities of
the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business and
the Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business.
The trade and other receivables of the Group increased to approximately
HK$85,017,000 as at 31 December 2019 from approximately HK$36,725,000
as at 31 December 2018. Such increase was mainly due to the new
business development of the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product
Trading Business during the Year. To minimise credit risk, the Directors
continue to closely monitor the overall level of credit exposure, whereas the
management is responsible for determining credit approvals and monitoring
the implementation of collection procedure to ensure follow-up actions are
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt at the end of a reporting period to ensure
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

LITIGATIONS

As at the date of this report, the Group was involved in three civil legal
proceedings, namely, the AP Acquisition Litigation, the AP Management
Litigation and the Perfect Growth Litigation (all as defined below).

(@ AP Acquisition Litigation

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 13
June 2016, 23 June 2016 and 1 July 2016 in relation to, among other
matters, the acquisition of 51% equity interest in AP Group Investment
Holdings Limited (“AP Group Investment”, together with its subsidiaries,
referred to as the “AP Group”) (“Acquisition”) and the announcements of
the Company dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018 and 16 July 2018 in
relation to the adjustment to consideration for the Acquisition.

On 13 June 2016, Lucky Famous, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement (“‘SP
Agreement”) with Fragrant River Entertainment Culture (Holdings)
Limited (“Vendor”) and Universe International Holdings Limited (now
known as Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited)
(“Guarantor”), pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed to
acquire, and the Vendor conditionally agreed to sell 51% equity interest
of AP Group Investment, at the consideration of HK$20,400,000,
subject to downward adjustments as described below, which shall
be settled by way of allotment and issue of 40,800,000 new ordinary
shares of the Company, credited as fully paid, at the issue price of
HK$0.50 per share to the Vendor (or its nominee), on the date of
completion. The AP Group was principally engaged in the provision of
self-improvement and self-enhancement training programmes in Hong
Kong. Completion of the Acquisition took place on 1 July 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the SP Agreement,
in the event that the audited consolidated profit after tax of AP Group
Investment attributable to its owners from 1 January 2016 to 31
December 2017 (‘FY 2016 & 2017”) (which will only include income
or gain generated by activities in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the AP Group) (“FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit”) is less than
HK$16,000,000, the Vendor shall, and the Guarantor shall procure
the Vendor to, pay to Lucky Famous (or to its order) an adjustment
amount (“Adjustment Amount”) in cash within 14 days after the
audited consolidated financial statements of AP Group Investment for
FY 2016 & 2017 (“FY 2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts”) are available.
The Adjustment Amount shall be determined in accordance with the
formula set out below:

A = HK$20,400,000 — (NP/2) x 5 x 51%

Where:
“A” means the amount of the Adjustment Amount in HK$; and

“NP” means the FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit. Where the FY 2016 & 2017
Net Profit is a negative figure, “NP” shall be deemed to be zero.

The FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit shall be based on the FY 2016 & 2017
Audited Accounts which shall be prepared in accordance with the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and audited, adjusted for any non-
recurring items.

Based on the FY 2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts, the AP Group
recorded a net loss of HK$189,799. In accordance with the SP
Agreement, the FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit of the AP Group shall be
deemed to be zero. Accordingly, the Group has requested the Vendor
and the Guarantor to pay the Adjustment Amount of HK$20,400,000
on or before 26 June 2018 according to the terms and conditions of the
SP Agreement (“AP Receivable”). On 22 June 2018, the Group received
a letter from the legal adviser acting for the Vendor and the Guarantor
that they will defend the purported claim of the Group for the payment
of the Adjustment Amount alleged by the Group.

Up to 26 June 2018, i.e. the last date on which the Vendor and the
Guarantor shall pay the Adjustment Amount after the FY 2016 & 2017
Audited Accounts were made available to them, the Group had not
received any payment of the Adjustment Amount from any of the
Vendor and the Guarantor.
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The Board considered that the Vendor and the Guarantor have
potentially breached their contractual obligations by failing to repay
the Group the Adjustment Amount in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the SP Agreement. In order to safeguard the legitimate
rights and interests of the Group, after seeking legal advice, the
Group has commenced legal proceeding (‘AP Acquisition Litigation”)
against the Vendor as the 1st defendant and the Guarantor as the 2nd
defendant. A writ of summons with an indorsement of claim were filed
by Lucky Famous as plaintiff at the Court of First Instance of the High
Court of Hong Kong on 16 July 2018. Based on the writ, the Group
claimed against the Vendor and the Guarantor for (a) the Adjustment
Amount of HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or
other reliefs.

An amended writ of summons with an indorsement of claim were filed
at the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong on 26
September 2019. Based on the amended writ, the Group claimed
against the Vendor and the Guarantor for (a) the Adjustment Amount
of HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or other
relief, and also against Mr. Chan Sze Long (“Chan”) and Ms. Lim Wah
Elsa (“Lim”) for (g) damages in the sum of HK$20,400,000; (f) interests;
(g) costs; and (h) further and/or other relief. The Board considered that
Chan and Lim, who are the former directors of AP Group Investment
until their respective resignations on 18 July 2018, have potentially
breached their duties and obligations in contract and tort by failing
to, amongst other things, prepare audited consolidated financial
statements of AP Group Investment for the year ended 31 December
2015, provide the auditors of AP Group Investment with the written
information that they requested to support their audit, and keep and/
or preserve adequate accounting records in respect of the transactions
entered into by AP Group Investment, its financial position and its
financial performance.

Without prejudice to any right against the Vendor and the Guarantor
under the SP Agreement, the AP Receivable was HK$20,400,000 as
at 31 December 2019. The Group applied general approach to provide
for expected credit loss allowance of approximately HK$1,246,000 for
the Year (2018: approximately HK$12,200,000) in accordance with the
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, which was based on the
valuation performed by an independent professional valuer using the
probability-weighted method. Details of such provision of expected
credit loss allowance are set out in note 6(c) to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.

Details of the AP Acquisition Litigation are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018 and 16 July 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

AP Management Litigation

On 26 July 2018, the Company as the 1st plaintiff and AP Group
Investment as the 2nd plaintiff, issued a writ of summons in the High
Court of Hong Kong against Chan as the 1st defendant and Lim as
the 2nd defendant (collectively referred to as the “Defendants”) for the
matters as detailed below (AP Management Litigation”). Chan and
Lim are former directors of AP Group Investment until their respective
resignations on 18 July 2018. Chan and/or his controlled company, and
the controlled company of Lim, are also former directors of the other
members of the AP Group at all material times.

The Company is a majority shareholder holding 51% interest in AP
Group Investment through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Lucky Famous.
As a result of the 51% shareholding in AP Group Investment, all
members of the AP Group are subsidiaries of the Company and their
financial results have been consolidated into the Group’s consolidated
financial statements prior to the deconsolidation of the AP Group
becoming effective on 1 April 2018. The AP Group was principally
engaged in the provision of self-improvement and self-enhancement
training programs in Hong Kong at all material times.

At all material times and during the tenure of office of the Defendants
as directors of AP Group Investment, in reliance of the experience and
expertise of the Defendants in running the AP Group, it was agreed by
the parties that the Defendants were wholly responsible for the efficient
and proper management and operation of the AP Group, including but
not limited to, the efficient daily operations of the AP Group, keeping
proper books and records of the AP Group at all times for inspection by
the Group, and the provision of weekly cash and bank balance reports,
annual budget and monthly financial reports of AP Group Investment,
including that of all the other members of the AP Group to the
Company, within 15 days after each month’s end. After the resignations
of the Defendants as directors of AP Group Investment on 18 July 2018
and up to the date of this report, the Defendants failed to deliver up
all the accounting books and financial records of, and all businesses
records in connection with, the running of the AP Group, including but
not limited to records in relation to the students’ records, instructors’
records and information on potential litigations, for the period of seven
years immediately prior to the date of their resignations as director of
AP Group Investment on 18 July 2018 (“Full Business Records”) to the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DN

(c)

In order to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the Group,
after seeking legal advice, the Group has commenced legal proceeding
against the Defendants. The Group claimed against the Defendants for
the reliefs, including but not limited to, delivering up of the Full Business
Records, accounting for the assets of the AP Group that were in the
power, possession or control of the Defendants and damages to be
assessed.

Details of the AP Management Litigation are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 27 July 2018.

Perfect Growth Litigation

On 3 July 2018, Perfect Growth, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, received an amended writ of summons (‘“Amended Writ”)
with an amended statement of claim (“Amended Statement of Claim”)
issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong by
Convoy Global (“1st Plaintiff’), Convoy Collateral Limited (“2nd Plaintiff”)
and CSL Securities Limited (“3rd Plaintiff”) (1st Plaintiff, 2nd Plaintiff and
3rd Plaintiff collectively referred to as the “Plaintiffs”) against, among
other defendants, Perfect Growth as the 34th defendant (‘Perfect
Growth Litigation”). Perfect Growth was joined as one of the defendants
by way of the Amended Writ.

Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim attached to the Amended
Writ, Perfect Growth was named as one of the Alleged Independent
Placees (being placees of the placing of shares of the 1st Plaintiff
carried out in around October 2015 (“October 2015 Placing”)) and was
allotted with some shares of the 1st Plaintiff pursuant to the October
2015 Placing.

In the Perfect Growth Litigation, the reliefs claimed by the Plaintiffs
against Perfect Growth are as follows:

(1) the 1st Plaintiff seeks a declaration and an order as against,
among others, Perfect Growth, that the allotment of the 1st
Plaintiff's shares to, among others, Perfect Growth pursuant to
the October 2015 Placing is null and void, or has been rescinded
and be set aside;

(2)  the 1st Plaintiff seeks an account of profits and an order for
payment of any sums found to be due, equitable compensation
to be assessed and/or damages to be assessed for dishonest
assistance, unlawful means conspiracy and/or lawful means
conspiracy as against, among others, Perfect Growth, in relation
to, among other matters, the October 2015 Placing and the
allotment of the 1st Plaintiff’'s shares pursuant to the same; and
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(8)  the Plaintiffs seek as against, among others, Perfect Growth (a)
general or special damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; (d) further
and/or other reliefs.

On 22 November 2018, Perfect Growth filed its defence to the
Amended Statement of Claim.

On 3 December 2019, the Plaintiffs filed its reply to Perfect Growth’s
defence. The Plaintiffs have not, however, filed its reply to each of the
other defendants’ defence, and as such the pleadings of the Perfect
Growth Litigation have not been closed yet.

Details of the Perfect Growth Litigation are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 5 July 2018.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy. Treasury activities are
centralised and the Group normally invests in portfolios comprising diverse
products. It has guidelines in place to monitor and control investment risk
exposure and to manage capital. The Board closely reviews the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure the Group has a liquidity structure, with assets,
liabilities and other commitments, adequate for meeting its funding
requirements at all times.

UPDATES ON MATERIAL ASSET IMPAIRMENT

During the Year, the Group recorded the Impairment Loss on Goodwill of
approximately HK$65,000,000 in relation to the Software Business. Details of
the Impairment Loss on Goodwill are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in this report.

Impairment on goodwiill

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36, an impairment loss
shall be recognised for the CGU if the recoverable amount of the CGU is
less than the carrying amount of the CGU. The Company appointed Ascent
Partners Valuation Service Limited as independent professional valuer in
assisting in the valuation of the CGU in relation to the Boom Max Group
(“December 2019 Valuation”) as at 31 December 2019. The Boom Max Group
is the operating unit of the Group carrying on the Software Business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

Calculation of impairment loss

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of the Boom Max Group
before impairment was approximately HK$281 million (31 December 2018:
approximately HK$521 million) which comprised (i) goodwill of approximately
HK$125 million (31 December 2018: approximately HK$288 million)
attributable to the Group’s 65.177% interest in the Boom Max Group; (ii)
goodwill of approximately HK$67 million (31 December 2018: approximately
HK$154 million) attributable to the non-controlling interests in the Boom
Max Group; and (i) net operating assets of approximately HK$89 million (31
December 2018: approximately HK$79 million) of the Boom Max Group.

As at 31 December 2019, the recoverable amount of the Boom Max Group
was approximately HK$181 million (31 December 2018: approximately
HK$294 million) (equivalent to approximately US$23.3 million (31 December
2018: approximately US$37.9 million)), being an amount shown in the
valuation report on the Boom Max Group as at 31 December 2019 prepared
by the independent professional valuer, which was determined based on the
VIU using the valuation method of discounted cash flow. It requires estimates
concerning future cash flows and associated discount rate and growth rate
assumptions which are based on the management’s expectation of future
business performance and prospects of the Boom Max Group.

The impairment loss on goodwill of 100% interest of the Boom Max Group of
approximately HK$100 million for the Year reduces the carrying amount of the
Boom Max Group of approximately HK$281 million as at 31 December 2019
to its recoverable amount of approximately HK$181 million as at 31 December
2019. After the allocation of impairment loss to non-controlling interests, the
Group recognised the Impairment Loss on Goodwill of approximately HK$65
million in relation to the Boom Max Group for the Year with reference to its
holding of 65.177% interest in the Boom Max Group.

The Impairment Loss on Goodwill, which was non-cash in nature, did not
affect the Group’s working capital condition during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Key basis and assumptions adopted for projected cash flow of
the Software Business

The expected average sales growth rate during the forecast period from the
year of 2020 to 2024 (“Forecast Period”) in 2019 was approximately 5.69%
while the expected average sales growth rate during the forecast period from
2019 to 2023 (“Previous Forecast Period”) in 2018 was approximately 5.96%.
As a result of the declining financial performance and the decrease in the
revenue of the Software Business for the Year by approximately 13.8% as
compared to that for 2018 due to various factors including the slower-than-
expected development pace in the Asian market, the volatility of the global
economy, the keen market competition in the I.T. market, the decline in the
demand for PCs and the growing popularity of free software products, the
expected average sales growth rate for the Forecast Period decreased as
compared to that for the Previous Forecast Period.

There were no significant changes in the basis adopted in the preparation
of the projected cash flow for the Forecast Period in 2019 as compared
with those adopted for the Previous Forecast Period in 2018, except for
the application of the declining revenue of the Boom Max Group in the
Year as a base for the projected cash flow for the Forecast Period in 2019.
The expected average sales growth rate during the Forecast Period was
determined with reference to a research on software industry conducted on
an international research platform for companies, industries and mergers and
acquisitions deals analysis while similar approach was adopted for determining
the expected average sales growth rate during the Previous Forecast Period in
2018. The expected annual gross profit margins and annual net profit margins
during the Forecast Period in 2019 were predicted to be maintained at the
historical levels in 2018 and 2019 given that the .T. market and the global
economy have not changed significantly.

The VIU of the CGU of the Software Business was developed through the
application of the weighted-average-cost-of-capital (“"WACC”) to discount the
free cash flows to the CGU. The WACC was calculated by taking into account
the cost of equity and the cost of debt. The cost of equity is calculated
according to the Capital Asset Pricing Model.
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BEENWE DN

The 10-year Hong Kong Sovereign Bond Yield as at 31 December 2019
(the “Valuation Date”) was used as the risk-free rate of Hong Kong because
government bonds are regarded as risk-free. This rate, as obtained from an
international research database, was approximately 1.76% (31 December
2018: 2.01%). As the Company is listed on the Stock Exchange and the
principal operating subsidiaries of the Boom Max Group are located in
Hong Kong, reference was made to the Hang Seng Index annualised
expected return when determining the expected market return of Hong
Kong. The expected market return of Hong Kong, a forward-looking rate,
was approximately 11.09% as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018:
14.07%). It is the annualised expected rate of return of Hong Kong equity
market proxied as the market capitalisation weighted average of the expected
internal rate of return of each company in the Hang Seng Index. The internal
rate of return is derived by using the dividend discount model based on
estimates from market consensus taking into account the dividend yield,
growth rate and dividend payout ratio by an international research database.
Therefore, the market risk premium, which was the difference between the
expected market return and the risk-free rate, was taken to be 9.33% (31
December 2018: 12.06%) based on the rate quoted from an international
research database. The market risk premium is the additional required return
over the risk free rate when investing in equity market. A small company risk
premium of 5.22% (31 December 2018: 5.59%), suggested by an international
consulting firm based on its research and database, was applied to the
relatively small size of the Boom Max Group. The small company risk premium
can be added to cost of capital estimation models as an adjustment for the
additional risk of smaller companies relative to large companies. The research
done by the international consulting firm provides different size premiums
for different companies with various range of market capitalisation. In the
research, all companies on the New York Stock Exchange (‘NYSE”) were
ranked by the combined market capitalisation of their eligible equity securities.
The companies were then split into 10 equally populated groups or deciles.
Eligible companies traded on the NYSE and the Nasdag National Market
(“NASDAQ”) were then assigned to the appropriate deciles according to their
capitalisation in relation to the NYSE breakpoints. The market capitalisation of
the Boom Max Group falls within the smallest range stated in the research and
the small company risk premium was accordingly applied. The small company
risk premium was calculated over the years from 1926 to 2016 during which
the actual return in excess of risk free rate minus the return in excess of
risk free rate as predicted by Capital Asset Pricing Model. The levered beta
of approximately 0.811 (31 December 2018: 0.836) was derived from the
average of unlevered beta of approximately 0.750 (31 December 2018: 0.801)
of guideline public companies in similar industries.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Unlevered Beta

EEREREE
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
—EB-NF —B-N\F
t=B=+—H t=B=t+—H
Guideline Public Companies LFHAEAR
Absolute Software Corp Absolute Software Corp 0.505 0.670
F-Secure OYJ F-Secure OYJ 0.920 0.989
Trend Micro Inc Trend Micro Inc 1.032 1.112
Advenica AB Advenica AB 0.393 0.400
Check Point Software Technologies Ltd. Check Point Software Technologies Ltd. 0.821 0.815
Norton Life Lock Inc (previous name as Norton Life Lock Inc ( §1#5Symantec Corporation )
Symantec Corporation) 0.831 0.820
Average of unlevered beta THEEIEAEE 0.750 0.801

The levered beta is calculated by multiplying the unlevered beta to the multiple
of (1 minus 16.50% of Hong Kong tax rate) and the ratio of debt to equity
and then plus 1. As at the Valuation Date, the average debt to equity ratio
of the comparable companies of approximately 9.68% (31 December 2018:
5.19%) was adopted as proxy to estimate the debt to equity ratio of the Boom
Max Group. The amount of cost of debt adopted was 7.00% (31 December
2018: 7.13%) which was the sum of International Monetary Fund (IMF) Hong
Kong lending rate as at the Valuation Date of 5.00% (31 December 2018:
5.183%) and an additional percentage of 2.00% (31 December 2018: 2.00%).
International Monetary Fund (IMF) Hong Kong lending rate of 5.00% was Hong
Kong prime lending rate that banks generally charged the most creditworthy
clients as at the Valuation Date. An additional percentage of 2.00% was
added to the cost of debt because of the credit risk for lending money to the
Group. The WACC of the Boom Max Group as at 31 December 2019 was
approximately 13.78% (31 December 2018: 17.10%). The terminal growth
rate of approximately 3.14% (31 December 2018: 2.90%), which was the
average of the inflation rates of Hong Kong from 2010 to 2019, was applied in
the valuation as of the Valuation Date.

B BBENFE R EREEREBERN (TREE
FiE16.50% ) EREF S RBIMNNE - RIEEB
ARz FEBEZL L R.68% (ZT— \F
F+ZA=+—H:519%) - &Lt T F M AR &5 Boom
Max 5 B E IS A bt K o BT AN 2 EIER A B7.00% (=
T—NE+-A=1+—H8:7.13%) BB EEESA
BIMPEBERFEAHERR5.00% (ZT—N\F+=
AR=+—H:513%) REINE 5 2.00% (ZF—/\F
+ZA=+—H:2.00%) 2 - B &% E S AL IMF)
EBERFR5.00% A EERARRIT—RERERESEH
BRRHEMBEREBERFE - BINEDLL2.00%MNE
BEHRARHABAEEERFEEERR - Boom Max
SERZT-AF+ZA=+—ANMEFHERKAR
RBE18T78% (ZZE—N\F+ZA=1T—H:17.10%) °
REE AR AR EERNKAERELNA3A4% (ZF
—N\FE+-A=+—H:290%) AEBE_T—TF
BT -NFZFHBRR-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

There were no significant changes in the methodology and sources of market
data applied in the valuation for the Year except for the market risk premium of
9.33% as at 31 December 2019 decrease from approximately 12.06% as at
31 December 2018. Such change in the market risk premium has contributed
to a decrease in the WACC from approximately 17.10% as at 31 December
2018 to approximately 13.78% as at 31 December 2019. Companies
satisfying the following criteria, are adopted as comparable companies for the
valuation: (1) the comparable company is principally engaged in corporate
management solutions and I.T. contract services related business; (2) the
principal business of the comparable company is diversified geographically;
(8) the shares of the comparable company are listed on major stock exchange
and have been actively traded for a reasonable period of time; and (4) detailed
financial and operational information in respect of the comparable company
are publicly available.

The valuation method of discounted cash flow was adopted for the calculation
of the VIU of the CGU of the Software Business. In accordance with Hong
Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment of Assets, a CGU to which goodwill
has been allocated shall be tested for impairment annually, and whenever there
is an indication that the CGU may be impaired, by comparing the carrying
amount of the CGU, including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount
of the CGU, which is the higher of the VIU and the fair value less costs of
disposal. The valuation method of fair value less costs of disposal was not
adopted as there were limited transactions of comparable CGU available in
the market for the determination of fair value after having researched on an
international research database, all announcements on the websites of the
Stock Exchange, the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock
Exchange and the financial reports and publicly available information of
listed companies in Hong Kong. In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting
Standard 36, it will not be possible to measure fair value less costs of disposal
because there is no reasonable basis for making a reliable estimate of the price
at which an orderly transaction to sell the CGU would take place between
market participants at the measurement date under the then prevailing current
market condition. On the other hand, costs of disposal of transactions can
vary on a case-by-case basis and such information is not easily assessable. As
such, VIU was adopted as the recoverable amount of the CGU. The valuation
method of discounted cash flow has been consistently applied in the valuation
on the CGU of the Software Business since 2014.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Details of the value of inputs

Set out below are additional information on the valuation method, details of
the value of inputs used in the valuation, key assumptions adopted by the
valuer for performing the impairment assessment of the CGU of the Software
Business in the December 2019 Valuation and in the valuation as at 31
December 2018 (“December 2018 Valuation”):

R R EN &R

WAERFE

AR _ZE-NF+_AKERR-Z-N\F+_HA
=t—RAME(IZZ-N\F+ZABE]D OEERE-
ARHENEABFE HEMREGEBNREED
BUETRENEARANEEBRRNE-FLERD
T

December 2019 Valuation December 2018 Valuation

—B-NE+-AHE —B-N\Ft+=AE
Date of valuation: 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
HEBH: —E-hEF+ZA=+—H —T-NFE+=ZA=+—H
Valuation target: Boom Max International Limited and its subsidiaries
HEBEZ: Boom Max International Limited & £ K & A &

Valuation method:

Discounted cash flow, income approach

fEERE: BPBERE WAL

Sum of present value of free cash flow Approximately US$23.3 million Approximately US$37.9 million

HHRRSRERELMN #23,300,000% 7T #)37,900,000% 7T

Major value of inputs:

FEWAE:

(i) Expected average sales growth rate 5.69% from 2020 to 2024 5.96% from 2019 to 2023

() EETHHEEREEX —ETEFE_T_MFRS69% T -NFE_T-_=F/5596%

(ii) Expected annual gross profit margins range equals to 77.31% during the years equals to 77.90% during the years
2020 to 2024 2019 to 2023

(i) FEEEEENEHE R-Z-ZFE T _NFHAEN R-Z-NFE_T-_=F
77.31% BERT7.9%

(i) Expected annual net profit margins ranged from 21.73% to 25.17% ranged from 37.65% to 38.26%
during the years 2020 to 2024 during the years 2019 to 2023

(i)  FEEREE AR RIZZ-ZBFZE_Z_NENTF RIZ-NFEZ_=FNYF
21.73%%25.17% 37.65%%38.26%

(iv)  Corporate tax rate 16.50% 16.50%

v) RERE

(v)  WACC 13.78% 17.10%

V) T ERKA

(v Terminal growth rate 3.14% 2.90%

M) KAEERE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

The reasons for the significant decrease in the VIU of the December
2019 Valuation compared to the VIU of the December 2018 Valuation are
summarised as below:

a. The revenue of the Software Business for the Year dropped by
approximately 13.8% as compared to that of 2018. As the actual
beginning turnover value of the projected cash flow of the Forecast
Period (i.e. for the years 2020 to 2024) in 2019 declined, the sum of the
present value of discounted cash flows also declined.

b. The projected gross profit margin rate and net profit margin rate for the
Forecast Period in 2019 were lower than the projection of those for the
Previous Forecast Period made in 2018, by taking into consideration
various factors including but not limited to, the slower-than-expected
development pace in the Asian market, the volatility of the global
economy, the keen market competition in the I.T market, the decline
in the demand for PCs and the growing popularity of free software
products.

Reasons for using value in use approach in the valuation

The valuation method of discounted cash flow was adopted for the calculation
of the VIU of the CGU of the Software Business. In accordance with Hong
Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment of Assets, a CGU to which goodwiill
has been allocated shall be tested for impairment annually, and whenever
there is an indication that the CGU may be impaired, by comparing the
carrying amount of the CGU, including the goodwill, with the recoverable
amount of the CGU, which is the higher of the VIU and the fair value less costs
of disposal. Having searched through an international research database,
all announcements on the websites of the Stock Exchange, the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the financial reports
and publicly available information of listed companies in Hong Kong, limited
information of recent transactions of comparable CGU was available for the
fair value less costs of disposal to be reliably measured as there was no
reasonable basis for making a reliable estimate of the price at which an orderly
transaction to sell the CGU would take place between market participants
under the then prevailing market condition. The fair value less costs of disposal
method was therefore not adopted and the value in use of the CGU of the
Software Business was estimated using the discounted cash flow method as
its recoverable amount.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Details of the impairment tests for the CGUs containing goodwill are disclosed
in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

UPDATES ON RESULTS OF PERFORMANCE
GUARANTEE

Details of the results of performance guarantee in relation to the acquisition
of 51% equity interest in AP Group Investment are set out in the sub-section
headed “Litigations” in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this report.

MATERIAL TRANSACTION

Save for the Subscription as disclosed in the sub-section headed “Securities
Investment Business” in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this report, the Group did not have any material acquisition or
disposal during the Year.

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 62 employees (31 December
2018: 49 employees). During the Year, the total staff costs of the Group
(including Directors’ emoluments and provident funds) were approximately
HK$27,471,000 (2018: approximately HK$32,796,000). The Group’s
remuneration policy emphasises equality, motivation and performance of
the employees in order to strengthen its competitiveness in the market and
comply with statutory requirements of Hong Kong. Remuneration packages
are generally reviewed annually. Apart from salary payments, other staff
benefits include provident fund contributions, medical insurance coverage and
performance-related bonuses. The Group also has a share option scheme in
place to reward and motivate employees. Details of the share option scheme
of the Company are set out in the section headed “Other Information—Share
Option Scheme” in this report.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (31 December 2018: Nil).

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2019, the capital commitments contracted but not
provided for the development costs of intangible assets were approximately
HK$35,887,000 (31 December 2018: approximately HK$19,318,000). Please
refer to note 43 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this
report for details.
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OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to bolster up its capability in
technology, as well as expand and diversify the landscape of its businesses,
in order to ensure a healthy momentum and sustainable growth of our
businesses. Supported by the professional research and development team
of the Group, the Group will continue to optimise and upgrade its software
products with features to combat computer virus, cyber attacks and spyware
for its customers all over the world. In addition, the Group will continue to
expand the sales channels and marketing footprint of its software products to
the emerging markets. Moreover, in order to cater for the escalating demand
from the market and strengthen our position in the technology industry,
the Group will continue to operate the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B
Product trading Business with focus on delivery of quality products to our
customers around the world through our online and offline sales channels.

In the past years, boiling tension between the United States and China, the
disorderly Brexit and tightening of global financial conditions have posed long-
term effects to both consumer confidence and market sentiment. Economic
outlook was clouded by the geopolitical tensions around the globe, with the
recent widespread coronavirus adding uncertainty to the picture. These global
issues, together with the increasingly fierce competition in the industry, may
create a relatively unstable operating environment to our businesses in the
coming future.

Coping with the volatile market condition, the Group will continue to maximise
its strengths, enhance its professionalism, and create effective strategic plans
in order to achieve resilient financial performance. In coming year, the Group
will continue to pay close attention to the overall economy and the challenging
operating environment. The Group will continue to adopt a cautious approach
in overseeing the development of corporate strategy, with a view to achieving
sustainable growth and returns to the Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board would like to present this Corporate Governance Report for the
Year.

The Company is committed to maintaining corporate governance of high
standard and quality procedures. The Company has put in place governance
practices with emphasis on the integrity to the Shareholders and quality of
disclosure, transparency and accountability to the Shareholders for the sake
of maximising returns to the Shareholders. The Directors acknowledge in the
Corporate Governance Report their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements.

Throughout the Year, the Board has reviewed the Group’s corporate
governance practices and is satisfied that the Company has complied with the
Code Provisions under the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG Code”), except for Code Provision A.2.1.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

The Board currently comprises five members, two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Jing Shong (Chairman of the Board) and Mr. Zhang Long
(chief executive officer of the Company (“Chief Executive Officer”)) and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yung, Mr. Cheng
Hong Kei and Professor Chui Tsan Kit. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of the Board.

The composition of the Board reflects the balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the Group’s business and for the exercise
of independent decisions. The Company has three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than half of the Board. They are professionals in
different areas and provide independent opinions based on their expertise.

Mr. Wong Jing Shong, the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director,
is a director of a number of subsidiaries of CONCORD (as defined below),
namely, EPRO HK (as defined below), EPRO Systems (China) Limited,
EPRO Technology Limited and EPRO Limited, and the chief executive officer
of EPRO HK. He is also interested in 49% interests in CONCORD. Mr.
Zhang Long, the Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director, is also a
director of the above-mentioned subsidiaries of CONCORD. Further details
in relation to the directorship of Mr. Wong Jing Shong and Mr. Zhang Long
in the said companies are disclosed in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” and in the sub-section headed
“Competing Interest” in the section headed “Report of the Directors” in this
report. Save as disclosed above, there is no relationship among members
of the Board (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship). The biographies of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this report.
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BOARD PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS

Formal notice of at least 14 days will be given in respect of a regular
meeting. For special Board meeting, reasonable notice will be given. The
Directors participated, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, in the Board meetings.

The Directors meet regularly at least 4 times a year and participate in person
or through other means of communication. All notices of Board meetings were
given to all Directors, who were given an opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for discussion. All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of
major changes that may affect the Group’s businesses, including relevant rules
and regulations. The Directors can also seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense, if necessary. Minutes of
each Board meeting are kept by the company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
request by any Director.

Directors’ insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of the legal
action against the Directors.

Responsibilities, accountabilities and contributions of the Board
and management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should make
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy,
strategies and budgets,
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial

internal control and risk management, material

information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.
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Attendance of Directors at Meetings

During the Year, 20 Board meetings had been held for reviewing business
performance, considering and approving the overall strategies and policies
of the Company and other business matters. The attendance record of each
current and former Director at the Board and Board Committee meetings and
the general meeting of the Company held during the Year is set out in the table
below:

PAN

TRERRE

EEHESHRLTHE

RARFEAR HBEIT0REZTSFHUBT AR R ES
KRB W E SR HE AR R TR ARE N R B E A R %
FH-TRIVIERERNEETNAFEALRES
ENEFERERERUNEARFARRAGHCE:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERRGERH
Remuneration Audit  Nomination General
Note Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Bt sE Exe $MZEEE BEREEE REHZE® BRRAXE
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong BRZEE 20/20 N/AT 8 N/AT i A N/ATNE A 1
Mr. Wong Hin Shek IBBEEE 1 6/8 N/ATNE B N/ATN i N/ATN i A N/ATNE B
Mr. Zhang Long REELAE 2 12/12 N/AT i A N/AT i A N/ATN i A 1
Independent Non-executive Directors BV FHTES
Mr. Chan Yung BREBXE 20/20 3/3 6/6 3/3 11
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei e 15/20 2/3 46 2/3 0/
Professor Chui Tsan Kit REBHE 20/20 3/3 6/6 3/3 11
Notes: Bt
1. Mr. Wong Hin Shek resigned as an executive Director with effect from 4 April 1. FTHEEBELAEAHINTES BT NLFOANBEE
2019. Ao
2. Mr. Zhang Long was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 4 April 2. REAERZETRNTES BT - NFOAMNBR
2019 and was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 25 June AR WERERTBER 8T —NFAZ+TAH
2019. EM -

In addition, the Chairman of the Board has annually held the mesting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors
during the Year.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Since Ms. Hung Yvonne retired as an executive Director and ceased
to be the acting Chairman of the Board and resigned as the Chief Executive
Officer on 12 June 2018, the role of Chief Executive Officer left vacant until the
appointment of Mr. Zhang Long, an executive Director, as the Chief Executive
Officer on 25 June 2019.

Save as disclosed above, during the Year, the Company has complied with the
code provisions set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

BN RAFEXN EEEEIFEREMEFTLELE
MIER T 2B IFRTEFRTFEGH -

FRERITHER

RIBBEE AT RIS AR A 2.1 - 5 BT BUAR EL A B
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Year, the Board complied at all times with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules that at least three independent non-executive Directors sit
in the Board (more than one-third of the Board members) and at least one
of them has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
existing independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing
Rules. As at the date of this report, the Company in its best knowledge
considers all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent procedures
for the appointment of new Directors.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Company’s Bye-laws. According to the
Company’s Bye-laws, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to re-election by the Shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment, and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the Board shall be subject to re-election by the Shareholders
at the next following annual general meeting after appointment. Other relevant
provision in the Bye-law states that one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation at every
annual general meeting. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. The
Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the
number of Directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and
not to offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be
those of the other Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been
longest in office since their last re-election or appointment. All Directors should
retire by rotation at least once every three years.

Under the Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The
independent non-executive Directors were appointed for a specific term:
Professor Chui Tsan Kit was re-appointed for a term of 3 years commencing
on 23 April 2017 whereas, Mr. Chan Yung and Mr. Cheng Hong Kei were
appointed for a term of 3 years both commencing on 24 November 2017. All
of them are subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, Mr. Cheng Hong
Kei and Professor Chui Tsan Kit shall retire pursuant to the Company’s Bye-
laws as stated in the foregoing paragraph. The Company’s circular, to be sent
to the Shareholders, contains detailed information of the Directors who wiill
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company as required by the GEM Listing Rules.
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Continuous professional development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Every newly appointed
Director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on the first
occasion of his appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of the Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Besides, the Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
Internally facilitated briefings for the Directors will be arranged and reading
materials on relevant topics will be issued to the Directors where appropriate.
All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

According to the records maintained by the Company, the current and former
Directors received the following training with an emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of a Director of a listed company in compliance with the
CG Code on continuous professional development during the Year.
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Attending or participating in
seminars/workshops,

and/or reading materials relevant
to roles, functions, and duties

Directors of a director of a listed company
HESSEEBLTAREZAG -
BERBENHANE ITHEHR
BEx REBEEEER
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong |IFZLAE v
Mr. Wong Hin Shek (Note 1) FramstE () v
Mr. Zhang Long (Note 2) REESCAE (MIEE2) v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYkBTES
Mr. Chan Yung PRESCE v
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei PR A e 4
Professor Chui Tsan Kit RIBGHIR 4
Notes: B & -
1. Mr. Wong Hin Shek resigned as an executive Director with effect from 4 April 1. ITHEBELEE T AFNANBERTRNTES-
2019.
2. Mr. Zhang Long was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 4 April 2. RELEE - E—NAFNANHEELZTARITES-
2019.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is Mr. Lau Siu Cheong. The Company Secretary
assists the Board by ensuring good information flow within the Board so that
Board policy and procedures are followed. He has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional trainings to update his skills and knowledge during the
Year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The following statements, which set out the responsibility of Directors in
relation to the financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but
distinguished from, the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 78 to 82 which
acknowledges the reporting responsibility of the Group’s auditor.

Annual report and accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the annual
report and financial statements of the Company for the Year to ensure that
these financial statements give a true and fair presentation in accordance
with Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“Companies Ordinance”) and the applicable accounting standards.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Accounting policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial statements, the Group
applies appropriate accounting policies that are consistently adopted
and makes judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent in
accordance with the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps accounting
records which disclose the financial positions of the Group upon which
financial statements of the Group could be prepared in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies.

Safeguarding assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities within the Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, auditor’'s remuneration for audit services was approximately
HK$1,380,000 (2018: approximately HK$1,460,000) and non-audit services
(including but not limited to professional advice on financial activities and
taxation) was approximately HK$526,000 (2018: approximately HK$692,000).
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Goals and Objectives

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing basis.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems

The Group’s risk governance structure and the main responsibilities of each
level of the structure are summarised below:

Board

o evaluates and determines the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensures the
implementation of an effective risk management and internal control
systems; and

o oversees the management in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

Meanagerment

. designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal
control systems;

. identifies and assesses the risks which threaten the achievement of the
strategic objectives;

. reviews the risk areas and risk level;

o advises on matters raised by employees and the Company;

. coordinates and promotes risk management by ensuring that risk
and activities processes are operated efficiently and effectively and in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules; and

o reports periodically to the Board.
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Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Significant Risks
The Group’s risk assessment processes are summarised as follows:
Risk Identification

. Identifies the risks through discussion with the management and
directors of subsidiaries of the Company. Risk identification and
management questionnaire are used to document the risks identified by
the management and directors of subsidiaries of the Company.

Risk Assessment

o Determines the existing controls and analyses risks in terms of
consequence and likelihood in the context of those controls. The
analysis considers the range of potential consequences and how likely
those consequences are to occur. Consequences and likelihood are
combined to produce an estimated level of risk.

Risk Response

o Categorises the risks into low risk, medium risk and high risk;

. Determines the strategy to handle the risk; and

o Develops the risk register and internal control audit plan and determines

the frequency of review and control testing on key controls.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° on-going communication of monitoring results to the Board which
enables it to assess control of the Group and the effectiveness of risk

management during the Year, including:

o risk questionnaires completed by the management, risk register
and internal control audit plan; and

. fact finding report with recommendations on the review and
testing of internal controls on certain operating cycles and areas.

TERER®RE

ARER R EEEXRREBNER

AEERRTHEFHMET:

Vol sa= 93

o FRERNRAMBRARNEREREFTRAZR
[E B o BB BRI R E IR B ST AR AR A
MEARINEIRE NE SRR -

TR BT

o EERAEEWAREZRIZER D TERER KA
BEHE-IMERAEERNERGEREEZS
BREEE 2 RE AR MEARA S 15 H (AR
Ko

R ES

o RS BAKRR - RERR RS ER

o ErRERREER: &

. HERARBREABERERAHRETANE
BRI RE A A -

BB REHR

. RENEFEERESER EHENEATE

A B R AR EIRARE (TR B

. BERERAOERMNS BRELRAH
EEERIE R

. FESSHE ETRAREEETHEA

HA X% 80 2 B9 9 B BE PR A Y SR SR h RO HE

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report2019

46



47

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AN\

TEERRE

Internal Audit Function

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by the management of the
Company, including analysing and appraising the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. For the
enhancement of the quality of the internal audit, the Company has engaged an
external consultant to execute a significant scope of internal audit function to:

o perform the risk assessment based on management evaluation on
identified area and report the findings and recommendations to the
management; and

o conduct various agreed-upon-procedures reviews on material controls
and perform testing of internal controls on certain operating cycles and
areas in accordance with the Company’s internal control audit plan.

During the Year, the Board, as assisted by the Audit Committee, reviewed the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems for the Year, which
cover all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls, the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions, and assessed the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group by reviewing the work
and findings of the internal audit function. Such review is conducted annually.
Both the Audit Committee and the Board considered that the systems were
effective and adequate for the Year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the dividend policy adopted by the Company with effect from 1 January
2019, dividends may be declared and paid to the Shareholders by way of cash
or by other means that the Board considers appropriate. It is the policy of the
Board, in recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate
in the Company’s profits, and at the same time, to ensure the Company to
retain adequate reserves for future growth. The Company’s decision to declare
or to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount of such dividends will
depend upon, among other things, the current and future operations, financial
condition, liquidity position and capital requirements of the Group, as well as
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in
turn will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a
dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject to
the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and payment of dividends
by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the laws of Bermuda,
the laws of Hong Kong, the Company’s Bye-laws and any applicable laws,
rules and regulations. The Board will continue to review the dividend policy
from time to time and the Board may exercise its sole and absolute discretion
to update, amend and/or modify the dividend policy at any time as it deems fit
and necessary.
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INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company has adopted its information disclosure policy and related
procedures with regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission. The policy stipulates the
responsibilities of the Group, key disclosure requirements under Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(“SFO”) and Rules 17.10, 17.11 and 17.11A of the GEM Listing Rules, control
measures and reporting procedures of handling confidential information and
monitoring information disclosure. The Group adopts an upward reporting
approach within the Group for identifying and escalating any potential inside
information to the Board. The policy is reviewed annually and all reasonable
measures have to be taken from time to time to ensure proper safeguards
to prevent any breach of disclosure requirements and to maintain strict
confidentiality of information.

BOARD COMMITTEES/FUNCTIONS

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Copies of minutes of all meetings
and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by the Company Secretary,
are circulated to all Board members and the committees are required to report
back to the Board on their decision and recommendations where appropriate.

Remuneration Committee

The members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year, all being
independent non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Professor Chui Tsan Kit (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Yung

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for the
remuneration of all Directors and senior management, and determining
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management (i.e. the model described in the Code Provision B.1.2 (c) (i) of the
CG Code is adopted); and establishing transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his
associates will participate in deciding his own remuneration.
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has performed the following
major tasks:

o reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure of the Company;

o determined the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management;
o assessed performance, duties and responsibilities of executive Directors

and senior management; and

o approved the terms of the executive Director’s service contract.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five individuals with highest
emoluments are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this report respectively.

In addition, pursuant to the Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the member of the current senior management of the Group
by band for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration band (HK$) s E (BoT)
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Number of Individual

A

1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1,000,001 21,500,000
Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the Year, all being independent
non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (Chairman)

Professor Chui Tsan Kit

Mr. Chan Yung

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei and Professor Chui Tsan Kit possess the appropriate

professional qualifications and/or accounting and financial management
expertise as required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) to monitor the control procedures and the disclosures on the reporting
of the Company’s financial statements, and to review and discuss
with external auditor any significant financial reporting standards and
guidelines applied to the financial statements;

to consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be,
reflected in financial reports and accounts, and give due consideration
to matters raised by the Company’s compliance officer or external
auditor;

(c) to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to
the work performed by them, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of auditor;

to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems; and

(e) to review the Company’s arrangements to enable employees to raise, in
confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the audit plan, financial
results and reports, financial reporting, compliance procedures and
effectiveness of the internal audit function of the Company, report on the
Company’s internal control and risk management review and processes, re-
appointment of external auditor and arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties. The Audit Committee also met the
external auditor four times without the presence of the executive Directors.
Besides, there is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the re-appointment of external auditor. During the Year,
the Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2018, the first
quarterly results for the three months ended 31 March 2019, the interim results
for the six months ended 30 June 2019 and the third quarterly results for the
nine months ended 30 September 2019 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

PAN

TRERRE

ERZEENIEREBRATSA:

@) EBEEAXRTMBHRRERNEZETFIEEEE"
I 2 B Ko B NI A BB & A B 715 $R R BR AR RO ()
BERMBRELERRIES]

ERNI B E MR B AT R R A R R A ]
EXETSEFR LHEEZREMHARFN
ERTERIMNERBE R DN EIR:

© SEIEBZBENETHIE HER ARG
A EIMNEZBEMBE W BENEET &
BLRERAEESRMEER:

TR AR A R RO B IS B - AR BE AR K L IR
E: R

© BHARREREESETRANRTIEER
MBS Mt M Al s H AN N EE T ARH
BT LBk

RAFERN  ELZESCENBRAE ARBZHTE
FRERmE MIGER EOIRF R ABEZBEE K
A YHARR AR RERERRN RIEZF BB
SMNERZBEI AR AEEE M AERTAREBIINR
PHEL IS - BREE GG HIMNER AN BT HRR
BRTESHENEH WM EEGHERZE QY
B ERIEZBMTERRD B -RAFE AR T
BE_Z-\FT+_A=+-"BLFEZFEXE B
E_E-NF=RA=+—BI=BRAZE—FEEE"
BE_Z-NFARNA=ZTHIERNEAZHHZEERBE
“E-NFAAZTRLENEAZE=FEECKER
ZEgEH-

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report2019

50



51

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AN\

TEERRE

Nomination Committee

The members of the Nomination Committee during the Year, all being
independent non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Mr. Chan Yung (Chairman)

Professor Chui Tsan Kit
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition (including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of services) of the Board at least annually and recommending any
changes to the Board; identifying suitably qualified individuals to become
the Board members and selecting and making recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for the Directors in particular, the Chairman
of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take
into account various aspects set out in the Board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) adopted by the Company on 30 August 2013.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity
at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. Selection of
candidates for appointment as a Director will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skill, knowledge and length of
services. The ultimate decision will be based on merits and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee
considers that an appropriate balance of diversity perspective of the Board is
maintained.
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In selecting and evaluating candidates for directorship of the Company, the
Nomination Committee may make reference to the directors’ nomination
procedures which also contains the directors’ nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy and Procedures”) adopted by the Company on 31
December 2015 by considering various factors, including but not limited to (i)
character and integrity, (i) qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Group’s business and
corporate strategy; (i) willingness to devote sufficient time to discharge duties
as a Director; (iv) requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and whether the candidates would be
considered independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out
in the GEM Listing Rules; (v) the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable
objectives adopted by the Company for achieving diversity on the Board; and
(vi) such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new Director and the biographical information
(or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship. If the process vyields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company and reference check of
each candidate (where applicable). The Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation to the Board in respect of the appointment of appropriate
candidate for directorship. For any person that is nominated by a shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board shall make recommendation to shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of director at the general meeting.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has performed the following major

tasks:

o identified Mr. Zhang Long as candidate for directorship and made
recommendation on the appointment of Mr. Zhang Long as the Director
and the Chief Executive Officer to the Board based on the nomination
process and criteria as set out above;

o reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board under
diversified perspectives and the Board Diversity Policy to ensure the
appropriateness in determining the optimum composition of the Board;

o reviewed the Director Nomination Policy and Procedures to ensure
the appropriateness in selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship; and

o assessed the independence of all the independent non-executive

Directors.
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Analysis of the Board’s current composition is set out in the following chart:

No. of Directors
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The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in Code Provision
D.3.1 of the CG Code. The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the GEM Listing Rules, and the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as the required standard of dealings (the “Required Standard of Dealings”)
in respect to any dealings in the Company’s securities by the Company’s
Directors and relevant employees. Specific enquiries have been made to all
Directors and they all confirmed they had complied with the Required Standard
of Dealings during the Year. No incident of non-compliance of the Required
Standard of Dealings by the relevant employees was noted by the Company
during the Year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at the Shareholders’ meetings,
including the election of individual Directors. According to the GEM Listing
Rules, all resolutions put forward at the Shareholders’ meetings will be
voted on by poll and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company after each Shareholders’ meeting.

Set out below are the procedures for members to make proposals at general
meeting other than a proposal of a person for election as the Directors.

Procedures for members to make proposals at general meeting
other than a proposal of a person for election as Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

1. The Company holds an annual general meeting every year, and may
hold a general meeting known as a special general meeting whenever
necessary.

2. Member(s) of the Company holding (i) not less than one-twentieth of the

total voting rights of all members having the right to vote at the general
meeting; or (i) not less than 100 members, can submit a written request
stating the resolution intended to be moved at the annual general
meeting; or a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at a particular general meeting.

38 The written request/statements must be signed by the member(s)
concerned and deposited at the Company’s registered office at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its
head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong (subject to
change from time to time), for the attention of the Company Secretary,
not less than six weeks before the annual general meeting in the case of
a requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not less than one week
before the general meeting in the case of any other requisition.
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4. If the written request is in order, the Company Secretary will ask the
Board (j) to include the resolution in the agenda for the annual general
meeting; or (i) to circulate the statement for the general meeting,
provided that the member(s) concerned have deposited a sum of
money reasonably determined by the Board sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the resolution and/
or circulating the statement submitted by the member(s) concerned
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered
members. On the contrary, if the requisition is invalid or the member(s)
concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the
Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the member(s) concerned
will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the proposed resolution
will not be included in the agenda for the annual general meeting; or the
statement will not be circulated for the general meeting.

The following are the procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director.

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

If a member, who is duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting
convened to deal with appointment/election of Director(s), wishes to propose a
person (other than the member himself/herself) for election as a Director at that
meeting, he/she can deposit a written notice at the Company’s head office
and principal place of business in Hong Kong (subject to change from time to
time), for the attention of the Company Secretary.

In order for the Company to inform all members of that proposal, the written
notice must state the full name of the person to be proposed for election as
a Director, his/her biographical details as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the
GEM Listing Rules, and be signed by the member concerned and that person
indicating his/her willingness to be elected.
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The period for lodgment of such a written notice will commence on the day
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting and end no later
than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting. If the notice
is received less than fifteen (15) business days prior to that general meeting,
the Company will need to consider adjournment of the general meeting in
order to (i) assess the suitability of the proposed candidate; and (i) publish an
announcement or circulate a supplementary circular in relation to the proposal
to the members at least fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten (10)
business days prior to the general meeting.

Detailed procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director are available on the Company’s website at www.geth.com.hk.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition sent to the Company’s registered office at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its head office and principal
place of business in Hong Kong (subject to change from time to time), for the
attention of the Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition. If the Board does not within twenty-one (21) days
from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the said date.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Board of Directors/Company Secretary at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong. For the avoidance of
doubt, the Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly signed
written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. The
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board has adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy reflecting
mostly the current practices of the Company for communication with its
Shareholders. Such policy aims at providing the Shareholders and potential
investors with ready and timely access to balanced and understandable
information of the Company. Such policy will be reviewed by the Company
regularly to ensure its effectiveness and compliance with the prevailing
regulatory and other requirements.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining on
ongoing dialogue with the Shareholders as follows:

0] corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports,
quarterly reports, notices of meetings, listing documents and circulars
are issued in printed form and are available on the Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkex.com.hk and the Company’s website at www.
geth.com.hk in a timely and consistent manner as required by the GEM
Listing Rules;

(ii) corporate information and the memorandum of continuance and Bye-
laws of the Company are made available on the Company’s website;

(i) periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company;

(iv)  annual general meeting and special general meetings provide a forum
for the Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the
Directors and senior management; and

(v) the Company’s share registrar serves the Shareholders in respect

of share registration, dividend payment, change of Shareholders’
particulars and related matters.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the
Year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong”), aged 29, has been appointed as an
executive Director and the Chairman of the Board since October 2018. He
obtained a Bachelor's Degree of Science in Mathematics from the King's
College London in the United Kingdom in August 2014. After graduation, Mr.
Wong undertook training at Legend Capital Co., Ltd. BBt & AE RN A
[R A7), a company engaging in venture capital business in the PRC, from
October 2014 to October 2015. He has been the director of Aerophant Capital
Management Co., Ltd. RREAREE B R AR, a company engaging in
venture capital business, since June 2018. Mr. Wong has also been a partner
of FHMRNEIRE B IEH PR E LA Wuhu Qi Chen Investment Management
Co., Ltd. (the English name is for identification purposes only) (“Wuhu Qi Chen
Investment”) since November 2016. Wuhu Qi Chen Investment is principally
engaged in information technology business. Mr. Wong has been a director
of EPRO Systems (HK) Limited (‘EPRO HK”), EPRO Systems (China) Limited,
EPRO Technology Limited and EPRO Limited since July 2017, the chief
executive officer of EPRO HK since January 2018 and a director of EPRO
(UK) Limited since May 2018, all of which were wholly-owned subsidiaries of
CONCORD-LINKED LIMITED (122 B R A 7)) (‘CONCORD”) (together as the
“CONCORD Group”), which is a subsidiary of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings
Limited (12 e #8 &£ EIE R B BR A 7)) (‘Hang Tai Yue Group”) (stock code:
8081), a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong has further
been employed as (i) the chief executive officer of the CONCORD Group; and
(i) an executive director of EPRO HK for a term of three years since May 2019.
The CONCORD Group is principally engaged in the provision of professional
|.T. contract and maintenance services.

Mr. Wong is the compliance officer and an authorised representative of the
Company for the purposes of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Wong serves as an
executive Director for an initial term of three years commencing on 29 October
2018 and is subject to retirement from office and re-election in accordance
with the Bye-laws of the Company.
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Mr. Zhang Long (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 46, has been appointed as an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer since April 2019 and
June 2019, respectively. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries within
the Group. He obtained a Bachelor's Degree of Science in Economics
Management from The University of Science and Technology of China ( R Ef}
ERTAE) in July 1997. Mr. Zhang completed the Senior Executive Program
for China which was jointly offered by Tsinghua University School of Economics
and Management (/5 % K 2485 B 2Bt ) , China Europe International
Business School ( # Bt BB} T 7 22Fx ) and Harvard Business School (&
#E 6% ) in 2007. Mr. Zhang has more than 20 years of experience in the
technology and development industry. Mr. Zhang served as a secretary to the
president and the development manager of S E R EEH R A7) (Haowei
Technology Group Co., Ltd.*) from July 1997 to October 1998 and October
1998 to August 2000, respectively. Since 2000, Mr. Zhang joined and served
as major positions in BN T E FRIER B R A A (Huizhou Bestgrand
Holdings Co., Ltd.*) (“Huizhou Bestgrand Holdings”), including the senior vice
president of Huizhou Bestgrand Holdings, the vice general manager of the
investment department of &Il T & 7 =l # B R 2 7] (Shenzhen Bestgrand
Technology Co., Ltd.”), the president of E/MNE R A{LRELEFR A A
(Huizhou Lianhong Petrochemical Development and Investment Co., Ltd*.)
and the president of BN M ERERHX AR A A (Huizhou Loda Technology
Co., Ltd.*). Mr. Zhang obtained the venture capital qualification certificate
in Shenzhen, the PRC and he actively engaged in the investment in various
projects during his tenure of office in Huizhou Bestgrand Holdings.

Mr. Zhang has also been a director of certain companies, namely EPRO HK,
EPRO Systems (China) Limited, EPRO Technology Limited and EPRO Limited,
which are the subsidiaries of Hang Tai Yue Group (stock code: 8081), a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, since 2017. The subsidiaries
of Hang Tai Yue Group mentioned above are principally engaged in the
provision of professional |.T. contract and maintenance services.

Mr. Zhang serves as an executive Director for a term of three years

commencing on 4 April 2019 and is subject to retirement from office and re-
election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

* For identification purposes only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Chui Tsan Kit (“Professor Chui”), aged 51, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director since April 2015. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the Board and a member of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Board. Professor
Chui obtained a Postgraduate Diploma in Finance (with Distinction) from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of Business Administration
Degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of Science
Degree in Engineering (Electronic Commerce) from The University of Hong
Kong, a Master of Science Degree in Investment Management from The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, a Master of Laws Degree
in Chinese Business Law from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and a
Master of Corporate Governance Degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is also a certified financial consultant of The Institute of Financial
Consultants, a chartered wealth manager of the International Academy
of Financial Management and an associate of The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators. He is the president of the Chinese Institute of Registered
Financial Analysts. He was an honorary assistant professor of the Department
of Computer Science, Faculty of Engineering at The University of Hong Kong
and an adjunct associate professor of the Department of Marketing, Faculty of
Business Administration at The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Professor Chui was the director of Investment Services of ICBC International
Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited (stock code: 1398), whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from January 2010 to December
2010. Professor Chui was the head of warrant marketing of Bank of China
(HK) Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited
(stock code: 2388), whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from October 2007 to February 2009. He was also the head
of wealth management of China Galaxy International Financial Holdings
Company Limited and the chief executive officer of China Galaxy International
Wealth Management (Hong Kong) Co., Limited, both being the wholly-owned
subsidiaries of China Galaxy Securities Co., Ltd. (stock code: 6881), whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from October
2012 to May 2014. From July 2005 to September 2007, Professor Chui was
also the associate director of retail operations and the director of investment
education of Sun Hung Kai Financial Limited, a subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai &
Co. Limited (stock code: 86), whose shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director of GR
Properties Limited (stock code: 108), shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, from February 2015 to February 2018.
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Professor Chui is currently the chief strategic officer of Zhongtai Financial
International Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhongtai Securities Co.,
Ltd. (State-owned securities firm in the PRC), and the managing director of
Zhongtai International Wealth Management Ltd.

Professor Chui serves as an independent non-executive Director for a term of
three years commencing on 23 April 2017 and is subject to retirement from
office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

Mr. Chan Yung B8s, vp (“Mr. Chan”), aged 50, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since November 2017. He is also the
chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Board and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Board. Mr. Chan
obtained a Bachelor's Degree from The City University of Hong Kong, a
Post-graduate Diploma of Politics and Public Administration from Tsinghua
University and a Master’s Degree in Law and Public Affairs from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He was appointed as a Justice of Peace by the
HKSAR Government in 2011 and awarded Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2014.

Mr. Chan is a registered social worker and the chairman of New Territories
Association of Societies. He has also been a director of New Territories
Association of Societies (Community Services) Foundation since 2002. Mr.
Chan has various public appointments including Hong Kong Deputy to the
13th National People’s Congress of the PRC and non-official member of
Lantau Development Advisory Committee. Mr. Chan is also a vice-chairman of
Democratic Alliance for the Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong. Mr. Chan
serves as an independent non-executive Director for an initial term of three
years commencing on 24 November 2017 and is subject to retirement from
office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,

HHRAETEBEEGESFARTRESZRNBRARHA
T2EMBARTRSRMBERERARZEFERBAE
E NATERREBEMERAR CERHKE-

FHREEEBEYFNTES BT tFENA-t+=
HEERH=F WARBAARZARMARENRSE
Lo

BRELLE mgnes cvs+ ([REE]) 505 BZF
—+tF+—AREZAABUFRTEZT -HIABES
EREZESEIRREFTEELTESRFMEE SN
BoREERBEBRMARE LB JFERNBEA
BARTHRMRRERREBR XARBEZANLE
BELEBMA -FR - ——FESEFITREBRFE
EAAFHITR T —MFEERNEHNEE -

ReEER—BEMHETEERMAMEBREEER-
BT FR RITEEHALERSHEREES
ZEZ-RELLEZEAR BRTPEET=ZEEE
FRTTHRREEARKERRGRREAR L EREANES
BEFENZE -RELATATERTEEMEKBER
TR -RAELHEBYIFATERT BT —tF+—
AZ+MBRNFR/M=F XERBARRZAFM
ABREREREE-
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Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 65, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since November 2017. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Board.
He studied accountancy in Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (practising), the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr.
Cheng is a co-founding director of Cheng & Cheng Limited and had worked as
an assessor for the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department for 12 years. He
has over 30 years of experience in accounting and taxation.

Mr. Cheng is currently an independent non-executive director of Great China
Properties Holdings Limited (stock code: 21), whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and South China Assets Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8155), whose shares are listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director of South China
Holdings Limited (now renamed as “Orient Victory Travel Group Company
Limited”) (stock code: 265) from 28 September 2004 to 3 October 2014
and Sino Resources Group Limited (now renamed as Elife Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 223) from 7 June 2008 to 30 April 2009, shares of which are
both listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheng serves
as an independent non-executive Director for an initial term of three years
commencing on 24 November 2017 and is subject to retirement from office
and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (“Mr. Lau”), aged 46, has been appointed as (i) the
company secretary; (i) the financial controller of the Company; and (i) the
authorised representative for the purposes of the Companies Ordinance and
the GEM Listing Rules since 1 August 2013. Mr. Lau obtained a Bachelor
of Commerce (Accounting) degree from the Curtin University of Technology
in 1999. He is a member of the CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lau was the finance manager of the
Company from 30 January 2010 to 31 July 2013. Mr. Lau is principally
responsible for, among others, the overall financial management, financial
planning and budgetary control of the Group and carrying out company
secretarial functions of the Group. He is also the director of subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Lau has over 20 years of experience in finance and accounting.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 30 July 2001 and
continued in Bermuda with limited liability on 9 January 2014 (Bermuda time).
Its shares have been listed on GEM since 31 December 2001. The head office
and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is at Room
1204-5, 12/F., Centre Point, 181-185 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company while the Group is
principally engaged in (1) research, development and distribution of PC
performance software, anti-virus software, mobile phone applications and
toolbar advertisements; (2) the operation of a business-to-customer online
sales platform, and the business-to-business product trading; (3) securities
investment; and (4) provision of corporate management solutions and I.T.
contract services during the Year. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of
the Company are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
Results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of the Group and the
Company as at 31 December 2019 are set out in the consolidated financial

statements on pages 83 to 226 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend any payment of a final dividend for the Year
(2018: Nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the Year, particulars of
important events affecting the Group during the Year, an analysis of the Group’
s performance using financial key performance indicators, and an indication
of likely future developments in the Group’s business are provided in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this report and note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
Description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group can be
found throughout this report, particularly in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Risk Factors” of this report. Also, the financial risk
management of the Company can be found in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements. These discussions form part of this report of the
Directors. In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations and
the Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders are also provided in the
following sub-sections of this report of the Directors.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the segment results and geographical locations of operations
of the Group for the Year is set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group did not make any donations (2018: HK$ Nil).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Share Options

Save for the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 15 June 2017,
details of which are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements
and the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report of the Directors,
there was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company during the
Year or subsisting at the end of the Year. The disclosure in the aforementioned
sections of this report forms part of this report of the Directors.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019 are
set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity

on pages 87 to 88 of this report and note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES/DEFICIT

As at 31 December 2019, the deficit of the Company was approximately
HK$364,403,000 (2018: deficit of approximately HK$284,188,000).
PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws,

or the laws of the Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to the Shareholders.

AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO DIRECTOR(S)

Except for the director’s fee payable, there is no amount due to a Director nor
loans from a Director as at 31 December 2019.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group'’s total revenue from continuing operations for
the Year attributable to the Group’s major customers are as follows:

Revenue
- the largest customer: 44.55%

- five largest customers in aggregate: 60.78%
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The percentages of Group’s purchases from continuing operations for the Year
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers are as follows:

Purchases

- the largest supplier: 19.93%

- five largest suppliers in aggregate: 56.21%

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their close associates
or any Shareholder (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) has any interest in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining environmental
sustainability in its daily operations and acts in all material respects in
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to environmental protection
and pollutant control, such as the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group is a service-oriented enterprise
mainly with office operations, therefore its daily business does not generate
material direct emission, industrial pollutants, sewage and hazardous waste.
Nevertheless, the Group pays high attention to environmental protection in
order to become a green corporation.

The Group is committed to environment protection and sustainable
development through promoting and adopting green practices in its
business activities. Initiatives within the Group include, but not limited to,
waste reduction by double-sided printing and separating recyclable paper,
green procurement by avoiding single-use disposable items and using
office equipment with Energy Label issued by the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department, and energy reduction by switching off idle electronic
appliances. The Group will continuously review its green practices to integrate
environmental, health and safety management and compliance considerations
into its operational processes. By promoting green awareness amongst
and maintaining dialogue with employees and business partners, the Group
is determined to promote environmental protection in the daily business
operations and establish a sustainable working environment.
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Pursuant to Rule 17.103 of the GEM Listing Rules, an Environmental, Social
and Governance (‘ESG”) Report of the Company in compliance with the
provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix 20 to the GEM
Listing Rules will be published within three months after the publication of this
report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate its
employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform with the market
standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture. The Group also
understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with its suppliers
and customers to fulfil its short-term and long-term goals. To maintain its
market competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at delivering
services of constantly high standards of quality to its customers. During the
Year, there was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
suppliers and/or customers.

According to the credit rating of different customers, the Group allows a credit
period of up to 90 days to customers. In extending and/or granting credit
terms to customers, the Group will carefully assess creditworthiness and
financial standing of each individual customer. Management will also closely
monitor all outstanding debts and review their collectability periodically.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Data privacy has become a critical issue for online sales business in the
world. In relation to the Software Business and the B2B Online Sales Platform
and B2B Product Trading Business, the Group has paid close attention to
confidentiality of personal data and privacy of its customers. Under the daily
operation of the Software Business and the B2B Online Sales Platform and
B2B Product Trading Business, it is inevitable to deal with enormous amount
of customers’ and potential customers’ information during the process of
online transactions. It is of significant importance for the Group to handle their
data with care so as to comply with the laws and regulations relating to data
privacy. Employees are required to fully abide by the provisions stipulated
when handling customers’ data and they are prohibited from any unauthorised
copying, dissemination or disclosure of confidential information, including
customers’ identity and transaction records.

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any material non-compliance

with any relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the
Group.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020 has disrupted global economic
activities, prompted widespread closings of businesses and left countries
in full or partial lockdown. Governments have implemented a series of
precautionary and control measures in an attempt to contain the spread of
the deadly virus, while moves have also been made to slow down the global
economic recession. In view of this, the Group is paying close attention to
the development of, and the disruption to business and economic activities
caused by, the outbreak of COVID-19 and evaluate its impact on the financial
position, cash flows and operating results of the Group.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements and re-presented as appropriate, is set out on
page 227 of this report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For the Year, related party transactions in relation to the transactions with
key management personnel (i.e. Directors’ remuneration) in note 47(a) t
the consolidated financial statements fell under the definition of “connected
transactions” and they were fully exempt under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the Year, the Company has not entered into any connected
transactions that are subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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COMPETING INTEREST

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong”), an executive Director and the Chairman
of the Board and the controlling Shareholder, has been a director of each
of EPRO Systems (HK) Limited (“EPRO HK”), EPRO Systems (China)
Limited, EPRO Technology Limited and EPRO Limited since July 2017,
the chief executive officer of EPRO HK since January 2018 and a director
of EPRO (UK) Limited since May 2018, all of which were wholly-owned
subsidiaries of CONCORD-LINKED LIMITED (178 ABR 2 A) (‘CONCORD”)
(abovementioned subsidiaries together as the “CONCORD Subsidiaries”,
together with CONCORD, the “CONCORD Group”). CONCORD is a subsidiary
of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (A=K EBEERER A A])
(“Hang Tai Yue Group”) (stock code: 8081), a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange. Since the completion of the subscription of 49% interest
in CONCORD by Mr. Wong on 27 May 2019 as further elaborated below,
Mr. Wong has been further employed as (i) the chief executive officer of the
CONCORD Group; and (i) an executive director of EPRO HK for a term of
three years. He has also been appointed as a director of CONCORD. The
CONCORD Group is principally engaged in the provision of professional I.T.
contract and maintenance services.

On 21 May 2019, Mr. Wong and CONCORD entered into a subscription
agreement pursuant to which Mr. Wong conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, and CONCORD conditionally agreed to allot and issue,
shares of CONCORD, representing 49% of its enlarged issued share
capital (“CONCORD Subscription Shares”) at the subscription price of
HK$22,000,000 (“CONCORD Subscription Agreement”). Upon the completion
of the subscription of the CONCORD Subscription Shares pursuant to the
CONCORD Subscription Agreement on 27 May 2019, CONCORD was 49%
owned by Mr. Wong and 51% by Hang Tai Yue Group.

Mr. Zhang Long, an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer, has also
been a director of each of EPRO HK, EPRO Systems (China) Limited, EPRO
Technology Limited and EPRO Limited since 2017.

The CONCORD Subsidiaries may compete with the business of the indirect
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, namely e-Perfect IT Limited and
Wafer Systems (Hong Kong) Limited, which are principally engaged in the
provision of corporate management solutions and I.T. contract services in
Hong Kong and overseas.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, controlling Shareholder, nor
their respective close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules)
had any interest in a business, apart from the business of the Group, which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group during the Year.
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DIRECTORS

The changes of the Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report

were:
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Ex

Appointed on

ESEHS

RAEERBERARENH ESFFPHNT:

Resigned on

RUTRHEERE REUT BHIBE

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (Chairman) HRZAE (EE) 29 October 2018 -
—ZE2-NF+A=+NA -

Mr. Wong Hin Shek (Note) FRE L (MisE) 1 September 2017 4 April 2019
—ZT—tFNA—AH —ZT-NFMAMA

Mr. Zhang Long (Chief Executive Officer) — SREEFAE (7THAAZE) 4 April 2019 —
—E-NAFMHANHA -

Independent Non-executive Directors BN FEHITES

Professor Chui Tsan Kit RIRGEHE 23 April 2015 =
—E-AFMNA=+=AR -

Mr. Chan Yung PRESAE 24 November 2017 -
—E—tF+—A=+mA =

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei ERER A S A 24 November 2017 -

Note: Mr. Wong Hin Shek resigned with effect from 4 April 2019 due to his other BfEE - FEBAEERAEER AT ZEBRE M BB AEmMEE

business commitments which require more of his time.

In accordance with Bye-law 83(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject
to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following

—ET—+F+—A=+WmH

B B2 - NFHAMARER-

annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-

election.
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Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years. The retiring Directors shall be eligible
for re-election.

Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Company of Bye-laws, the Directors to retire by
rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors
to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself
for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other
Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment and so that as between persons
who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire
shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

As such, Mr. Cheng Hong Kei and Professor Chui Tsan Kit shall retire
in forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to the
Company’s Bye-laws.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 58 to 62 of this report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals
of the Group are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company confirmed that it has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the existing independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and all existing independent
non-executive Directors are considered to be independent by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws and the GEM Listing Rules.

The emoluments of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors are determined with reference to their respective background,
experience, duties and responsibilities with the Group and the prevailing
market conditions.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or existed
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OR
ARRANGEMENTS

None of the Directors (including any person who at any time during the Year
was a Director) or an entity connected with a Director is or was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party which was subsisting during or at the end of the Year, nor did
any Director have direct or indirect interests in any assets which have been
acquired or disposed of by or leased to, or are proposed to be acquired or
disposed of by or leased to, any member of the Group at the end of the Year
or at any time during the Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

There was (i) no contract of significance was entered into by and/or
subsisted between the Company or any of its subsidiaries with the controlling
shareholder or any of his/its subsidiaries during the Year; and (i) no contract
of significance in relation to the provision of services by the controlling
shareholder or any of his/its subsidiaries to the Group was entered into and/or
subsisted during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2019, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as
referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares (“Shares”) of the Company
and underlying Shares

EERBESITRABRA R A SE[BEEE
B R ERRORESNWESEILR

RZZB-NFFTZA=+—RB EFREARFAZKSTHR
ABRARBREEMBEEE (EXRBHRAE K
IEEXVER) MRy - ARBAR i HEFF - EHRLHENR
BREFMEGDIFBGREFE 2B LMARERE
GEMLETR RIS 465 T ERETEENRERER
SITHERRA R AN ERIORB T -

RARBEER ([RH]) REBRONER

Approximate
percentage of
the total issued

Number of share capital

Name of Director Capacity Shares interested of the Company
EARLAREWE T

EEpR &4 BEEENROEE RABHBEDL
(Note 1) (Note 2)

(BzE1) (BffsE2)

Wong Jing Shong Beneficial owner 333,336,177 (L) 75.0%

BEEAA

EiE
Notes:
1. “L” denotes a long position.

2. The total number of 444,448,237 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2019 has
been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors nor
chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this report
of the Directors, at no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors and the chief
executive, their respective spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) was approved by the
Shareholders in the annual general meeting of the Company on 13 June 2017
and adopted on 15 June 2017.

The Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to the
eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any entities in
which any member of the Group holds equity interest.

The Directors may subject to the provisions of the Share Option Scheme and
the GEM Listing Rules, invite any person belonging to any of the following
classes of eligible participants, to take up share options to subscribe for
Shares: (a) any eligible employee (whether full time or part time, including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any entity in which any member of the Group holds
any equity interest (“invested entity”); (b) any non-executive Director (including
independent non-executive Directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or any invested entity; and (c) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or
consultant to any area of business or business development of any member of
the Group or any invested entity.

The Share Option Scheme shall continue in force for a period of 10 years
commencing on its adoption date. The Share Option Scheme will remain in
force until 15 June 2027 and after such date no further options shall be offered
but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and
effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted before its expiry or termination but not yet exercised.
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The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted at any time under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the issued Shares on the date of Shareholders’
approval of the Share Option Scheme or the date of Shareholders’ approval
of a refreshment of such limit in a general meeting of the Company (“General
Scheme Limit"). Previously granted options which may be outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the General Scheme Limit.

The limit on the number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group must
not in aggregate exceed 30% of the total Shares in issue from time to time.

Each grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to any Director, chief
executive of the Company or substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) or any of their respective associates must be approved by
independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent non-executive
Director who or whose associate is the proposed grantee). Where any grant of
options to a substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or
an independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective associates,
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant: (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
Shares as at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, such further
grant of options must be approved by the Shareholders in general meeting.

Upon acceptance of an option granted under the Share Option Scheme, the
eligible participant shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the
grant. Such option will be offered for acceptance within such time specified in
the offer which shall not be later than 21 days from the date on which the offer
is made.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group (including exercised and outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.
The exercise price for the options granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall be determined at the discretion of the Board but in any event shall be
at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must
be a business day; (i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the
Share.
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During the Year and as at the date of this report, there was no outstanding
share option under the Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2019 and at the date of this report, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 44,444,823,
representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of this report.

INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO AND
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS
INTEREST IN SECURITIES

Substantial Shareholders

Save for the interest in Shares held by Mr. Wong Jing Shong, an executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board, as disclosed in the section
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations” in this report of the Directors, the Directors were not aware of
any other person (other than Directors or the chief executive of the Company)
who, as at 31 December 2019, had, or was deemed or taken to have interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to the applicable laws, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/
she may sustain or incur in the execution of his/her duties or otherwise in
relation thereto pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company. The Company has
maintained appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Group. The relevant provisions in the Bye-laws
of the Company and the directors’ and officers’ liability insurance are currently
in force and were in force throughout the Year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits schemes in operation for the Year are
set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESE®RE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the audit committee of the Board (“Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in accordance with Rules 5.28
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee’s principal duties are
to review and supervise the financial reporting process, risk management
and internal control procedures of the Group. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Cheng
Hong Kei (the chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Yung and
Professor Chui Tsan Kit. The Audit Committee meets at least quarterly each
year. The Company’s financial statements for the Year have been reviewed
and discussed by the Audit Committee before any disclosure and release of
information.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under
the GEM Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by RSM Hong Kong,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wong Jing Shong
Chairman and Executive Director

20 March 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GET HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of GET Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
83 to 226, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BN LA RE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We
have determined the “Impairment assessment of goodwill” to be the key audit
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matter and how our audit addressed this key audit matter is set out below:

Key Audit Matter
BREZSIE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BB ER G

Refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

2 B4R P MAMRE23 o

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had goodwill with carrying
value of approximately HK$80,825,000, arising from the acquisition
of Boom Max International Limited and its subsidiaries (‘Boom Max
Group”) and Wafer Systems (Hong Kong) Limited (“Wafer HK”).
Management has allocated goodwill to individual cash-generating
units (“CGUs”"). Goodwill is required to be tested for impairment on
an annual basis.

R-ZZTE—AF+-_A=+—H  EE£BEEWKEBoom Max
International Limited & E KB A 7 ([Boom Max £ | ) REZ Z 5
(BB)ARAR ([BBEB]) EX2HEEBEL A 80,825,000
BT - EREEDREEIREEMNRSELEC([REELE
) HBASFETHRENR -

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based
on either fair value less cost of disposal or value in use models
which require significant estimates concerning future cash flows,
and associated discount rates and growth rates assumptions,
which are based on management’s expectations of future business
performance and prospects. In respect of the goodwill arising
from Boom Max Group and Wafer HK, impairment losses of
approximately HK$65,000,000 and HK$254,000 respectively were
made during the year to reduce the CGUs’ carrying amounts to their
recoverable amounts.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BPMNERNEEEREEREIE

We used our in-house valuation specialists to assess the integrity
of the models used and the appropriateness of the discount
rates, long-term growth rates, other information, assumptions
and estimates for the impairment assessment determined by
management.
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We agreed inputs to the models to supporting evidence including
the latest approved 5-year budgets and considered the accuracy of
management’s previous budgets.
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We assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions made by
management in preparing the cash flow forecasts in light of historical
results and the current operating environment.
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We carried out sensitivity analysis to assess the impact of
reasonable possible changes in key assumptions and discount
rates.
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We also considered the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in
respect of the impairment testing of goodwill.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information
comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other
Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider
whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGE WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BN LA RE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. Wong Wo Cheung.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountant
29th Floor, Lee Garden Two,
28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay,

Hong Kong

20 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
GERRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

2019 2018
—ZE-hF —T-NEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B = FERT FHET
Continuing operations FEREHEL
Revenue A 8 369,839 133,230
Cost of sales SHEE R AR (296,822) (54,833)
Gross profit EF 73,017 78,397
Other income HaA 9 634 1,838
Other gains and losses, net Hahas R EiE - F58 10 (60,010) (178,983)
Impairment losses on trade and other B REMERREREOEE
receivables and contract assets REEE (2,057) (39,893)
Selling and administrative expenses HERITHRAX (70,154) (76,943)
Loss from operations KEEER (58,570) (215,584)
Finance costs ELE- N 12 (103) =
Share of profit/(loss) of an associate FEME— MBS ARER, (BE) 887 (21,704)
Share of loss of a joint venture EE—RHEE&EEEE = (1,174)
Loss before tax BRELATES 1B 13 (57,786) (238,462)
Income tax expense TS 14 (3,894) (5,830)
Loss for the year from AEERFESEELER
continuing operations (61,680) (244,292)
Discontinued operation BRIEREEK
Profit for the year from REFE R I EEEE A
a discontinued operation 17 - 25
Loss for the year KEEFHIE (61,680) (244,267)
Attributable to: MTFALTHER:
Owners of the Company PN/NEIE VSN (67,200) (251,411)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR A 2 5,520 7,144
(61,680) (044,267)
(Loss)/earnings per share (HK cents) R (BR) BF (B4) 19
From continuing and discontinued operations 2% & #3548} B 4% |+ 48 & 275
Basic HA (15.12) (56.56)
Diluted 5 (15.12) (56.56)
From continuing operations RERFEKEHET
Basic HA (15.12) (56.57)
Diluted 5 (15.12) (56.57)
From a discontinued operation REDKRIEEEER
Basic 2R N/ATEH 0.01
Diluted g N/ATE A 0.01
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

GeRakEMZEBRER

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE

(AETTHITR)

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FExT FHT
Loss for the year EEEEE (61,680) (244,267)
Other comprehensive income: Hiap 2wk 20
ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss: R E# H B E 1825498 H
Exchange differences on translation WEBIINBAR R —EBLE QR
of financial statements of overseas MISHMREENEL =58
subsidiaries and an associate (5,123) 241
(5,123) 241
ltems that will not be reclassified to BT EE D EE B EE -
profit or loss:
Fair value changes of equity instruments at FREMEERE AR FEESRD
fair value through other comprehensive RATEHAFEEE
income (FVTOC)) (590) (17,428)
Other comprehensive income AEEHME2ERE  NKRHE
for the year, net of tax (5,713) (17,187)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEZEHNFALE (67,393) (261,454)
Attributable to: MTFALHER:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ PN (72,913) (268,598)
Non-controlling interests FEVERRAE 2 5,520 7,144
(67,393) (261,454)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SEPBRRR

At 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

R=Z—h&+=-A=+—H
(ABTTSIR)

2019 2018
—Z-h#F —T-NEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FBT FHET
Non-current assets REBEE
Property, plant and equipment L ER =y 21 1,591 290
Right-of-use assets FREEE 22 1,883 =
Goodwill [EES 23 80,825 146,079
Intangible assets BVEE 24 82,969 77,357
Investment in an associate R—EBE R FRIEE 26 - 6,719
Financial assets at FVTOCI BREMEAKZARFEEE
SRR EE 27 1,040 5,439
168,308 235,884
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 28 394 1,588
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H e Wk IA 29 85,017 36,725
Contract assets BREE 31 1,804 1,401
Financial assets at fair value through BRBHRANTFEEIENESREE
profit or loss (FVTPL) 30 32,536 4,224
Tax recoverable AT Ug [ 18 1,487 3,877
Pledged bank deposits B FIRITER 32 627 1,637
Cash and cash equivalents RERRESEEY 32 80,723 147,699
202,588 197,151
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R E MR KIE 33 17,384 9,599
Contract liabilities aREE 31 3,488 5,904
Lease liabilities HESaE 34 2,217 =
Current tax liabilities EMRIEAE 27,259 26,385
50,348 41,888
Net current assets RBEEZRE 152,240 155,263
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERARBAEE 320,548 391,147
Non-current liabilities kREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAR 34 446 -
Deferred tax liabilities BRERIEEE 35(a) 13,526 11,835
13,972 11,835
NET ASSETS EEZFE 306,576 379,312
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
wE MR &

At 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RZZT—h&F+=-A=+—H

(AETTHITR)

2019 2018
—Z-h#F —T-NEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
s FET FET

Capital and reserves EXREHE
Share capital [ 36 4,444 4,444
Reserves 1 38 265,408 338,321
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZN 2 &% A A {5 #E 269,852 342,765
Non-controlling interests eI AR A A 36,724 36,547
TOTAL EQUITY R 306,576 379,312

Approved by the Board of Directors on 20 March 2020 and are signed on its
behalf by:

REFEN _E_TF="A_THEHESTHUTESEK

REE

Wong Jing Shong
BB
Director

EE

Zhang Long
REE
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GERREDR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_T-NF+_A=1+—HILFE
(LABTTEIR)

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATEEAEE
Share Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed option  Exchange revaluation Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
REER 2R
kx  REEE EEEH BREGE  ENRE B  RAER @it i s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T AT ThT Thn ThI AT ThT T ThI TR
At1 January 2018 RZE-N5-A-H 4444 517,181 992,154 1,420 4,861 - (908,697) 611,363 37470 648,833
Adjustments on iniial applcation of & XER B BHEREER S
HKFRS 9 iR = = = = = (36,250) 36,260 - - -
Restated balance RZE-NE-A-Af
at 1 January 2078 HET|Eh G4 S8 95 1420 4861 G620 ETMT) G113 340 6488
Loss for the year TEREE - - - - - - (514 (251410) 7144 (244.267)
Other comprehensive income. {2 % - = = = 241 (17,428) = (17,187) = (17,187)
Total comprehensive income TEERENREE
forthe yeer - . . - W (748 @5I4N) D685 T4 (6145
Disposal of a subsiciary L E-EHELR
(note 41(a) (GEAE) - - - - - - - - 308 308
Share option lapsed BRitEhE - = = (1,420) = = 1420 = = =
Dividends paic to non-controling 2 [ kR ERHR S
interests (note 25) (Hskos) - - - - - - - - 9,458 (9,459)
Deconsolidation of subsiciares ~ BUEGAAEHEBAR
fnote 42 (H324) - - - - - - - - 1,083 1083
Reclassfication on disposal of ~ RIEEFAEHZEREMND
equity instuments at VTOCI - FEBSIRRRATIARE
558 - - - - Sk (38591) 4 . .
Changes inequity for the year N FEfEEE 2 - - - (1,420) - 38501 @7,171) = (8,067) (8,067)
At 31 December 2018 and RIE-N\E
1 January 2019 +ZA=t-8k
“E-\5-A-H 4444 517,181 092,154 - 5,102 (15087) (1,161,029 342,765 36,947 379,312
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEREREER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-NFT+-A=T—HILFE

(AETTHITR)

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATEEAEE
Share Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed option  Exchange revaluation Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
REER 2R
kx  REEE EEEH BREGE  ENRE #E  RAER ) i L 4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR THI T T TR ThR T TR TR
At 31 December 2018andat ~ R=F-/\E+ZA=1+-H
1 January 2019 RR=Z-nE-A-A 4444 517,181 992,154 - 5,102 (15087) (1,161,029 342,765 36,947 379,312
Loss for the year TEEFR - - - - - - (67,200) (67,200) 5520 (61,680)
Other comprehensive income £t 2 AN - - - - (5,123 (590) - (6,713 - (5,719
Total comprehensive income IEERANEEE
fo the year - - - N R B B0 (2919 550 (67399
Dividends paid to non-controling 2R EERER AR S
interests (note 25) (Hisk2s) - - - - - - - - (5,349 (5,349)
Reclassfication on disposal of ~ MHEEREMZEREMND
equity instuments at VTOCI— FEESIBRRATARE
558 - - - - S B (18340 - - -
Changesinequity for the year ~ AEE XS - - - = = 13340 (13,340) = (5,349 (5,349
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE
+-f=1-B 44 S8 09154 - @) RN (1241569 26982 %674 306576
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

2019 2018
—E-NF —T—\F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FTERT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM KETEHEESRE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax FREEATE 1B
Continuing operations B ST (57,786) (238,462)
Discontinued operation BRI T = (21)
(57,786) (238,483)
Adjustments for: R
Bank interest income RITH B U A (615) (594)
Bad debts written off 2 AR EH - 27
Amortisation # 5 29,419 23,589
Depreciation on property, Y BERZETE
plant and equipment 353 880
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEENE 2,077 =
Dividend income % B A - (234)
Fair value loss on an investment property —HEREMEATEBER - 800
Finance costs BhE AR 103 -
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets at BRBEHENATEBYIENS R
FVTPL EEMHRNTFEE (W) & (8,462) 2,830
Share of (profit)/loss of an associate FER—EE S DR CEF) BB (887) 21,704
Share of loss of a joint venture Eh—EEECEEE - 1,174
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—ERE QR Mk - (646)
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BUBLRA ARK B A BEE - 3,454
Gain on disposal of HEFEBIBRARFEENERN
financial assets at FVTPL SR EEM KT - (103)
Loss on disposal of a joint venture HE—HALELEEIR - 1,144
Gain on disposal of HE—BIREMENH K
an investment property - 678)
Impairment loss on goodwill EmEREEE 65,254 166,934
Impairment loss on intangible assets EmEAERERBE - 4,588
Impairment loss on property, Yz RE R ZEREREE
plant and equipment - 300
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FREEERBEERE 716 _
Impairment loss on trade and B REMBUFERANEE
other receivables and contract assets REE1E 2,057 39,893
Impairment loss on amounts due from FEWEUBSRE ABRHK B A B IER
deconsolidated subsidiaries BEEE - 570
Loss on deemed disposal of an associate RAELE —HEEAREE 2,129 =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERERER

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(AETTHITR)

2019 2018
—E-NF —T—N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FTERT FHET
Operating profit before working HEESEHAMLE R
capital changes 34,358 27,149
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FE®RL (M) 1,194 (1,665)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 & E A FE U R IEIE AN (50,344) (196)
Increase in contract assets EBREELM (408) (1,428)
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at BBBRARNTFEBENES
FVTPL SREE (Em), mL (19,500) 2,861
Increase/(decrease) in trade 5 K E A Z B,
and other payables CBA) 7,785 (1,502)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities AHaBCRD), & (2,416) 5,904
Cash (used in)/generated from operations e (FrA) /F5Ee (29,331) 31,128
Income tax refund/(paid) RE S (BA)ATER 1,061 (5,443)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERS (103) -
Net cash (used in)/generated e EE) (FTA) /8RR 8
from operating activities (28,373) 25,685
CASH FLOWS FROM REZHRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital injection to a joint venture R—HEEETENTE - (1,000)
Bank interest received BEUERTTHIE 615 594
Dividend received BB - 234
Expenditure on development projects BEBEMNZH (35,031) (25,757)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits B FRITE RO 1,010 1,008
Net cash inflow arising from e B AR
disposal of a subsidiary BERAFE 41(a) - 905
Net cash outflow arising from BUBSR A ARME A A8
deconsolidation of subsidiaries REREF8E 42 = (409
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HESBREMEEKWENAFEEB
at FVTOCI SRR BB EMNISKIA 3,809 14,126
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture HE—HEeECEMEHIE - 2,100
Proceeds from disposal of an HE B EYEMSHIE
investment property - 38,178
Purchase of property, plant and equipment ~ BEYE  HE MR E (1,654) (55)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEES (FTA) F8HeFE
investing activities (31,251) 29,924
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE

(LABTTEIR)

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —T—\F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FTERT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM BMETEHEESRE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B IEERERRKRE (5,343) (9,458)
Principal elements of lease payments HENZNARE IS (2,013) =
Net cash used in financing activities BB EBARS FRE (7,356) (9,458)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN BeRBSZEY RY)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AR EE (66,980) 46,151
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EHFEE o2 4 =
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R—B—HHWERESRRESEEY

1 JANUARY 147,699 101,548
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R+ZB=+—HWRER

31 DECEMBER REEEY 80,723 147,699
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND RERBESEBYOW

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents BeMAeEEY 32 80,723 147,699
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

GENERAL INFORMATION

GET Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on
30 July 2001 and continued in Bermuda on 9 January 2014. The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of
business in Hong Kong is located at Room 1204-05, 12/F., Centre
Point, 181-185 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The principal activity
of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$'000) unless otherwise stated. Hong
Kong dollars (‘HK$") is the Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
and with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

—REH

BHERBBRAF ([RKAF])R=ZTT—FtA
= +HEHSRSAMKL AERRBRAR
WRZZT—NF—ANAEBREFE AR FE
4% =5 B2 i 7 Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda - &8 E B & ¥ 2 A
B ETETITEI81-185 PR E A E121E
1204-05%

ERABBRORBEEBMARSAAR AR ([HB
Frl) GEMEM - AR BN E R EB RITEER
HIfB AR CERARRSE [AEE ] NETEX
BE N AR S BB IRKR M RE25 -

BIESEHA GRS BHREUATELT ([T
BT WEMIHR BT ([BT]) RARENIL
EEBRAEENTIHREE-

mREXE

ZEGAMBRRERBEELGHMAE ([FE
BEAIAE ) BENAEEREEYBMELE
(BB BRELEN]) R - FEYBREER
BEEEMBREER ([BBUBHRELEL])
BRI ([FEGER]) kB %%
FEMBMRITTAMZES LR REER
RGN EB R AIED] (F6228 ) WERERE -
REBREDEZSABRN T XRE -

RAEBZ AR BEGHMASERM
ETEREREAIHEREB T REERTE
BB HREER - EREARSRAEEEHN
ERIFal A et BH BT St RN ERN S
ABRRER ERMNREEEMBRERA R
AR NS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(@)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16 Leases, and a
number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Group.

Except for HKFRS 16, none of the developments have had a
material effect on how the Group’s results and financial position
for the current or prior periods have been prepared or presented.
The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 supersedes HKAS 17 Leases, and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease, HK(SIC) 15 Operating Leases-Incentives
and HK(SIC) 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. HKFRS 16 introduced a
single accounting model for lessees, which requires a lessee to
recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases,
except for leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets.

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the financial
statements to assess the effect that leases have on the financial
position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1 January
2019. The Group has elected to use the modified retrospective
approach and has therefore recognised the cumulative effect
of initial application as an adjustment to the opening balance of
equity at 1 January 2019. Comparative information has not been
restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 17.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE

(LABTTEIR)

3.

BRAETET RSB ERMBREER

(@

=

FEFFTR] RAMERT BB I B A 2R

BEGHMAGERTRAEEER G5
HRERERN AN BN BREE
8 BB SRS ERE16RHEE AR
SIRB M B RE LR OEFTA

BEEPBREERE16REEIN  BIEE
MERBEAERNEENARRER 2] AH
RGBT RENEERTBRRERER
B - AKEWEEANRNEHIBERE
MEVERIFET LR R R R -

BB TR EERE 165 E

BEMBRELEYNEIRMAEE G E
AT ERBRRE B8 (HRMHB
BERBZE)FANEERHEERE
HE FE (LARBEER)F15REE
HE-EBERESL (FRREZES)F27
e RHEARTARSNART BB
MM EEUNF1SRERABASIAE—&
SRR ESRREAR AR ERR LR
BENMESRE EHBA12EARATZ
HERKEEEEHERRI

BV B E LR E16SR IS AEINE
REEBWBRENR SERVBHRREMREFN
HESHERBMBRR FHRBERRER
ENFE-

AEER -_Z-NF-A-BEERER
BERUBREENF165 - AEBDEAL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(@ Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to previous
accounting policies and the transition options applied are set out
below:

0] New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates to the
concept of control. HKFRS 16 defines a lease on the basis
of whether a customer controls the use of an identified
asset for a period of time, which may be determined
by a defined amount of use. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to direct the use of
the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in HKFRS
16 only to contracts that were entered into or changed
on or after 1 January 2019. For contracts entered
into before 1 January 2019, the Group has used the
transitional practical expedient to grandfather the previous
assessment of which existing arrangements are or contain
leases. Accordingly, contracts that were previously
assessed as leases under HKAS 17 continue to be
accounted for as leases under HKFRS 16 and contracts
previously assessed as non-lease service arrangements
continue to be accounted for as executory contracts.

(ii) Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to
classify leases as either operating leases or finance leases,
as was previously required by HKAS 17. Instead, the
Group is required to capitalise all leases when it is the
lessee, including leases previously classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17, other than those short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets which are exempt.

e MR M

HE_Z-NF+_A=1+—RHIFE
(Jf/{/ﬁﬁﬁ‘J/T\)

3. MM REBIEEMBRERES
(%)

\
=
=

@ ERHITREBIEBUBREEL
(48)

BB BIREERE16HE ()

EHBESHRREP I UERFEUR
FrER AR @B T IE 8 2 — B E I
T~

0 MEZHEE

EEHEZBHTEMTRIE 2B
ﬁ% ERUBREEANF165ARIE
BEFREN—RERAEHIE #5E
EZRaMERME Al BREER
R8EE -MEFBEEIEEDEH
BEZRE TABRZABESE
FRAKEN D BEHNEDEE-

REEEBERMBREERFE165
MEEREREAN_—Z—NF—A
—AXZRILRERE 24 K&
EERR =T NF—H—BAEIZ
MEKNRABETERERE MU
ERALHFL/IEEHEZBEE
T%%ﬁi@ﬂoﬁm'%mﬁﬁﬁ

B ERFEITRAEREEZAD
%E&E%Mﬁﬁ%&%%%%k%
S RHE - St AR 4 A FF & RS
ZHEZ A WRIEE R RERITA
#1e

(i) FABEASHEERBEEHSE

ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁi&iﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁG%Jﬁﬂiiéif‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁ

BRPERIFEITRREABAREE
’\*Eﬁi&%ﬁﬁf’f‘mﬂé“ﬂfZ%ﬁm°
Rz EXREEAEBA  HEK
FHEER BREENREETES
AREMEITRAOBREEHEZH
& HEHEEREKEEEENEE
BRONe
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(@ Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

(i)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact (continued)

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied the
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities
at the date of initial application. The average incremental
borrowing rates applied by the relevant group entities
range from 3.36% to 3.64%.

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group applied the
following recognition exemption and practical expedients
at the date of initial application of HKFRS 16:

A)

elected not to apply the requirements of HKFRS 16
in respect of the recognition of lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets to leases for which the remaining
lease term ends within 12 months from the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, i.e. where the lease
term ends on or before 31 December 2019;

applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with a similar remaining terms for similar
class of underlying assets in a similar economic
environment. Specifically, discount rate for certain
leases of office premises and office equipment were
determined on a portfolio basis;

used hindsight based on facts and circumstances
as at date of initial application in determining the
lease term for the Group’s leases with extension
options;

excluded initial direct costs from measuring the
right-of-use assets at the date of initial application;
and

relied on the assessment of whether leases are
onerous by applying HKAS 37 as an alternative to
an impairment review.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(@)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

(i)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised
at initial recognition and over the lease terms due to
application of the initial recognition exemption.

The following table reconciles the operating lease
commitments as disclosed in note 44 as at 31 December
2018 to the opening balance for lease liabilities recognised

e MR M

HE_Z-NF+_A=1+—RHIFE
(Jf/{/ﬁﬁﬁ‘J/T\)

3. MM REBIEEMBRERES
(%)

\
=
=

FER#TR] RAMERT BB I B A 2R
(48)

(@

BB BIREERE16HE ()

(i) FABEASHEEMBEEHTE (H)
ARANEEEREBELERIERE
EEEMNMRERSHEELHE &
EEPHAEERBER® 2T EAME
AREEEHRERE-

HRBEREREEAREEREZHE
EXHmE RAEEDHLEHBEE
EREEaBERAEEGHENFE 12
SRS AR E - AR B MG FER AR
% EEREEENHERGHRED
H Z RNV RER R M B H R
TR -

TREFIN-_ZE-NF+-_A=+—
H E’Jif“%fﬂf%?%ﬁ* (PR sT44 52 52)
HER T NF-A - HEANEE

as at 1 January 2019: BECZFUEGER:
HK$'000
FHET
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 RZZE—N\FT+ZA=T—BEENK
December 2018 B E R 3,504
Less: commitments relating to lease exempt from B ERERRENMAE 2 &
capitalisation
— short-term leases and other leases with —“REHHEERKRTHESRR
remaining lease term ending on or before 31 —E-AF+ZA=+—H
December 2019 KRS RNEMBE (394)
3,110
Less: total future interest expenses B ARRF B BT (92)
Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January 2019 RZTE-NF—HA—B®R
HEARE 3,018

Of which are:
Current lease liabilities
Non-current lease liabilities

HohadE:
nEBHEAE 1,615
nBHEEAE 1,403
3,018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3.
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

BRANETET RS B RMBREER

(%)

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

(i)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact (continued)

The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously
classified as operating leases have been recognised at an
amount equal to the amount recognised for the remaining
lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised
in the statement of consolidated financial position at 31
December 2018.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The following table summaries the impacts of the adoption
of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position:

(@

FEFFTR] RAMERT BB I B A 2R

(%)

BB BIREERE16HE (B)

(i)

EEAGTREERBEETE ()

HAEHT DR AKEHERNH SRR
ERREESRSANERANRE
HERBESREER WEBRZIAM
SRR -_ZE-N\F+-A=+—
Bz e MRk DR ER TR
NREFHEENRSETHE -

ENTIREES RS HRBEEEUH
WEEREORH T A ([FEUH
WEERFONR ) ARL VIR AT
BERE - VIR E A EEMR
1R B BN A RESMBE N KA A A
FRREEER A -

TRIBARB T BN B RELRE16
A EEESPBRAKRNTE

Effects of
adoption of
HKFRS 16
RinE BB
REER

E1HNTE
Carrying Carrying
amount amount
as at as at
31 December Recognition 1 January
2018 of leases 2019

»
—E-N\EF i
Line items in the consolidated ZTRNE B EREER +=A —E-hE
statement of financial position BIORFENGENE =+—A —B—H
impacted by the adoption of HKFRS 16  j#RR&EH HEREE HERR W EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT FHET FHET
Assets BE
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 3,018 3,018
Liabilities &fE

Lease liabilities HEAaRE - 3,018 3,018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(@ Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

(i)

Impact of the financial results and cash flows of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019, the Group as a
lessee is required to recognise interest expense accrued
on the outstanding balance of the lease liabilities, and
the depreciation of the right-of-use assets, instead of the
previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. This results in a positive impact on the
reported profit from operations in the Group’s consolidated
statement of profit or loss, as compared to the results if
HKAS 17 had been applied during the year.

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Group as
a lessee is required to split rentals paid under capitalised
leases into their principal element and interest element
(note 41(b)). These elements are classified as financing
cash outflows and operating cash outflows respectively.
Although total cash flows are unaffected, the adoption
of HKFRS 16 therefore results in a significant change
in presentation of cash flows within the consolidated
statement of cash flows (note 41(c)).
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HMEENHEERER AEE (ER
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FHERIBATSR IS AR - iR Y
FEBGSBERERTESOHLLET
EEXTEFE-

REARERERT NEE (ER
ABEA)BEBENMCHEEETEMNA
o REASBS RF SIS (ME
A1) - ZEBD DD ERFBER

EREREERSRL BT
ﬁ-fﬁ‘i\,ﬁi,ﬁ%‘%ﬁ BERAE BT R
HREAEIRERGREBEERER
PRETEMNZIHFALRERE
(FH3E41(0)) »

\é.}ﬁf

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report2019

98



99

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3. AT RKBEITERMBREED
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued) (#&)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued) (@ FERAFTRLETEBVEREER
(#&)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued) BB R EERIE 165 E ()
(i)  Impact of the financial results and cash flows of the Group (i) HAEENBEERREREZFE
(continued) (&)
The following tables give an indication of the estimated TRETRMNE SN REERE16
impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s REAEBEHEE-_T—NF+=A
financial result and cash flows for the year ended 31 =+ —HUEFEMBEERBERE
December 2019, by adjusting the amounts reported under M E A RNRARZEREMN
HKFRS 16 in these consolidated financial statements to EMERP BB B IEMEERIFE16
compute estimates of the hypothetical amounts that would RA2®ESTE UFEMRZZ—h
have been recognised under HKAS 17 if this superseded FHRERADHEDRANEB G ER
standard had continued to apply in 2019 instead of FA75 (MIEBRBY HREERE16
HKFRS 16, and by comparing these hypothetical amounts 5% ) RIAR R 3% %€ Bl AN FE RE SR MO 1 5T 1R
for 2019 with the actual 2018 corresponding amounts T2 WTKZE_Z-—NFBRESE
which were prepared under HKAS 17. HERBEES S EAFE17THRERN
TR N\FEREESEETLER.
2019 2018
“Z-hE§ —T-N\F
Deduct:
Estimated
amounts
related to
Add back: operating  Hypothetical Compared to
Amounts HKFRS 16 lease as if amounts amounts
reported  depreciation under for 2019 reported for
under and interest HKAS 17 as if under 2018 under
HKFRS 16 expense (note 1) HKAS 17 HKAS 17
A RE B
EBETHER EREH LEBRERE
REFREE ME:FEHE B17RHABLE ERIE1TH irEa|
REES REER HELLHE PG H M FATHRE
FI6H2H  F1RNIE Hitst &8 “E-AE —Z-N\F
MeE RASHEX (FFaE1) BELHE 2HeE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TET TERT THT
Financial results for year ended 31 ~ SHRMHE B BHREER
December 2019 impacted by the FI6RFENEER
adoption of HKFRS 16: “Z-AFE+-A=t+-H
LEENRES:
Loss from operations F<$-4 3] (58,570) 2,077 (2,116) (58,609) (215,584)
Finance costs BEKK (103) 103 - - =
Loss before tax REAEE (57,786) 2,180 (2,116) (57,722) (238,462)
Loss for the year FREE (61,680) 2,180 (2,116) (61,616) (244,267)

BSERERDT 2019F 3,




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3.

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(a)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

(AETTHITR)

(%)

@

(i) Impact of the financial results and cash flows of the Group

R REETERMBREER

=

FE AR RAMERT BB & 2R

&)
BB B ERE 16 HE ()

iy HAREHBERERRDREZTZE

(continued) (B®)
2019 2018
—ZE-NFE —E-N\F
Estimated
amounts
related to
operating Hypothetical Compared to
Amounts leases as if amounts amounts
reported under for 2019 reported for
under HKAS 17 as if under 2018 under
HKFRS 16 (note 1) HKAS 17 HKAS 17
R
EHBEH R
ERE175 BB LEBEREEE
g EBIEATH GErER
REFBHE TEHEN FigHH FATHHRE
L ER E165 hEt &8 —E-hF —T-)N\F
E2HRNEE (HEaE1) BELHE Etkal
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET THER FTEx FHT
Line items in the consolidated SRMEBHBHREENE16H
statement of cash flows for the HENBE-_T-hF+=A
year ended 31 December 2019 Z+-ALEERABRERE
impacted by the adoption of RIER:
HKFRS 16:
Cash (used in)/generated from g (A /eRE
operations (29,331) (2,116) (31,447) 31,128
Interest on lease liabilities HEEEHNE (103) 103 - =
Net cash (used in)/generated from E& 58 (FTA) FISRE&FE
operating activities (28,373) (2,013) (30,386) 25,685
Principal element of lease payments ~ & FHHNAEEHH (2,013) 2,013 - -
Net cash used in financing METHMARSTE
activities (7,356) 2,013 (5,343) (9,458)
Note 1:The “estimated amounts related to operating leases” is Mt : [ARKCEHENGTSEIR

an estimate of the amounts of the cash flows in 2019
that relate to leases which would have been classified as
operating leases, if HKAS 17 had still applied in 2019.
This estimate assumes that there were no difference
between rentals and cash flows and that all of the new
leases entered into in 2019 would have been classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17, if HKAS 17 had still
applied in 2019. Any potential net tax effect is ignored.

BRN-_F-NFREERATE
B RERFEITHRBER T AED
BREEHENEEREN -2
—NEREREMFH %M
AHERRESERS NS W&
=82 AMER T -NFHEE
FERE B G ERIFE175E - RIR
—E-NFRIHAHREER
BEARTEREITRAES TR
RIEERE - EMBEN AT E
TR B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LATTAIR)

3.

101

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3. BEMFFIRLIETEBMBREEAR

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued) (#)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet (b)
effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial year
beginning 1 January 2019. These new and revised HKFRSs
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for

accounting
periods
beginning
on or after
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a 1 January 2020
Business
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 1 January 2020
Definition of Material
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and 1 January 2020
HKFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these amendments and new standards is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,

S MBS REME R RSB BB
B IR E 2R

AEETEREFEBERBERDRN -F
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R RASERT BB B SR - Al pE B A K
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BETHIRE.

=R
AR RIRZ
2T EIREK
BB ISR E R —E_EF
B3 (BT A) - —A—H
¥BIEER
BERGEHERE1E & —E-TF
BB G TR FE8H —B—8
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&
BB RE &R —E-FTF
5% BAEGEER —B—8
FI05R B BB R

SREAETE (BT
K)o M REAEHE

AEEBENEZFERTARMATLEIR
BRERAYRERGRzZE 25 AEE
BEREHAE®  RAZFERIARINTED
RAIBEEHRA M BREBRERAZE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE_T-NFT+-A=1T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L/{/%TL@J/T\)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the
accounting policies below (e.g. certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties.
A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

FEEFHE

BTG BESARE (NETERTAR
RFEEFE)  BRLESAVBHRERDREE
SRR AR AEREL

MBEBRRDEBEBVBREENFER - EHE
ERFAETEES A -ENEREEER
EARSESHRABRPELHE - P RaE
W HE SR R E M BRERME BEAR
R RAEFTRERS - TR 51K EE -

REZEGRE
FIAT o

PHREFEANEEGHEE

(a) :vT\:x,EE

REVBHREBREARR RENBE QA
E+ZA=T—BIENFBERE - HELQF
BEAEEZEHNER WAKBER2EE
BB E Y @A B e E R #
ZHOWR WHEEHEBEENVEEREDN
ZEER - W$%lﬁ%ﬂ§§% BARE
BIRAENSEBAIARE HEEE
(%Hgﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁiﬁwamé@>%
rEBHZERERRES -

EEREEAENRR AEEgeERE
FEFORBELA T KM & 77 P BAERORNE < B
ERREENFEANEEREENATRE
ZIARERE S TERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(@)

Consolidation (continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated exchange reserve relating to that
subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).

BSERERDT 2019F 3,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at the
acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. |dentifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the
acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum
of the consideration transferred in a business combination to
calculate the goodwiill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUS”) or groups of CGUs
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is
monitored at the operating segment level. Goodwill impairment
reviews are undertaken annually, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to
the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

e MR M
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(ABTEFIR)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(©)

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held by other
entities, are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right
contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and
is tested for impairment together with the investment at the end
of each reporting period when there is objective evidence that the
investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

(d)

Associates (continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that associate and (i) the Group’s
entire carrying amount of that associate (including goodwill) and
any related accumulated exchange reserve. If an investment in an
associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group
continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure
the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation
) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

(i) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
Statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates when the fair values are determined.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. FES:BUER (&)

(d) Foreign currency translation (continued) d) IMNEBRE (E&)

(i) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial i) FERYBFREZNLZRAEES (E)
statements (continued)
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised EIFEKEENABERNEMEEKE
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component R ZRENERELBORE
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive 2 ER SRR SIFEBHENR
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is BRERERR  ZABNEMER
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of ORISR -
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Translation on consolidation (i) AEKRENRE
The results and financial position of all the Group AEBEETHEES

entities that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the transaction
dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 5 years or over the lease term, if shorter

Office equipment 3-5 years
Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years
Computer hardware and software 3-5 years
Motor vehicle 3 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure on development
activities is capitalised as intangible assets if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and the
Group has sufficient resources and the intention to complete
development. The expenditure capitalised includes the costs
of materials, direct labour, and an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs, where applicable. Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it
is incurred.

Customer relationship and computer software are that intangible
assets with finite useful lives and are acquired through business
combination. The intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are stated at cost, being the fair value at the date
of completion of the business combination, less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated
useful lives. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Development costs on personal computer 2-9 years
performance software, anti-virus software
and mobile applications (“Computer and
Mobile Phone Software”)
— Customer relationship 10 years
— Computer software 6 years

The residual values, useful lives and amortisation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component
for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets which, for the Group are primarily office equipment and
office premises. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they
are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Leases (continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which
it is located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected
to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a
change arising from the reassessment of whether the Group
will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

(i)

Leases (continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Policy prior to 1 January 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the Group classified leases
as operating leases if leases that did not substantially transfer
to the Group all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets
were accounted for as operating leases. Lease payments (net of
any incentives received from the lessor) were recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Inventories

Inventories represent finished goods which are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue
before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL”) in accordance with
the policy set out in note 4(v) and are reclassified to receivables
when the right to the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0

Contract for services

Revenue from contracts with customers in the Group’s corporate
management solutions (“CMS services”) and I.T. contract
services business recognised over time when the Group’s
performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

When the outcome of a CMS services contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the cost-to-cost method, i.e.
based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to
the estimated total costs. The directors consider that this input
method is an appropriate measure of the progress towards
complete satisfaction of these performance obligations under
HKFRS 15.

The Group becomes entitled to invoice customers for rendering
of CMS services based on achieving a series of performance-
related milestones. When a particular milestone is reached the
customer is sent an invoice for the related milestone payment.
The Group will previously have recognised a contract asset for
any work performed. Any amount previously recognised as a
contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at
which it is invoiced to the customer. If the milestone payment
exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the cost-to-cost
method then the Group recognises a contract liability for the
difference. There is not considered to be a significant financing
component in contracts with customers as the period between
the recognition of revenue under the cost-to-cost method and
the milestone payment is always less than one year.

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses for early
completion or suffering contractual penalties for late completion
are taken into account in making these estimates, such that
revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated
to exceed the remaining amount of the consideration under the
contract, then a provision is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets at FVTPL) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(0

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified under
amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
election to designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the
investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to accumulated losses. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m)

()

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group (i.e. the
operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished
from the rest of the Group) that either has been disposed of, or is
classified as held for sale, and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations, or is part of
a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal
or when the component meets the criteria to be classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5, if earlier. It also occurs
when the component is abandoned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(0)

(P)

Discontinued operation (continued)

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount
is presented in the statement of profit or loss, which comprises:

— The post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation;
and

— The post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement
to fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the
assets or disposal group constituting the discontinued
operation.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted
for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

(i) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Revenue recognition and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply
to the contract, control of services may be transferred over time
or at a point in time. Control of the services is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

- provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates and enhances an asset that the customer control
as the Group performs; or

- does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation.

(0 Service income

- Revenue from CMS services is recognised based
on the stage of completion of the contract in
accordance with the policy set out in note 4())
above. Payment for CMS services is not due from
the customer until the services are complete and
therefore a contract asset is recognised over the
period in which the CMS services are performed
representing the entity’s right to consideration for
the services performed to date.

- Services fee income from |.T. contract services
including IT maintenance services and system
integration services are recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time when
the related services are rendered. Services are
fixed-price contracts that customer pays the
fixed amount based on a payment schedule. If
the services rendered by the Group exceed the
payment, a contract asset is recognised. If the
payments exceed the services rendered, a contract
liability is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. FES:BUER (&)

(d) Revenue recognition and other income (continued) () WARRREMWKZ (&)
(i) Sale of goods )  HEEmSD
= Revenue from the sale of computer and mobile - HEBM M RBE AR AU
phone software is recognised when the customer AR P BUS B4 128 i 1 B
obtains control of the software when a contract is (BMREHEEL  BRNTE
agreed, the software is delivered and the customer HARFHRAEAREHRER
has the right to use it. W) BERR o
- Revenue from the sales of hardware and software - B B S B A EE mm A AR
products are recognised when control of the goods PEBERNIEHIER (BE
has been transferred which generally coincides HRAEFPRNEMRERMA
with the time when the goods are delivered and FERRFRIARIR] ) TR c AEER
the title has passed to the customers. A receivable BRI ER PR R ERGK
is recognised by the Group when the goods are B REATREDHATES
delivered to the customer as this represents the BEERN ERXNERF
point in time at which the right to consideration ZEAAZAERENEFNKR
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time ERIF R R -
is required before payment is due.
(i) Toolbar and advertisement income (i) TEABREZKA

Toolbar revenue is derived principally from online toolbar
private label arrangements with toolbar service providers.
The Group allows toolbar service providers to launch their
toolbar installation application when the Group’s software
is installed by users. Toolbar revenue is determined based
on the number of qualified installations and as a share of
search based income when users use the search engine
incorporated in the toolbar to search for goods and
services and purchase goods and services advertised in
the search result.

Income from advertisement is derived principally from
online advertising arrangements. The Group enters
into advertising arrangements with advertisers to allow
them to put advertisements on particular areas of the
Group’s electronic platforms, or embedded hyperlinks to
advertisements in the Group’s electronic platforms. For
the hyperlinks embedded in the Group’s websites, the
advertisers pay the Group based on number of clicks on
the hyperlinks.

The Group recognises revenue as a performance
obligation at a point in time when the revenue can be
measured reliably and the collectability is reasonably
assured.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(@) Revenue recognition and other income (continued)

(i)

v)

(Vi)

(vi)

(Vi)

Income from provision of kindergarten education and self-
improvernent and self-enhancement training programs

Income from provision of kindergarten education and self-
improvement and self-enhancement training programs are
recognised as the performance obligation is satisfied over
time when the related services are rendered.

Interest income

Interest income on loans are recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or financial assets at FVTOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term as the performance obligation is satisfied
over time when the related services are rendered.

Bank interest income

Bank interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n Employee benefits

U

(i)

(i)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged
to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Subsidiaries incorporated in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) participate in the retirement schemes
operated by the local authorities for the Group’s
employees in the PRC. Contributions to these schemes
are charged to profit or loss when incurred.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the
lease terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

() Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

A

B

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(0} has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Related parties (continued)

(B)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
condlitions applies: (continued)

(vii  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

(vi) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) ~ The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provide key management personnel
services to the reporting entity or to the parent of
the reporting entity.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment and where
an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit
whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost, trade
receivables and contract assets. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(v)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the
future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

- significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credlit risk (continuead)

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

- significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) The financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(ii) The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(iii) Adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

(v)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credlit risk (continuead)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade”
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating
of “performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any
additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by
default date determined based on historical trend, the Group’s
understanding of the specific future financing needs of the
debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

(@) Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use (“VIU") and fair value less costs of disposal
(“FVLCD”) of the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated. The
VIU calculation requires the directors to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate present value. Calculation of fair value
using a market approach requires valuation technique which
uses prices and other relevant information generated by market
transactions involving identical and comparable groups of assets
and liabilities or business, a control premium and marketability
discount. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the
reporting period was approximately HK$80,825,000 (2018:
HK$146,079,000) after an impairment loss of approximately
HK$65,254,000 (2018: HK$166,934,000) was recognised during
the year. Details of the impairment test for CGU containing
goodwill are set out in note 23.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(b)

Recoverability of intangible assets

During the year, the management has evaluated the impairment
of intangible assets by way of higher of VIU calculation by
reference to the discounted cash flows derived from financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group or FVLCD
with reference to the latest market transactions. If the higher
of the VIU or FVLCD is less than the corresponding carrying
amounts, an impairment loss may be required.

0

Development costs on Computer and Mobile Phone
Software

During the year, the Group reconsidered the recoverability
of its internally-generated intangible asset arising from
the Group’s Computer and Mobile Phone Software
development. The projects continue to progress in a
very satisfactory manner, and customer reaction has
reconfirmed the Group’s previous estimates of anticipated
revenues from the projects. However, increased
competitor activities have caused the Group to reconsider
its assumptions regarding future market shares and
anticipated margins on these products. Detailed sensitivity
analysis has been carried out and the Group is confident
that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered
in full, even if returns are reduced. This situation will
be closely monitored, and adjustments made in future
periods, if future market activity indicates that such
adjustments are appropriate.

The carrying amount of development costs on Computer
and Mobile Phone Software at 31 December 2019 was
approximately HK$81,993,000 (2018: HK$75,022,000).
No impairment loss (2018: HK$NIl) was recognised during
the year. Details of the impairment review refer to note 24
to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

135

(continued)
(b) Recoverability of intangible assets (continued)
(i) Customer relationship and computer software

The management determines whether customer
relationship and computer software are impaired
requires an estimation of the VIU of the CGU to which
the assets are allocated. The VIU calculation requires
the management to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount
rate to calculate the present value. The carrying amount
of customer relationship and computer software at
31 December 2019 were approximately HK$976,000
(2018: HK$2,083,000) and HK$Nil (2018: HK$252,000)
respectively after impairment loss of HK$Nil (2018:
approximately HK$4,094,000 and HK$494,000
respectively) was recognised during the year. Details of
the impairment review are provided in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(c) Estimated useful lives of intangible assets

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets reflect
management’s estimation on the Group’s intention to
derive future economic benefits from the intangible assets.
The management performs annual reviews of whether the
assumptions made of useful lives continue to be valid. When
useful lives of intangible assets are different from those previously
estimated, the amortisation charges for future periods will be
adjusted accordingly.

The carrying amount of intangible assets as at 31 December 2019
was approximately HK$82,969,000 (2018: HK$77,357,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated
at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any.
In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(i) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may
affect the asset value; (i) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-
use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect
the net present value used in the impairment test.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets as at 31 December 2019 were approximately
HK$1,591,000 (2018: HK$290,000) and HK$1,883,000 (2018:
HKS$NIl) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(e) Fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial

assets at FVTPL

The fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL that are not traded in an active market and securities that
are traded in the Stock Exchange but imposed special conditions
on shareholders are determined by using valuation techniques.
The Group uses its judgement to select and consider information
from a variety of sources and make assumptions that are mainly
based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could have
a material effect on the fair value of the financial assets at FVTOCI

and financial assets at FVTPL.

The carrying amount of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL that are not traded in an active market and
securities that are traded in the Stock Exchange but imposed
special conditions on shareholders at the end of the reporting
period were approximately HK$1,040,000 (2018: HK$1,176,000)
and approximately HK$32,536,000 (2018: HK$4,224,000)

respectively.

() Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss for ECL on trade receivables and contract assets
based on the credit risk of trade receivables and contract assets.
The amount of the impairment loss based on ECL model is
measured as the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. Where
the future cash flows are less than expected, or being revised
downward due to changes in facts and circumstances, a material

impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of trade
receivables and contract assets is approximately HK$65,563,000
(net of allowance for doubtful debts of approximately
HK$1,184,000) (2018: HK$14,158,000 (net of allowance for

doubtful debts of approximately HK$483,000)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(9)

(h)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognised
liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

During the year, approximately HK$3,894,000 (2018:
HK$5,830,000) of income tax from continuing operations was
charged to profit or loss based on the estimated profit from
continuing operations.

Revenue and profit recognition

As explained in policy note 4(), revenue from CMS services
are recognised over time. Such revenue and profit recognition
on uncompleted projects is dependent on estimating the total
outcome of the contract, as well as the work done to date.
Based on the Group’s recent experience and the nature of the
CMS activities undertaken by the Group, the Group has made
estimates of the point at which it considered the work was
sufficiently advanced such that the outcome of the contract can
be reasonably measured. Until this point is reached the related
contract assets disclosed in note 31 do not include profit which
the Group might eventually realise from the work done to date. In
addition, actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may
be higher or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting
period, which would affect the revenue and profit recognised in
future years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

During the year, approximately HK$3,828,000 (2018:
HK$3,293,000) of revenue from CMS services was recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(i)

Business model assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on
the results of the sole payments of principal and interest and
the business model test. The Group determines the business
model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are
managed together to achieve a particular business objective.
This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant
evidence including how the performance of the assets is
evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect
the performance of the assets and how these are managed and
how the managers of the assets are compensated. The Group
monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost or financial
assets at FVTOCI that are derecognised prior to their maturity to
understand the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons
are consistent with the objective of the business for which the
asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous
assessment of whether the business model for which the
remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate
and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a change in
business model and so a prospective change to the classification
of those assets. No such changes were required during the
periods presented.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign

currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities
and United States dollars (“US$”). The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The effect of the strengthened or weakened of Hong Kong dollars
against US$ on the loss after tax is not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Price risk

The Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets
at FVTPL are measured at fair value. Therefore, the Group is
exposed to equity security price risk due to the fluctuation of
share prices of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL. The directors review the exposure to the equity security
price risk on the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL regularly.

If the share prices of the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL increase/decrease by 10% (2018: 10%), the
other comprehensive income and loss after tax for the year would
have been approximately HK$104,000 (2018: HK$544,000)
lower/higher and approximately HK$2,717,000 (2018:
HK$353,000) lower/higher respectively, arising as a result of the
fair value gain/loss of the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL.

At 31 December 2019, the Group had concentration of equity
security price risk on one (2018: one) of its listed securities
investments in Hong Kong accounted for 100% (2018: 78%) of
its financial assets at FVTOCI and one (2018: one) of its listed
investments in Hong Kong accounted for 88% (2018: 99%) of its
financial assets at FVTPL as at 31 December 2019.

e MR M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(©)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk
from its operating activities (primarily trade and other receivables)
and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks
and financial institutions and other financial instruments. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, contract assets, pledged bank deposits, cash
and cash equivalents and financial assets at amortised cost.
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings.

The credit risk on amounts due from brokers is limited because
the counterparties are well-established securities broker firms in
Hong Kong.

Trade receivables and contract assets

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject
to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating
to customer credit risk management. Individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers and service providers, requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customers’ and service providers’ past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer and service provider
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer and service provider operate. Trade receivables are
due within 90 days from date of bilings negotiated on a case-
by-case basis. Normally the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers. The directors are of the opinion that no
further provision for uncollectible receivables is required in the
consolidated financial statements. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral or guarantee from customers and service
providers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

At 31 December 2019, the Group had certain concentration of
credit risk as 28% (2018: 39%) of the trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest debtor.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECL which is
calculated using a provision matrix on individual segment. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer and
services provider segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer and service provider bases. The ECL on trade
receivables and contracts assets are estimated using a simplified
method. The Group has assessed that the ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets based on individually significant
customer and service provider or ageing of customers and
service providers collectively that are not individually significant.
According to different segments of the Group which include the
followings:

- Research, development and distribution of computer
and mobile phone software and toolbar advertisement
(“Software Business”)

- Provision of corporate management solutions and I.T.
contract services (“Corporate Management Solutions and
|.T. Contract Services Business”)

- E-commerce which involves the operation of a business-
to-customer online sales platform, and business-to-
business product trading (“B2C Online Sales Platform and
B2B Product Trading Business”)

e MR M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6.

(©)

Credit risk (continued)

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

(©

Trade receivables and contract assets (continueq)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at 31

MHEREE (&)

=EmkE (&)
BN EREEE (8)

TERE®RTAEER-_Z-NAF+=A
=T -BENEERRBIARE HEWHIELN

December 2019: TEREEEENER:
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEEE HMEREE EiERE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
Trade receivables B S ERRE Bkt FHERT FHET
At 31 December 2019 RZE-—NF+=A=+—H
Software Business UK
Not past due K8 ER 0% 5,875 =
Less than 1 month past due B HR T R i — @ A 0% 499 =
1 to 3 months past due mH—=={@A 0% 474 =
More than 3 months but less mHERE=EAETER
than 12 months past due +=@A 0% 7 =
Over 12 months past due mEBE+ @A 0% 1 -
Corporate Management Solutions and H¥EFEM RS RREMRH
L.T. Contract Services Business EHREEL
(i) e-Perfect IT Limited (“e-Perfect IT”) () EERHAERAR ([LE])
— Not past due — R HEA - - -
— Less than 1 month past due — @ E T BB —EA 5.23% 508 27
-1 to 3 months past due —mE—E=@A 5.54% 95 5
— More than 3 months but less —mHBA=— @A ETER
than 12 months past due +=@A 7.85% 5 5
(iiy Wafer HK (i) BREBE
— Not past due — R 11.41% 3,045 348
— Less than 1 month past due — @ ERN AR — @ A 11.41% 660 76
— 1 to 3 months past due —mHB—==A 11.42% 315 36
— More than 3 months but less —m AR A=A A BT8R
than 12 months past due +=@A 11.52% 795 92
— Over 12 months past due —mEBBE+=EA 58.59% 70 41
B2C Online Sales Platform and B2C/R - $HE ¥ & & B2B
B2B Product Trading Business EREZER
Not past due K 460 A 1.05% 45,258 477
Less than 1 month past due BEATHB—@EA 1.05% 6,648 70
1 to 3 months past due BH—Z==A 1.05% 683 7
64,938 1,179

* Represents amount less than HK$1,000.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6.

()

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at 31

MHEREE ()

(©

&Rk (&)
BN TEREEE (B)

TRE®RTAEER -_Z-N\F+-A
=T -BENEERBIARE HEWHIELN

December 2018: TEREE BN AR
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
EHEBER HEREE BERE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
Trade receivables g 2 EWME Epzisd FHET FHET
At 31 December 2018 RZZT—N\F+=ZA=+—H
Software Business BUER
Not past due R ER 0% 6,893 =
Less than 1 month past due B ER T R i — A 0% 283 =
1 to 3 months past due wmE—==1EA 0% 142 =
More than 3 months but less than 12 BEER=AAETERE
months past due +=®@A 0% 103 =
Corporate Management Solutions and ¥EEMRFERETRE
I.T. Contract Services Business EBRRIEEL
(i) e-Perfect IT () =
— Not past due — R - - -
— Less than 1 month past due — @ ERN AR — @ A 4.96% 85 4
-1 to 3 months past due —mE—E==@A 517% 1,523 79
— More than 3 months but less — BB = A A B TEB
than 12 months past due +=®@A 5.71% 88 5
(i) Wafer HK (i) BB BB
— Not past due — R 8.63% 2,017 174
— Less than 1 month past due — @ ER AR i — @ A 8.63% 907 78
-1 to 3 months past due —mE—E=@A 8.65% 495 43
— More than 3 months but less —m AR A = A AR TR
than 12 months past due +=@A 8.69% 622 54
— Over 12 months past due —mEARE -+ =@ A 39.76% 60 24
13,218 461

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report2019

144



145

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(©)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continueq)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the
past two years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which the
historical data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Expected loss rate for current contract asset is assessed to be
0.3% (2018: 2%). As at 31 December 2019, the loss allowance
provision for contract assets is amounted to approximately
HK$5,000 (2018: HK$22,000).

Loss allowances for contract assets are always measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. ECL on these financial assets
are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the customers and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions at the reporting date.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include loan receivable
from Jun Yang Energy Holdings Limited (“Jun Yang Energy”),
other receivable from Fragrant River Entertainment Culture
(Holdings) Limited (“Fragrant River”), amounts due from non-
controlling interests of a subsidiary and other miscellaneous
receivables.

For loan receivable from Jun Yang Energy of HK$27,230,000
(note 29(f)) and other receivable from Fragrant River of
HK$20,400,000 (note 29(d)), the management performed
assessment on the recoverability of the outstanding balance
periodically.

The Group had assessed lifetime ECL for the loan receivable
from Jun Yang Energy following the significant deterioration in the
operating results of Jun Yang Energy during the year ended 31
December 2018 which lead to a significant increase in credit risk.
Lifetime expected credit loss allowance for the loan receivable
from Jun Yang Energy of HK$27,230,000 was recognised in full
during the year ended 31 December 2018 as the management
assessed the ECL to be 100%. The management has
reassessed the lifetime ECL of loan from Jun Yang Energy, no
reversal on the allowance for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HMBEBREE (H)
(c) Credit risk (continued) ) EERB (&)
Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) R AT ER R M EE ()
For other receivable from Fragrant River, the Group had HRREFTINEMEBERZE B/ THE
assessed lifetime ECL following the default in payment from ZE-N\F+Z A=+ —HLEFEBAN
Fragrant River during the year ended 31 December 2018 which FoBBEERBRAIEIEINE  REEDT
lead to a significant increase in credit risk. The management HEREAFEHNEHEEBE - R=2T—A
has reassessed the lifetime ECL as at 31 December 2019 F+ZA=+—H0 rEECEHBEAFE
which is based on the valuation performed by an independent HMTESEERE  ERERBLEEM
professional valuer using probability-weighted method. Additional BEREAR AR MEEETHEERSL -
lifetime expected credit loss allowance of approximately BEHERS REBEE_Z—NLF+=A
HK$1,246,000 (2018: HK$12,200,000) was recognised during =t+—BLFE  BINEETERESRE
the year ended 31 December 2019 in accordance with the EEEEEL1,246,0008 7T (ZT— \F:
valuation report. Such additional lifetime ECL mainly caused 12,200,000 7T ) B T LARE R - BB HN Y 2 A
by the increase of estimated legal fee to be incurred in the AP GEBEREEBEHANEJHUREFR
Acquisition Litigation. BEEZHEEEBRIGM-
For amounts due from non-controlling interests of a subsidiary, R — B A A2 JEEAR R 5K
the management makes periodic collective assessments as well ERE T ENZEN T KRE MR
as individual assessment on the recoverability of the receivables. TR R AE BT - IR IE 1218 A FE Bl E B R 18
The Group has assessed that the ECL for these receivables are % AEBEE AR ZERKGRIANTEE
not material under the 12-month expected credit losses method. FEBBYTEXN  BEitF AT EEREE
Thus no loss allowance provision was recognised during the year. B
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
and other receivables and contract assets during the year is as FRNESGNEMBEBRFBERENEERIE
follows: BEROEHNT
Other
receivable
Loan from from
Trade Contract Jun Yang Fragrant
receivables assets Energy River Total
EWER REEIN
g2 RBRR BNEE HRER HittEkE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
At 1 January 2018 RZZ-N\¥—A—H 20 - - - 20
Impairment losses recognised FREANAESR
for the year 441 22 27,230 12,200 39,893
At 31 December 2018 and RIB-N\F+-A=t-H
1 January 2019 k=Z-N&—F—H 461 22 27,230 12,200 39,913
Impairment losses recognised FRBANAESR
for the year 806 5 - 1,246 2,057
Amounts written off during the year FANENEE (88) (22) - = (110)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+-A=+—H 1,179 5 27,230 13,446 41,860
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HMKRREE (&)
(d) Liquidity risk d) RBESEE

REBBETERERER R RIARREHE
SHE - ARREREHRSREER2EH
REHRPESHFEZ-

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

FEBZETESRABRBSORTR
ReEREZIMONWT

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities is as

follows:
Less than Between Between Over
1year 1and2years 2and5 years 5 years Total
SRE 1225 2Z55 BIB5F @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL TEL FEL FEL
At 31 December 2019 R-B-NE+=A=+-H
Trade and other payables BHREMERKE 17,384 - - - 17,384
Lease liabilities HEaE 2,217 413 33 - 2,663
At 31 December 2018 R=ZE-N\§+=A=1+-A
Trade and other payables BHREMERKE 9,599 - - - 9,599
(e) Interest rate risk () FI=Epz

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group’s significant interest-
bearing assets and liabilities are bank deposits.

The Group’s interest income from bank deposits is dependent
on changes in market interest rates and will not have significant
adverse impact on the Group’s financial position.

The Group’s pledged bank deposits are at fixed interest rates
and therefore are subject to fair values interest rate risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(f)

(9)

Categories of financial instruments at 31 December

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

6. MBERERE (M)

H R+-ZA=+—HHEmITAEH

2019 2018
—E-NEF —FE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Financial assets: EWMEE:
Financial assets at FVTPL: BBBRBREAATFEENEN
CREE:
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL BEIEBEREUNATEENE
— Held for trading —BEEE 32,536 4,224
Financial assets measured at amortised cost IZEF$EAX ANz EH S R A E 153,713 175,825
Financial assets as FVTOCI: FREMEEmKEAAFEESER
MERMEE
Equity instruments fEART A 1,040 5,439
Financial liabilities: SRAaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEERATENERER 17,384 9,599
Lease liabilities HEaE 2,663 -

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their respective fair values.

@ 2D¥EE

AEESEEUBRAEKATEREERS
MEENRAEERES R FEERS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three

levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for

identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs:

inputs other than quoted prices included within

level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs:

unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in

circumstances that caused the transfer.

(@) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

APEENE

AFEERTHSREZ MR 8 B FX
5 10 o L R 1 R
TXREEMLTFEASRHENAFEE A
{Est B AT EENHHETAHABEEL D B=
R
E-REABE:  AEMTNERBEHI
& A A (A 05 BT 5
® (Rigs®) -
E-REABE: EERMEOAERAMT
BRI AL T3E5E R
UEELETE
ESRBABE: AERAEOTTEEHA
Bk -

AEBHNBRSEABZEHE RN FFREL
B EM=ERNEARELER-

|

@ RTZA=T—HNLFEESRK

December: B
Fair value measurement using: Total
AP EEFEMABR: gt
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2019
BE—R -t E=H —E-NF
Description HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
#E FHERT FERT TR FERT
Recurring fair value measurements: & 4D FEETE:
Financial assets CRMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BRBRAATER
R SR A E
Listed equity securities FHRARES - - 32,186 32,186
Unlisted equity securities E AN - - 350 350
Financial assets at FVTOCI FBiREMmEERE
A AFEESIRS
Listed equity securities ETRAES - - 1,040 1,040
Total et - = 33,576 33,576
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HEZ-NFT_A=+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEIR)
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7. AYEEE (&)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 @ RTZA=+—HNATEESRE
December: (continued) = (&)
Fair value measurement using: Total
NTEEAZMAER: R
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2018
U] F-H F=H —T-N\E
Description HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
#15 FHT FET FHAT FET

Recurring fair value measurements: ZE M A FEEE:

Financial assets CRMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL FREEUAFEE
ERM S REE
Listed equity securities ETRAES - - 4,224 4,224
Financial assets at FVTOCI FEiREAMEE R
A AFEEYRD
Listed equity securities ETRAES 4,263 - 1,176 5,439
Total et 4,263 - 5,400 9,663
There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the REEZ-_ZT—NhEFR=ZTE—NF+=A
year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. =t+—BHLEFE - F— ZR=HIIELE

ELRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-T-NF+-A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7. AYFEEE (&)
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based b) REF=REZEAFEEFENEEY
on Level 3: iR
2019
—Z-hE
Financial assets Financial assets
at FVTOCI at FVTPL
BREM2ERES BEBRBER
AT EEGIRD AT EEIIRS
SHEE SREE
Listed Unlisted Listed Unlisted Unlisted
equity equity equity investment equity
securities securities securities fund securities
i) E L i) ELm E L
RARS RARS RARS REES RAR S
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR THER TR
At 1 January 2019 R-E-hF—-HA—H 1,176 - 4,224 - -
Total gains/(losses) recognised RT578 B #ERE
Wit/ () B
—in profit or loss —E#@n - - 8,462 - -
- in other comprehensive income —Hir2HEs (136) - - - -
Reclassification of remaining interest from BN E-HBERAN
investment in an associate to REZBTERZEBER
financial assets at FVTPL NATEESIE - - - - 350
Purchases i - - 19,500 - -
At 31 December 2019 RZE-h%F
+-A=1+—-8 1,040 - 32,186 - 350
® Included in other gains and losses ® FFAE A KB B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019

7.

(b)

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTHITR)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7. AYEEE (&)
Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based b) WREF=HZRAFEEFENEEY
on Level 3: (continued) R (&)
2018
—2-N\E
Financial assets Financial assets
Avallable-for-sale financial assets at FVTOCI at FVTPL
FREM 2 EME BRER
AT EESI&S AT EETI&S
THHESREE tREE tREE
Listed Unlisted Unlisted Listed Unlisted Listed Unlisted
equity equity investment equity equity equity investment
securities securities fund securities securities securities fund
i FEm #Em i FEm iai i
RARGE 5 BRAE S REES BRARE S RAE % RAER REES
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TR FEL FHEL FAL FHL FET
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\E—A—H 1,635 142 156 - - 6,420 -
Adjustments on initial application of BRERABBNEREER
HKFRS 9 FORHE (1635) (142) (156) 1,635 142 = 156
Restated balance at 1 January 2018 RZE-\F—-A—8H
BEH 2B - - - 1,635 142 6,420 156
Total losses recognised AT 5178 B R 8
BRER
—in profit or loss - - - - - (2,196) (156)
- in other comprehensive income - - - (459) (142) - -
At 31 December 2018 RZB-\F+-A=+-H - - - 1,176 - 4,204 -
® Included in other gains and losses &) AR R REE

The total losses recognised in other comprehensive income are
presented in fair value loss on equity instruments at FVTOCI
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The total gains/(losses) recognised in profit or loss including those
for assets held at end of reporting period are presented in other
gains and losses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

REMEEERERNBERAQENGAR
R EMEERERPEBEMEEKE
R EEIIROBRATARFEEER

o

LA
2

REZERNKE (BE) BREERE
SHRABEE  RiEaEakh Etlks
REIEES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(©

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2019:

The Group’s management is responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements.
The management reviews the fair value measurements at least
once a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised
professional qualifications and recent experience to perform the

valuations.

Key unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements
are mainly:

- risk free rate (estimated based on zero coupon rate)

- yield spread (estimated based on certain comparable
bonds)

- expected volatility (estimated based on historical volatility)

- dividend vyield (estimated based on no dividends will be
paid in the near future)

- present value of expected future share price (estimated
based on dividend yield is zero)

- probability-weighted profit

- discount factor

BEZERBER AT 2019F ]

BHE"T
(LABTTEIR)

7.

—NE+-A=+—HILFE

NP EEE (&)

(©

REAKER-Z-NF+-A=1—
AfAEERF  GERTRAFEE
TR R ARE:

AREERERARABRELTHEE
ERAEHAFHREE (BEE=AAT
BEHE) - ERESEEL KR DT
EEE

m*:@ﬂiﬁﬁaéﬁé'm%l—&é

SEME Tﬁiﬁﬁﬂﬁ HIfERRA
%%Eﬁﬁ

E=RATEEMAEIETTHEREAK

BEERE:

- ERRAE(REZEEXME)

- hEER(REETHELRESRG
&)

—  TEHKIE (REELIKEGE)

- BEEXRREBETAER
&)

&R AR S

- TﬁﬂﬂfkiKfoﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬂﬁ (REZREX

&)

—  AIREMEINAEE A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

()

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2019: (continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

7. QDFEEEE(E)
© BWEAEER-ZE-hF+ZA=1+—
BATAGERR HERTRAFEE
STEFAEARE (&)

FE=RLTFEENE

Effect on fair
value for increase Carrying amount Fair value
Description Valuation technique Inputs Range  of inputs 2019 2019
BAZEEM REE AVEE
g RER BAYE §E HATEENYE ZE-NF ZE-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TERL
Financial assets at FVTPL
BRBRIATEEIE
HemEE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.057-HK$0.167  Increase 3,886 3,886
Return on relevant (13.02%) - (32.99%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 10%-40%  Decrease
- ETkAES REEEE ki 0057AT-0.167BT M
RETSEHER (13.02%) - (32.99%) %210
REHRE 10%-40% B
- Listed equity securities ~ Adjusted fair value  Liquidity discount 9.56%  Decrease 28,300 28,300
method
- FiRAES SRBRATEEE RBARRE 956% WY
- Unlisted equity QGuideline transaction - Recent transaction price HK$28.12  Increase 350 350
securities method per share
— 3 EMRAES RERHE HERZHE 28128 &M
Financial assets at FVTOCI
BREMEERENATE
BN EREE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.077  Increase 1,040 1,040

Return on relevant
market index
Liquidity discount
- tTlAES BB RE
HBMSEHE R
REETRR

(32.99%)  Increase

40%  Decrease
00778 M
(32.99%) &0
0% B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group

BHE-Z-NFT-_A=1+—HILFE
(LABTTEIR)

7. DVEEFE (R
© BEAKER-ZF-AF+-A=1—

and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2019: (continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (continued)

AfAEERF  GERTRAFEE

STEMAWARE: (&)

E=RATEETE (B)

Effect on fair
value for increase Carrying amount Fair value
Description Valuation technique Inputs Range  of inputs 2018 2018
BAREEM REE LTEE
#f5 RER BAYE §E HATEENYE ZE-0\E “E-0\E
HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz TER
Financial assets at FVTPL
BRBREIATEEIE
NemAE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.057 - HK$0.167  Increase 4,204 4,224
Return on relevant (11.08%) - (23.92%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 5%-35%  Decrease
- kiR ES RERRE RE 0057TAT-0.1678T ¥
RETSEHER (11.08%) - (23.92%)  £11
RETRE 5%-35% B
Financial assets at FVTOCI
BREMZENG
AT EEF5RH)
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1,176 1,176
Return on relevant (23.92%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 35%  Decrease
- kiR ES RERRE RE 0167AT
RATSEHER (23.92%) &1
RETRE B% B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

8. REVENUE

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

8. WA

(@)

Disaggregation of revenue

(@

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by

LON:bi)

FREBRBERE SR BFELEEBD

service line for the year from continuing operations is as follows: BEEAHKRANT :
2019 2018
—E-NEF —FE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers R & 8 B 7% 3} & % B 851555
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HEANEFSHWA
Sales of computer and mobile phone HEBMRRBEFZREFUAR
software and toolbar advertisement TERES 73,994 85,823
Provision of corporate management RECEEERBRAIRR
solutions and I.T. contract services BB A& # RS E
business 46,347 40,967
E-commerce which involves the operation TEEHEBERLHEETER
of a business-to-customer online sales TEHAGEEREHELEDN
platform, and the business-to-business BFRE
product trading 249,498 -
Provision of kindergarten education RENHEERSRF - 3,328
Provision of self-improvement and self- REBREA KRB RIGEEIEE
enhancement training programs - 3,112
369,839 133,230
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 E-E-NFT_A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
8. REVENUE (continued) 8. WA (&)
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (continued) (@ WAsD (E)
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and AEERUATEEERERMIBEHER—
services over time and at a point in time in the following major BREEAEANESEEERRREES
product lines and geographical regions: L ONE

Corporate Management Solutions
and LT. Contract Services  B2C Online Sales Platform and

Software Business Business B2B Product Trading Business Others Total
BET-A=1-
For the year ended A PEERRARER BCALHETAR
31 December LEE B ERNRAARBRE B2BERE A XK At &t
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

ZE-pfE ZZ-\E ZB-pE RN ZE-pE ZE2) “E-AE 2\ ZE-AE ZE)%
HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000

TR T T AT T#T T T i THT Tin

Primary geographical ~ ¥EHETH

markets
-Hong Kong -Bh 840 1,210 43,065 37,809 218,130 - - 6,440 262,035 45,459
- United States %8 22,084 30,780 - - - - - - 22,084 30,780
- Russia ~fEg 3,150 351 3,351 3,351 - - - - 6,501 6,862
- Japan -AK 7,254 7,625 - - - - - - 7,254 7,625
- Germany - 4,180 4619 - - - - - - 4,180 4619
- United Kingdom ~5E 3,584 4340 - - - - - - 3,584 4340
- Canada -Mgx 2,306 3344 - = - = - = 2,306 3344
- Australla ~A 1,902 2352 - - - - - - 1,902 235
- Mainland China ~RERH 543 736 - = 25,506 - - - 26,049 736
- Others ~Eft 28,151 27,306 - - 5,862 - - - 34,013 27,306
Segment revenue kL ON 73,994 85,823 46,416 41,160 249,498 - - 6,440 369,908 133,423
Intersegment revenue AHRERA
- Hong Kong -&% - - (69) (193) - - - - (69) (193)
Revenue fom extenal ~ SMREFHA

customers 73,994 85,823 46,347 40,967 249,498 - - 6,440 369,839 133,230
Timing of revenue WARZEE

recognition
Productsand senies  ERRREIRE-

tansfered atapontn  BREREESH

time 73,994 85,828 23,280 15,082 249,498 - - 3212 346,772 104,067
Productsand senices  ERRRHH &

trensferred over time BENERRE - - 23,067 25,935 - - - 3208 23,067 29,163
Total @i 73,994 85,823 46,347 40,967 249,498 - - 6,440 369,839 133,230
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

e MR M

T-NFH-A=T—HILFE

(AETTHITR)

8. REVENUE (continued) 8. WA (&)
(b) Transaction price allocated to the remaining b) PHBEZFFENRKRBINEINRSE
performance obligation for contracts with customers %
The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance RZE—NF+ZA=+—BHEEFH%
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December BHER (RBITHBARBIT)NXHE
2019 and the expected timing of recognising revenue as follows: & RTEEMABEREROT
Sale of goods L.T. contract services CMS services contracts
HEEm ERMEEHRE CEERRRARBESH
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
“Z-AE  ZEZ-)\& ZB-hE —Z-)\& ZB-hnE —T)\#
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx THT T FTHT TR FTHET
Within one year R—ER 244 - 2,998 5,664 3,032 787
More than one year but not more BB FETRBMEF
than two years - - 244 170 - -
More than two years HRBME - - 2 70 - -
244 - 3,244 5,904 3,032 787
9. OTHER INCOME 9. HfWA
2019 2018
—E-hfF —ZT—)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Continuing operations BESEER
Bank interest income RITH B WA 615 594
Rental income HERKA - 988
Dividend income AR B A - 234
Others =) 19 22
634 1,838
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_T-NFT_A=1—HLHFE
(LABTTEIR)

10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 10. Hfttlhsm R EE B8

159

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Continuing operations BEREEL
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains, net [N (E18) /W 358 (373) 210
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at FVTPL ~ #E@BmAAFEEIEN S RE
EXTEEKE (BE) 8,462 (2,830)
Gain on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL HEBBIBEUATFEEER
L REEM S - 103
Loss on disposal of a joint venture HE—MEeECEEBE - (1,144)
Gain on disposal of an investment property HE—HREWERN RS - 678
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 41(a)) i — M R B EE
(KisE41(@)) - 646
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries (note 42)  BEUH4R & ABRKMB A FEE
(KtzE42) - (3,454)
Impairment loss on amounts due from FEWEUE AR & ARRME A RIFIER
deconsolidated subsidiaries REEE - (570)
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 23) B R EE 8 (M5E23) (65,254) (166,934)
Impairment loss on intangible assets (note 24) mpEERAEEE (M) - (4,588)
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 1% B RE & R & REE B
(note 21) (M5E21) - (300)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets (note 22) FAREEEREEE (M3E22) (716) -
Fair value loss on an investment property —IEREMEATEEEE - (800)
Loss on deemed disposal of an associate RIELE—HE A B EE
(note 41(d)) (M 5E41(d)) (2,129) =
(60,010) (178,983)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by a mixture of both business lines and geographical locations. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has four (2018: three) reportable segments.

— Software Business

— Securities Investment (“Securities Investment Business”)

- Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Services
Business

- B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business

Money lending business operation (“Money Lending Business”) was
discontinued during the year ended 31 December 2018. The segment
information reported does not include any amounts for this discontinued
operation, which is described in more detail in note 17.

The Group’s other operating segments include, (i) provision of online
shopping business (“Online Shopping Business”), (i) provision of self-
improvement and self-enhancement training programs and (i) the
provision of kindergarten education, which do not meet any of the
quantitative thresholds for determining as reportable segments. The
information of these other operating segments is included in the
“Others” column.

BHE—

e MR M

—NET-A=+—HLFE

(Jf/{/ﬁﬁﬁ‘J/T\)

11.

7RI

REBIZHPIBTIREER  AEBER RBERS
AR - AEBBNEREDH(—F—N\F:
=f@) FHmIRERSEERIEREE M

MAEESERITHERA SN BRE LR
REH—H-
— MHES

- EFRE(BxREEBD

- DBEEEERTEREMNBRAOREE
%
— BCHWLHEFAKBBEREZED
Ex% (EEEXBDERBE-_Z—N\F+=
AZ+—RLEFERLELE -FR2RDHERIL
TEEZORIEREEBNEMNSE E2HE
R HEETT7 ©

REFHMLESBRIEORUB LEDER
(MELEEmER])  (NRtaRETRERILE
A E MR EHHEHE REERED

BEHEAEEBTBEINFMS(LRESZR - UE
HipEED M ERFATEAM] —H-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11.

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
(@ Segment results, assets and liabilities

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

— Segment profit/(loss) represented profit earned by/
(loss from) each segment without allocation of central
administration costs, finance costs and income tax
expense and do not include share of profit/(loss) of an
associate and share of loss of a joint venture.

— Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets
and current assets with the exception of other corporate
assets, interest in an associate and interest in a joint
venture.

— Segment liabilities include all current and non-
current liabilities with the exception of accrued central

administration costs and liabilities.

Inter-segment revenue is priced with reference to prices charged
to external customers for similar orders.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HEZ-NFT_A=+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEIR)
11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 1. DE®|E ()
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (@ »HFE -EEREE(E)

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets BEDBDEHARERBIFECE EBHR

and liabilities from continuing operations by reportable segment is ENEEE EERBESNET:

as follows:

Corporate

Management B2C Online
Solutions and ~ Sales Platform

Securities L.T. Contract and B2B

Software Investment Services Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Others  Consolidated

TXER B2C& L

BATRR HETAR
EANEAN BBER

REERE  REREEE [5£3 S Hit Ga
2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019
“B-hE “E-hE “Z-hE “E-hE It 3 —E-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThEL TEL FET FhT FhRT THx
Revenue KA
Revenue from external customers PREEWA 73,994 - 46,347 249,498 - 369,839
Inter-segment revenue GELUN - - 69 - - 69
Reportable segment revenue BEFBRA 73,994 - 46,416 249,498 - 369,908
Reconciliations: #HiK:
Elimination of intersegment revenue A PRBEA (69)
Revenue WA 369,839
Results %5
Segment results PH%E (46,264) 8,381 (6,794) 4,107 - (40,570)
Reconciliation: HiE:
Interest income FEWA 615
Unallocated expenses KABAE
- Loss on deemed disposal of an associate ~RIELE-RBENAEE (2,129)
— Impairment loss on other receivables -EtERSERAERE (1,246)
- Foreign exchange losses, net -EBREE 38 (244)
— Corporate expenses ~ERY (14,996)
Loss from operations mEER (58,570)
Finance costs BEKA (103)
Share of profit of an associate FElh—EEE A& 887
Loss before tax 3] (57,786)
Income tax expense FEHEY (3,894)
Loss for the year TEEFR (61,680)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(@)

HEZ
( LA/&E@J/T\)

—NE+-A=+—HILFE

1. 2FHRE (E)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) () 2HEE-BEERERE (E)
An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets REDDEAEERBIFELE EBOR
and liabilities from continuing operations by reportable segment is EoHEE BENABESN 11[1 T: (&)
as follows: (continued)
Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutions and ~ Sales Platform
Securities 1.T.Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Others  Consolidated
LEER B2C& L
BRAARR HETAR
EANREH B2BER
RHER  REREER R LU Hif Ga
2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019
“2-NE “B-NE BN “2-N% 2N Z2-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL FHEL FET FhT FhT T
Assets BE
Segment assets PREE 182,281 33,245 38,010 92,630 - 346,166
Reconciliation: HiE:
Unallocated assets FAMEE
- Property, plant and equipment 0% BERSE 86
- Right-of-use assets ~fEREEE 1,219
- Trade and other receivables ~BHREMEKE 7,984
— Cash and cash equivalents ~BeRBLSEN 15,441
Total assets BELE 370,896
Liabilities aff
Segment lbilties AHafk 41,346 7 11,637 8550 = 61,604
Reconciliation: #i:
Unallocated liabilties FOEAE
—Trade and other payables -BAREMEMTE 1,456
- Lease liabillties -HERE 1,260
Total liabilities BERE 64,320
Other segment information: Hit A BER:
Additions to property, plant and equipment REME R REHE - - (1,016) (562) (76) (1,654)
Amortisation of intangible assets BYAERSE (28,061) - (1,358) - - (29,419)
Depreciation property, plant and equipment nE BEREENE - - (250) (14) (89) (353)
Addition to right-of-use assets REFAEEE - - - - (1,658) (1,658)
Depreciation on right-of-Use assets FHRAENE - (1,638) - (439) 2,077)
Development costs capitalised RERFERL (35,031) - - - - (35,031)
Fair value gain on financial assets at FVTPL FRERNATEETEN
SREENATEELS - 8,462 - - - 8,462
Impairment loss on goodwill BERERE (65,000) - (254) - = (65,254)
Impairment loss on other receivables EhERTERESE - - - - (1,246) (1,246)
Impaiment loss on right-of-Use assets FRELERESSE - - (716) - = (716)
Loss on deemed disposal of an associate BIELE-HBELABR - - - - (2,129) (2,129)
Legal and professional fees ERREEER (1,068) (16) (31) (17) (3,801) (4,933)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (@ »HFE -EEREE(E)

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets
and liabilities from continuing operations by reportable segment is

as follows: (continued)

BEDBMEAEERBFELLEEBHR

A N 3
a/)n

77

e ==}

PRE - BRERBBEIWHOT: (B)

Corporate
Management
Solutions and
Securities .T. Contract
Software Investment Services
Business Business Business Others Consolidated
rEER
BRARR
ERBRAN
HEB EHFRAER REER Hith &8
2018 2018 2018 2018 2018
—F-N\F —E-N\F —E-N\E —E-N\E —2-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT FHT ThET TAR
Revenue KA
Revenue from external customers HREPWA 85,823 - 40,967 6,440 133,230
Inter-segment revenue AEREEA - - 193 - 193
Reportable segment revenue REDBWA 85,823 - 41,160 6,440 133,423
Reconciliations: HiE:
Elimination of intersegment revenue HEDBEKA (193)
Revenue WA 133,230
Results &
Segment resuts HHLE (130,895) 2,636) (16,348) (2.769) (152,641)
Reconciliation: #ik:
Interest income FEKA 504
Unallocated income RARPA
- Rental income -HEKA 988
- Gain on disposal of an investment property ~ —H&E—BRENENE 678
- Loss on disposal of a joint venture ~HE-HARLEEE (1,144)
- Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries -BUBRA NRHBARER (3,454)
- Impairment loss on other receivables —HERFEREER (39,430)
— Fair value loss on investment property - RENEATEEFE (800)
- Foreign exchange gains, net -ERNE R 193
Unallocated expenses AAERZ
- Corporate expenses -ERT (20,568)
Loss from operations TEER (215,584)
Share of loss of a joint venture ElE-HaEtEESE (1,174)
Share of loss of an associate ElE—HBE N aEE (21,704)
Loss before tax BHaEE (238,462)
Income tax expense FBHAY (5,830)
Loss for the year KEEBE (044,292)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets
and liabilities from continuing operations by reportable segment is

as follows: (continued)

(LABITFIR)
11. 2EHE
@ =
s
&5

(%)

BRE - BEEREE (B)

DEHARBE R FHERLLEEHNR
MEE EERBEIFOT: (H)

Corporate
Management
Solutions and
Securities |.T.Contract
Software Investment Services
Business Business Business Others Consolidated
rEER
E I
BAMEAN
BiEB BEFREEH RBEL Hify &8
2018 2018 2018 2018 2018
—F-N\F —E-N\E —E-N\E —E-N\E —2-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRET TR TR FAT FHT
Assets BE
Segment assets PHEE 245,497 21,843 44,671 i 312,022
Reconciliation: HiR:
Assets relating to discontinued operation BRI EEEBNEE 256
Unallocated assets APREE
~ Property, plant and equipment 0% BERZE 98
- Investment in an associate 1L -UNGIL: ok 6,719
— Trade and other receivables -ESREMEKFTE 8974
- Cash and cash equivalents -RERREEED 104,966
Total assets BERE 433,035
Liabilities &
Segment liabilities Ak 39,683 60 11,713 23 51,479
Reconciliation HiR:
Liabilities relating to discontinued operation BHBRECEEBNERE 50
Unallocated liabiliies KoEAE
- Trade and other payables -BHREMERTE 2,129
- Current tax liabilties -EHREAE 65
Total liabilties BERE 53,723
Other segment information: HitHHER:
Additions to property, plant and equipment RENE BERSE - - (55) = (55)
Amortisation of intangible assets ERAESH (22,011) - (1,578) - (23,589)
Depreciation nE - (10) (228) (642) (880)
Development costs capitalised RERAEAL (25,757) = = = (25,757)
Gain on disposal of financial assets at FVIPL i &iE BB RN A FEETI KK
SREEMNE - 103 - - 103
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL BRBERALTEERN
SHEENLTEERR - (2,830) - - (2,830)
Impairment loss on intangible assets EVAEREBE - - (4,588) - (4,588)
Impairment loss on goodwil HENESE (163,000) - (3,934) = (166,934)
Impairment loss on property, 0¥ BERXENREER
plant and equipment - - (300) - (300)
Impairment loss on other receivables Hit Y IBRERE - - = (39,430) (39,430)
Impairment loss on amounts due from ERE AR A AR
deconsolidated subsidiaries WERARRENRESE - - - (570) (570)
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BB A NRHBAREE - - - (3,454) (3,454)
Legal and professional fees ERREXER (1,262) (46) (63) (8,860) (10,231)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11.

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b)

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of () the Group’s revenue from continuing operations
from external customers and (i) the Group’s property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and goodwill
(“specified non-current assets”). The geographical location of
revenue is based on the location of customers and location of
service rendered. The geographical location of the specified
non-current assets is based on the physical location of the

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

11. 2 EFHE (&)
b) HEER

TRV BB FEERBINATPHEL
BEBRAR AR B - BB &R
W EAREE BREERDE ([T
MBVEE ) MR E R AR E T
NEP N E RIRHIREOMLERELE
EHRBEENMBEUERRBEEEER
PRI E (B BB MR R E A%
BE)RESREBNUE (WBEBLEE

asset, in the case of property, plant and equipment and right-of- NEgE)EE -
use assets and the location of the operation to which they are
allocated, in the case of intangible assets and goodwill.
Revenues from Specified
external customers non-current assets
SREFBA REFRBEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-hE ZT-N\F “BE-hE CZZ)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THET THERT THET
Hong Kong N> 261,966 45,266 167,268 223,726
United States e 22,084 30,780 - =
Russia ik 28 8 6,501 6,862 - =
Japan B 7,254 7,625 - -
Germany = 4,180 4,619 - =
United Kingdom 2 3,584 4,340 - =
Canada PN 2,306 3,344 - =
Australia BN 1,902 2,352 - -
Mainland China RE A 26,049 736 - =
Others Hity 34,013 27,306 - -
369,839 133,230 167,268 223,726

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2019, one customer of the
Group’s B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading
Business segment contributed approximately 44.5% of total
revenue of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, no individual customer
contributes over 10% of the total revenue of the Group.

© EHIEEFHNEHR

HE-_ZT-NF+-A=+—HILFE"
REEB2CR LIHE T & MB2BERE HF
Boalm —REP AASERRBABAL
44.5% °

HE_Z—)\F+_A=+—BILFE I
BE-EPERBBNEEBKANI0%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-T-NF+-A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
12. FINANCE COSTS 12, BERAE
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Continuing operations FRESEEL
Interest expenses on lease liabilities (note 22) HEABZMERE (M5E22) 103 -
13. LOSS BEFORE TAX 13. BR¥LAIEIR
Loss before tax from continuing operations has been arrived at after REFELCEEBNBRTAIEBERDIR (FA)
charging/(crediting) the following: N
2019 2018
—E—-hfF —=—)\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
(@) Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration):  (a) 8 TR
(RREEHS)
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe IEREMBEF 26,695 31,664
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET IR 776 1,132

27,471 32,796
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

13. LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued)

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

13. BRBLAIESIE ()

2019 2018
—EB-NF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
(b)  Others items: (o) EtbIERE:
Amortisation of intangible assets* | EESE 29,419 23,589
Auditor’s remuneration ZERTEN & 1,380 1,460
Bad debt written off AR - 27
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment WE BERZETE 353 880
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FRAEEERE 2,077 =
Fair value loss on an investment property* —IEREWMELATER
E1E* - 800
Gain on disposal of an investment property* HE—BREYE K= - 678)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary* HE— B AR ke - (646)
Loss on disposal of a joint venture* HE—fHaEhEEE - 1,144
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries’ BUB#R & ABRM B A A
3N - 3,454
Impairment loss on goodwill* B R EEE 65,254 166,934
Impairment loss on intangible assets* B AERBERBE" - 4,588
Impairment loss on property, W BE R
plant and equipment* R E R A - 300
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets* FRAEEERBERBE 716 -
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables B 5 K E fh YRR IE K
and contract assets EHEERERE 2,057 39,893
Impairment loss on amounts due from FEWEUELER A AR B
deconsolidated subsidiaries* NEFIAMN R E R - 570
Loss on deemed disposal of an associate’ RIELE A& QA
Eiar 2,129 =
Operating lease charges: KEHESR:
— hire of office premises —HERNEYE - 5,555

Included in other gains and losses

Included in administrative expenses

¢ AR IS B R

- SEAITHR X
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE

(LABTTEIR)

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 14. FrSHRiBAxX
(@  Income tax relating to continuing operations recognised in the @ HFEERRAEHERBELEEKNERER
consolidated statement of profit or loss represents: FriSHits
2019 2018
—ZE—-hEF —FE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Current tax EHTIE
— Hong Kong Profits Tax —BENEH
Provision for the year (note (i) INEE A (FEE®)) 2,069 4,561
(Oven)/under-provision in respect of BAFE (BEREE) BETR
prior years (64) 1,489
- Withholding tax (note (i) —Fanw (M) 198 246
2,203 6,296
Deferred tax (note 35(a)) IRERETE (M 5E35() ) 1,691 (466)
3,894 5,830

169

note (i):

note (ii):

Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, profit tax rate for
the first HK$2 million of assessable profits of qualifying
corporations established in Hong Kong will be lowered to
8.25% and profits above that amount will be subject to the tax
rate of 16.5%.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate for the subsidiary in the PRC
is 256%. However, no provision was made for the financial year
ended 31 December 2019 as the subsidiary incurred tax loss in
the year.

Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate
current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries in which
the Group operates based on existing legislation, interpretation
and practices in respect thereof.

Withholding tax, regarding the external sales for which
customers are located outside Hong Kong, is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in relevant countries.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,

FEEE(Q) -

BT & (i)

AR R T AR B RS B BB KL
H & B 18 E B2 8Y 52,000,000 TTHE &R
Bim Fl 2 MG BB b 2£8.25% » T
FRIBRZBURR 2 )5 5 bA16.5% B0 B
Bio

TEINTE R R P B RS
7325% ° AT - AR AR FE B R RIE
EREEER RTERRE—Z-NF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(b) The reconciliation between income tax expense and the product
of loss before tax from continuing operations multiplied by the
applicable tax rates is as follows:

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

14. FREHEAX ()

b) FIEHAXEREFECEEBORBA
BEEFRAERRESHZEHERNT

2019 2018
—Z=-hF T )\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Loss before tax (from continuing operations) BrFLATETIE (2R QB L ETS) (57,786) (238,462)
Notional tax credit on loss before 1Z T EA16.5%5T E BT AT
tax, calculated at the rate of BEREAETEER
16.5% (9,535) (39,346)
Income tax on concessionary rate (note (i)  IREEHEERTEH
FrstEE (M) (165) (165)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BAERBBMANRIEZE (149) (167)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible 7~ B 138 51 3 #5745 &2 £ 12,404 37,178
Tax effect of share of loss of an associate M — e AREENT S E 204 3,581
Tax effect of share of loss of a joint venture  [B{f—H& & X B ENHEZE - 194
Tax effect of temporary differences REREREZENTIBETE
not recognised (1,924) (381)
Tax effect of unused tax losses REAARERTEBENREZE
not recognised 3,032 6,204
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not HRBTARERBEEENNEEE
previously recognised - (8,001)
(Over)/under-provision in respect of prior years B F /& (HBEEEE) HE T L (65) 1,489
Withholding tax AR 198 246
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries MERR TR RN E (106) ©)
Income tax expense FREHiM X
(relating to continuing operations) (HREKEEBER) 3,894 5,830

Note (i):

For the year of assessment 2019/20, a two-tiered profits tax rates was
introduced of which one subsidiary of the Group can elect 8.25% for its
first assessable profits of HK$2,000,000.

GEAE

R-ZT—N/—TAREE AEEHF K
B ARSI AMARBIFIS B R A] 5t K & B ERB

5 F112,000,0007% 7T 3% 2 £ %£8.25% ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2018: two) of
them are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 16. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining four (2018:
three) highest paid individuals are as follows:

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

15.

REFHMAL

EREBRFMALTED EF—H(ZF-N
FMEB)RRFMALRES HaErXHE16
KE-TIHREBIEE (ZE-N\F =ZR)&R
FMALTHB AR

2019 2018

—2-nE —E-N\%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries and other emoluments HeRHEMBE 5,524 4,167
Retirement scheme contributions RORFTEIH R 65 54
5,589 4,221

The emoluments of the four (2018: three) individuals with the highest
emoluments are within the following bands:

mE(ZT-N\F: ZR)BGSFHFHA NS
FRTINEE :

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE AE

HK$Nil — HK$ 1,000,000 =% 7T 21,000,000/ 7T = =
HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T £=1,500,0007% 7T 3 2
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 2,000,000/ 7T 1 1
4 3

During the year ended 31 December 2019, HK$480,000 (2018: HKS$Nil)
was paid by the Group to one of the highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join the Group.

Save for the above, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of
the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31
December 2019 or 2018.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,

HE-_Z-hF+-_A=+—HILFE K&EH
B X 1480,000 7t (ZE—N\F & L) T—%
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ToA=1T—HLFE AEEHEN TER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(@)

Directors’ remuneration

The remuneration of each director was as follows:

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

16.

ESEMNRER
(@ E=FH

BEFEHWT

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a
director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

REARAES (FRALRARANBLARER) BEEAREROHE

Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits Discretionary Share based scheme 2019
fees in kind bonuses payments contributions Total
e 2R DY) “E-hE
20k BRI MEEL AERNZM BRGTEHR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TET TET TET TET
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong (note (iv) =38% &4 (7)) - 1,200 - - 18 1,218
Mr. Zhang Long (note (vii) REE LA (P (i) - 223 - - 1 234
Mr. Wong Hin Shek (note (i)~ TEELAE (KiFE) - 313 - - 5 318
Independent BUFHTES
non-executive directors
Professor Chui Tsan Kit REBEHE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Chan Yung BRELE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei BREEE 120 - - - - 120
360 1,736 - - 34 2,130
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE-Z-NFT-_A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 16. EEEMRER (F)
(continued)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (continued) (@ E=FHHM (&)

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

REAETES (THRAXLRAREMBARNER BHEARERNH S

Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits  Discretionary ~ Share based scheme 2018
fees in kind bonuses payments  contributions Total
e EMR PARR R ZE-N\F
EEHS ENFR BB RERNIN RIKEHEIER st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT

Executive directors YmES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong (note (iv)) =385 &4 (M iE(y)) = 210 = = 3 213
Ms. Hung Yvonne (note (i) ka2t (BEE(G) - 142 10 = 7 159
Mr. Lee Kin Fai (note (vi) @ r s (M) = 1,110 201 = 17 1,328
Mr. Wong Hin Shek (note (i)~ T L4 (B aE() = 1,200 33 = 18 1,251
Mr. Pon Kai Choi Phemey BRI S (B EE (i)

(note (i) = 596 10 = 15 621
Independent BUFHTES

non-executive directors
Ms. Xiao Yiming (note (v)) E—152t (M) 108 - - - - 108
Professor Chui Tsan Kit RBEHR 120 - - - - 120
Professor Lee TS. (note (vi)) ~ ZXRAEHE (I vi)) 119 = = = = 119
Mr. Chan Yung RBELE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei BRELE 120 - - - - 120

587 3,258 254 - 60 4,159
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

(@)

(b)

Directors’ remuneration (continued)
Notes:

0] Ms. Hung Yvonne retired as executive director of the Company on
12 June 2018.

(ii) Mr. Wong Hin Shek resigned as executive director of the Company
on 4 April 2019.

(iii) Mr. Pon Kai Choi Phemey resigned as executive director of the
Company on 29 October 2018.

(iv) Mr. Wong Jing Shong was appointed as chairman and executive
director of the Company on 29 October 2018.

(v) Ms. Xiao Yiming resigned as independent non-executive director of
the Company on 23 November 2018.

(Vi) Mr. Lee Kin Fai resigned as executive director of the Company on
30 November 2018.

(vii) Professor Lee T.S. resigned as independent non-executive director
of the Company on 28 December 2018.

(vii) Mr. Zhang Long was appointed as executive director of the

Company on 4 April 2019.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any director
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.

No director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

16. EEEMNRER (&)

(a E=H (E)
B3k :

() REMEEIN—E—-N\FRA+T-ARE
AABITES-

(i) FTREALEN_Z-NAFNAMBAREA
REHTES-

(iii BEAEER=_TE—N\F+A=-+NLBE
EARRITESE

vy EBEFERER-_T-N\E+A-TILBE
RERARBEIERNTES

V) E—BLZtR=_FE—N\F+—A=+=H
BEAARBYIENITES -

V)  FREEAER-Z-NF+-A=THE¥
EARRMITES

Vi)  EFEREHER=ZT-N\F+=-A=+N\AH
BERRRBIERITESE

REAER - ZT-NFOANAEEREIR
RRRMITES-

(viil

BHE_ZT-NEFR=ZF—N\F+ZA=1+—
AIEFE  AEBWES A FEMR
B EREEESMBEAEE N MNBER
S A 0 SR oK 1E A B B A 0 o

BE_Z—NEFrR_ZF—N\F+-A=+—
AILFE  BEE B NENXR B RETAH
ﬁo

b) EBERRZ ZHREHNNEAHER

X R I AR S G ORI SR 4 R AEfal B
MR GARKEEFEHEMARRESER
EFE7MBALTEERHEREEAER
MERR S THHEH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_T-NFT_A=1—HLHFE
(LABTTEIR)

17. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 17. BRIKEER
Money Lending Business BEEL
On 25 September 2018, after the expiration of money lenders licence RZE—NFHLAZ+HB BEHBFEERAA
granted under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the (MHE]) (AEBOEEE2EWB AR S
Laws of Hong Kong) held by Citi Profit Finance Limited (“Citi Profit”), IBAR B AR 51635 IE A GRHIF H 2 BE AR
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, the Money Lending Rak EEEFERIEAIEERIEEEE
Business was ceased and classified as a discontinued operation. %o
The results of the discontinued operation for the year were presented EFENBRIEEEBEESRAT :
below:
2019 2018
—ZE—-hEF —FE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Profit for the year from REFERBE DRI EEBD
discontinued operation: Al
Revenue PN - 50
Other income EmidA - 7
Selling and administrative expenses HERITHAX - (78)
Loss before tax KR 7 Bl & 18 = @1
Income tax credit Frig i & - 46
Profit for the year from REFERBE DKL EEBD
discontinued operation (attributable to owners of wm A (R ABHR AEN)
the Company) - 25
Profit for the year from discontinued operation AFEREERIEEEELD
includes the following: A BEATEIE:
Auditor’s remuneration: Z RN &
Current AHA - 50
Over-provision in prior years wEFEBRERE - (7)
- 43
Cash flows from discontinued operation: REEKRIEEEEBNRESR
Net cash outflows from operating activities RELE TSRS L FE - (6,388)
Net cash outflows RemtFeE - (6,388)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18.

19.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$NIl).

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(@) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

0

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE

(AETTHITR)

18. KRB

EETRERBE-T-NF+-A=+—AL
FREMEARE (ZB—N\F: BHT) -

19. B8R (BE) &F

@ ‘BREX (BB BF

From continuing and discontinued operations i

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss

attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

KEFFBEER BRI LR

SREAREIREAEEAR A
B AR RE 56T B 0
FHRBGHE -

year.
2019 2018
—E-NEF —T—\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Loss EE
Loss attributable to owners of the RRRHEB AEERBEGTE
Company and loss for the purpose of BREXNEBERNER
calculating basic loss per share (67,200) (251,411)
’000 ‘000
T T &
Number of shares gvig - EE|
Weighted average number of ordinary RIEsTEREREEN
shares for the purpose of calculating LB IR TR EL
basic loss per share 444,448 444,448
Basic loss per share (HK cents) TRREAREE (BI) (15.12) (56.56)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
(@) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (continued)

(i) From continuing operations

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

19. Bk (BR) &F (F)

@ ESREX (BB BF (&)

(i) KEFAELEETS

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Loss EE
Loss from continuing operations RABEB NELBESEES 2
attributable to owners of the Company BB RBETE
and loss for the purpose of calculating BREXNEBERNER
basic loss per share (67,200) (251,436)
’000 ‘000
T T &
Number of shares ignig - EE|
Weighted average number of ordinary RIEsTEREREEN
shares for the purpose of calculating LB TR EL
basic loss per share 444,448 444,448
Basic loss per share from continuing FECEEE 2 BREAR
operations (HK cents) EiE OB (15.12) (56.57)
(i) From discontinued operation (i) BRI ATE R
2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZT—-N\E
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
Earnings &R
Profit from a discontinued operation RATHEB ARG —IBEKLE
attributable to owners of the Company EERER 2 mH R
and earnings for the purpose of RAESTESRER
calculating basic earnings per share vgallopzchll N/A & H 25
’000 000
T T &
Number of shares R EE
Weighted average number of ordinary BEsTESRERET
shares for the purpose of calculating HY I 38 AR N 15 AR 2
basic earnings per share 444,448 444,448
Basic earnings per share from —HERIEEEER 2 BRENR
a discontinued operation (HK cent) AF) OB N/A RiEH 0.01
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

19. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 19. BR (B#1) BR (&)
(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share b) SREE (5B BR
No adjustment has been made to the basic (loss)/earnings per RAFE BRARA R EERN S BITELE
share for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, as the HELER HUERAREE_T-NFR
Company did not have any outstanding dilutive potential ordinary ZE-N\F+ZA=Z+—HLEFEHNER
shares during the years. BEAR(F8) /&8
20. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 20. Htzm=
Tax effects relating to each item of other comprehensive income for the AEEEME2HEKESEEBBNRBEE:
year:
2019 2018
ZE-NF —I-N\F
Before tax Tax Net of tax Before tax Tax Net of tax
amount expenses amount amount expenses amount
REASE BEEX BRE#eE BRHASE HERX BHEeE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR FET FTHET FET
Financial assets at FVTOCI BREM2ERS
KATBEIRR
Fair value changes AT EEE
- Equity instruments -BRATIA (590) - (590) (17,428) - (17,428)
Exchange differences on translation of 37 &/ 5N B A A R
financial statements of overseas —[ABE R AR BERE
subsidiaries and an associate EERESEE (5,123) - (5,123) 241 - 241
(5,713) = (5,713) (17,187) = (17,187)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LAETTHITR)
21. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 21. ¥ BERRE
Computer
Leasehold Office Furniture and hardware and Motor
improvements equipment fixtures software vehicle Total
RENE BAE B BiES
£ B REE RE# RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Titn Titn Titn Titn Titn Titn
Cost RA
At 1 January 2018 R=Z-/\$-A-B 3,09% 653 512 2421 - 6,688
Additions RE = 19 32 4 - 55
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 41(a)) HE-BRBAR (Mi41@a) (1,006) 89) (14) = = (1,103)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (note 42) WERABEGA AR (Fi342) (1339 (182) (69) - = (1590)
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019~ R=F—-\F+ZA=+-HK
—T-h¥-A-H 751 407 461 2,431 - 4,050
Additions HE 55 21 - 598 980 1,654
Write off b6 = = = 2) = (2)
At 31 December 2019 RIB-NETZA=+-H 806 428 461 3,027 980 5,702
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 3t ER &
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\§5-A-H 2,140 452 425 1,794 = 4811
Charge for the year TEERE 574 7 23 212 = 880
Impairment loss REEE - - - 300 - 300
Witten back on disposal of HE-HMBEARNER
a subsidiary (note 41(a)) (GEAE)) (714) 43) ® - - (765)
Written back on deconsolidation of subsidiaries 7 i & 2 RIBUS
(note 42) FANE (fit42) (1,339) (04 33 S = (1,466)
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019~ R=ZE—-\E+=A=1+—-Ak
“Z-N%-A-H 661 386 407 2,306 = 3,760
Charge for the year TEERH 105 18 46 130 54 353
Written back & = = S @) = 2)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+ZA=+-8 766 404 453 2434 54 4111
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2019 BR=B-nF+=A=t-R 40 24 8 593 926 1,591
At 31 December 2018 RZB-\E+ZA=1+-H %0 21 54 125 = 290

During the year, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of
CGU of e-Perfect IT and as a result recognised an impairment loss
of approximately HK$Nil (2018: HK$300,000) in respect of computer
hardware and software attributable to that CGU. Details of the
impairment assessment are disclosed in note 23.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHE—

e MR M

—NET-A=+—HLFE

(L/{/ﬁﬂlﬁ”m)

22. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 2 HHEEE

Office Office
equipment premises Total
MAERE WAZYE mEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEIT FHBT FHET
At 1 January 2019 (note 3) RZZT—NF—A—A8 (f3) 47 2,971 3,018
Additions NE 68 1,590 1,658
Depreciation e 27) (2,050) (2,077)
Impairment BE = (716) (716)
At 31 December 2019 —NWFE+-RA=+—8H 88 1,795 1,883

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$2,663,000 are recognised with
related right-of-use assets of approximately HK$1,883,000 as at 31
December 2019. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants

—NWE+-A=+—HB HRAHEEEEYD
2%3w%ﬁ:ﬁ¢ﬁw%omﬁmﬁﬁﬁ%%
LEMRE - HEW: TmuEm@F mAEEE

and leased assets are not used as security for borrowing purposes. TR REERERAR

2019
—T-NF
HK$’000
FHT
Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets FRAEEENERS 2,077
Interest expense on lease liabilities (included in finance costs) HEBENSHAX (GFARERA) 103

Expenses relating to short-term lease (included in cost of goods 4G HATH SR X (;t AR EEWR A RIT
sold and administrative expenses) BAX) 549

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 41(c).

For both years, the Group leases various office premises and office
equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of one year to five years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of
a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

HERSRHBEFBHNMIE4(C) -

PREFE AEBEHRELHERAZTMERIA

ERBIEEERZ HEGHNERN T —FE2RF
2 B EFHART S o MR E G FRTHTE (B B 2 hE ETERy -
BIESBEE SRR RGN - I E EHE B R E D
AIHEHENRER  AEBERSHNERIL
EE A #R] 58 Hl 1T H) BAFE o

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report2019

180



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-T-NF+-A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
23. GOODWILL 23. EE

Corporate Corporate

Management ~ Management
Solutionsand  Solutions and
L.T. Contract L.T. Contract

Software Services Services

Business Business Business
(note a) (note b) (note ¢) Others Others Total

LEEBRR  CEEEER

HER HER

BAER  ANEBBEE  AOBRBER

(GED) (Ht&Ep) (HiEe) Hit Hit @
Boom Max
International AP Group
Limited Investment
(“Boom Max”) Holdings
and its Limited Nobel
subsidiaries (“AP Group Education
(collectively Investment”)  Organisation
referred to as and its Limited
“Boom Max subsidiaries (“Nobel
Group”) e-Perfect IT Wafer HK ~ (“AP Group”) Education”)
Boom Max
International EREEER
Limited BRAF
([Boom Max ]) (TEHER E5 1)
REKEAR ZRIR HEHE
(#47% [Boom HHEARA BRAT
Max (4% (T8 5%
8] & AEEE  [EHEE) #E))
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T T ThL FhEx FhET
Cost BA
At 1 January 2018 RZ%-\5-A-AH 757,662 3,934 20,913 4,581 762 787,852
Derecognised on deconsolidation of subsidiaries It &2 AIBUE R & ABER ILER
(note 42) (Fi3k42) = = = (4,581) = (4581)
Derecognised on disposal of a subsidiary LE-HNBARRRLER
(note 41(a) (Ht&E41() - - - - (762) (762)
At 31 December 2018, 1 January 2019 WZE-N\E+-A=+-8"
and 31 December 2019 “NE-R-BR
“F-NE+-R=t-H 757,662 3,934 20,913 - - 782,509
Accumulated impairment losses ZHREFE
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\5-A-A 469,496 - - - - 469,496
Impairment loss recognised BERRAESE 163,000 3,934 - - - 166,934
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019
632,496 3,934 - - - 636,430
Impairment loss recognised 65,000 - 254 - - 65,204
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-A%+=-A=1-H 697,496 3,934 254 - - 701,684
Carrying amount FEE
At 31 December 2019 RZE-hE+-A=1-8 60,166 - 20,659 - - 80,825
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\E+-A=1+-8 125,166 - 20,913 - - 146,079
Goodwill acquired in business combination is allocated, at acquisition, FEREBEHBENEENBERSEERE
to the Group’s CGUs that are expected to benefit from that business FHHA X ERNZEBAHNREEL ST
combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

HE_Z-NF+_A=1+—RHIFE
(Jf/{/ﬁﬁﬁ‘J/T\)

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23. mE (&)
BEEENREEHETHRERNR

23. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill

RIEFEGTERNFEREERE HEDELZ
ReERBETRATGFETRE ﬂl:ﬁ &E“ﬁﬁﬂ%

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment

of Assets, a CGU to which goodwill has been allocated shall be tested

for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the BRRSELETARBER ERYHLRS
CGU may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the CGU, EXBT2EEE (REES) Eﬂﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬁz
including goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the CGU. BEEEREE

The recoverable amounts of the CGU are the higher of the VIU and the
FVLCD.

@

CGU of Boom Max Group

The Group determined the recoverable amounts of Boom Max
Group’s CGUs on the basis of their VIU using discounted cash
flow method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow
method are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates
and budgeted gross margin and revenue during the period. The
Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on
long-term average economic growth rate of the geographical
area in which the businesses of the CGUs operate. Budgeted
gross margin and revenue are based on past performance and
expectations on market development.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group prepared cash
flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets
approved by the directors for the next five years with the residual
period using the growth rates as stated below. These rates do

BeEHERMNARESBREAEERATE
EREEREZRSE -

(@) Boom MaxZE[E /5 2 E i #

AEBERAUERBASRELREERAERE
fE 7E Boom Max £ B3 & 7 i B 7Ty ] Y [Bl
TH-BRARSREENTEMRRIIEYR
AR K EREANAEENR REAE
B AEERARBAT L R RAR X - 32
BB ERRBSELR BTN EEEE
K E R VIR B TSR R R IR IR
fﬁ%?ﬂiﬁﬁ%?‘f&i‘“%ﬁﬁ&mlﬁﬁﬁﬁ%i
BEEEREAE ?E%?%%lT&HSZ)\Eg
RBERBRETHERAMRFE

SRERART E  AEERANRERER
ARSI mEEHENRKROLFMERE
BUARGTHRERAN TR EGFE - %
FXRVRBHBEAT SN TFHORMER

not exceed the average long-term growth rates for the relevant o
markets.
The Group engaged Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited AEBEZEBIEEMGEMEATEL

(“Ascent Partners”), an independent professional valuer, to
determine the recoverable amount of the CGU of the Software
Business as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

Key assumptions used for VIU calculations for CGU of Boom
Max Group are as follow:

HAERAR ([MABERHEBNRS
EHETIR-_Z—NF+=-A=+—8Kk
—NEFE+-—A=+—HBWAIKEI£5E-

Boom Max(EE &R & EHETHFEREE
TEFEANEEBRRNT

Boom Max Group
Boom Max% &

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

—E-hE —E-N\F

+=A=t+—H +=A=+-H

Gross margin ER=E 77.31% 77.90%
Growth rate BRE 3.14% 2.90%
Discount rate BRI 16.34% 20.43%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

@

®)

CGU of Boom Max Group (continued)

At 31 December 2019, with reference to the assessment by
Ascent Partners, the recoverable amount of the CGU of Boom
Max Group attributable to the Group is valued to approximately
HK$117,845,000 (2018: HK$191,688,000), which is lower than
the carrying amount of this CGU attributable to the Group by
approximately HK$65,000,000 (2018: HK$163,000,000) due to
various factors including the slower-than-expected development
pace in the Asian market, the volatility of the global economy,
the keen market competition in the I.T. market, the decline in
the demand for PCs and the growing popularity of free software
products. The CGU has been reduced to its recoverable amount
and the Group recognised an impairment loss on goodwill of
approximately HK$65,000,000 (2018: HK$163,000,000). The
impairment loss is included in other gains and losses.

CGU of e-Perfect IT

The carrying amount of e-Perfect IT's CGU was fully impaired
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, the recoverable amount of
e-Perfect IT’'s CGU was determined based on FVLCD. The Group
engaged Ascent Partners, an independent professional valuer, to
determine the recoverable amount of e-Perfect IT's CGU as at
31 December 2018 by adopting asset-based approach as cash
flows from operations were expected to be minimal. The decline
in the performance of this CGU was primarily attributable to the
decrease in the number of sizeable project contracts compared
with 2017 and keen competition in the I.T. market. In view of
the deteriorating financial performance of this CGU, the Group
considered not to invest further resources to e-Perfect IT.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

23. &HE (&)

BEHENREERETHRERR (&)

@

®

Boom Max% BF 5 2 Z BT ()

R-B-AFE+_A=+—"8 &2
NAELRFEE  NEEE{EBoom
MaxSEBBRESEHRETHA D S5
%4 5117,845,0008 L (=T — )\ F:
191,688,000/ 70) R A KB E(HZ R &
1 B TR A{E K 4965,000,0007% 7T ( =&
— J\4F : 163,000,0007 7T ) * Ty AR e
BHERISRIENTEN  2HEERE &
AREMSHRFHR  AAEKOE RKEE
ke BRHERTBIESSSBRE-R
SELBETEREANTKEESE MASE
B 3R P Rl (B 5 48 4965,000,0008 7T (=
= — )\ % :163,000,000/8 7T ) ° :Z B EE B
Bir AEMEE -

BIERY 3 2 1 #E T

RBE_Z-N\F+_A=+—HILFE"
TR RSERELREES 228RE-

RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H8 LEREE
HETHANESEEREAFHEBRRHE
RAETE - ARBCRIRB Y B MERMY
NERBEEEARZETEERSELET
RZZE-NFE+ZA=+—HmakES
B REASEHEBELANRERESRD -
ZHELEHETHNEEATRIZEARAK
HERANEER T —tFRI KA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

®)

(©

CGU of e-Perfect IT (continued)

After consultation with professional parties, the management
considered that the asset-based approach was more appropriate
to estimate the FVLCD of e-Perfect IT's CGU as e-Perfect IT
had achieved minimal financial performances for the year ended
31 December 2018, its current operation was not expected to
generate any positive cash flow in the foreseeable future, so VIU
and market approach were not appropriate.

The fair value measurement of the CGU falls within Level 3 of
the fair value measurement hierarchy. During the year ended 31
December 2018, there were no transfers into or out of Level 3.

Pursuant to the valuation report from Ascent Partners, the
recoverable amount of e-Perfect IT's CGU as at 31 December
2018 was approximately HK$2,490,000 which was lower than
its carrying amount of approximately HK$11,312,000. Therefore,
impairment losses of approximately HK$3,934,000, HK$300,000
and HK$4,588,000 were recognised in respect of goodwill,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets respectively,
based on the best estimate by the Directors with reference to the
valuation report for the year ended 31 December 2018.

CGU of Wafer HK

The recoverable amount of Wafer HK’'s CGU has been
determined based on FVLCD (2018: FVLCD). The Group
engaged Ascent Partners to determine the recoverable amount
of Wafer HK’'s CGU as at 31 December 2019. In determining
the FVLCD of the CGU, management has adopted market
approach (level 3 fair value measurements), which has adopted
price to sales multiple and enterprise value to sales multiple
in the valuation. Several companies with business scopes
and operations similar to those of Wafer HK were adopted
as comparable companies. The comparable companies were
selected mainly with reference to the following selection criteria:

(i) the comparable companies selected are principally
engaged in Corporate Management Solutions and I.T.
Contract Services Business in Hong Kong;

(ii) the companies have sufficient listing and operating
histories;

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

23. HE (&)

BEHENREEHETARERNR (F)

)

©

BHEA T 2B HE T ()

KRAFEEATR BEERR/BEEEMRE
FEANGFEERSELB TR TE
BERHERES AREERBE—Z—\F
TTAZST - HEFEERZUBEET
B EHMEENENEERTRRRTE
EEEMERSRE FERBERTS
EDTEA -

ReELETNRATEEFERATEES
BRE=ZF-NBE-Z-N\F+-A=+—
HLEFE SEEARELE=R-

REBETTOMERS TERSELETN
TEN\FEF+ A=t - AZAKESELD
2,490,0007% JT &7 H BR 18 £911,312,000
BT -AhRBEESE2EEE—T—N\F
ToAZt - HUEFEZAEEREELZ
REGFDRIREE - WE BERRER
AT 8 E T SR ORUMEL IS 8 403,934,00078 T -
300,000/ 7t 24,588,000/ 7T ©

BHEE B H 2 E L ET

REEBRSELETHNAKOSEDR
BAFEERLEKRE (ZF—N\F:2F
BERLEXNA)EE - AEEBEEBITT
ETREEERCEHEIR T NF
ToA=T—HNAKEOEE - REERE
ELETHRATEBERLERAR  EBE
ERATHSE(E=RATEEFE)
NEERERTHERERREEEERL
HERE - EBHERSERNEFBRAL
MEE AR ERRAR AL AR - AT LLAF
DEEEBENTHEFEETHE:

)  BEHMATLARETEREBRER
KEEBRT REEARE QRS
E X

(i ZERBEBERHAN LT REERFE
$;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

(c) CGU of Wafer HK (continued)

(iii) the financial information of the companies is available to
the public; and

(iv)  the share price of the comparable companies is available
in the Stock Exchange.

Key assumptions used in the FVLCD calculation of the CGU as at
31 December 2019 included the price to sales multiple of 0.6 (2018:
1.1), enterprise value to sales multiple of 0.5 (2018: 0.7), marketability
discount of 15.8% (2018: 15.8%) and control premium of 25% (2018:
25%).

At 31 December 2019, with reference to the assessment by Ascent
Partners, the recoverable amount of the CGU of Wafer HK attributable
to the Group is approximately HK$22,675,000, which was lower
than the carrying amount of this CGU attributable to the Group by
approximately HK$254,000, as a result of the uncertain market
conditions and fierce competition in the market. The carrying amount
of the CGU has been reduced to its recoverable amount and the
Group recognised an impairment loss of approximately HK$254,000 on
goodwill during the year.

At 31 December 2018, with reference to the assessment by Ascent
Partners, the directors were of the view that the recoverable amount of
the CGU of Wafer HK exceeded its carrying value and no impairment
was required.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,

HE-ZT
(ABTTSIR)

—NE+-A=+—HILFE

e ()

BERENREEHETARENR (8)

© HEFENERELET (F)

(i) FHEARMPEERTHRARER:
LA K

(v) AL RBEIRE R RB AT LB -

EReERETR-_Z—NE+=-A=1+—8
B A FEER HEK A AR BRERREE0.66E
- NF1AF)MWIEE 0565 :;*)\
FOTENCEEBELEERSHK 158% (=%
— N\ :15.8% ) B BN IEHT 38 B 25% ( —FE— N\
F:25% ) W1l 1B o

—hE+-A=Z+—8 82EXFAEDR
M ER AEEEGRERERSELETY
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W& EHBETRAMEKL254,0008 7 iK™
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE_T-NFT+-A=1T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L/{/%TL@J/T\)
24. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 24. BILEE
Development
costs on
computer and
mobile phone Customer Computer
software relationship software
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (b)) Total
EXERE
BEFREUMH
BB A A BEFERF BB
(FiEE(a)) (M (b)) (BHEE (b)) mat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FTAET FHET FET
Cost R
At 1 January 2018 R=ZZT—-N\EF—HA—H 165,884 11,066 2,826 179,776
Additions through internal BRNTFRBERE
development 25,727 - - 25,757
At 31 December 2018 and ﬁé:%f)\iJr:ﬂ =+—H
1 January 2019 —ZT—-hHF—H—H 191,641 11,066 2,826 205,533
Additions through }Eiﬂlﬁ BRERE
internal development 35,031 - - 35,301
At 31 December 2019 RZE—-hF+=—A=+—H 226,672 11,066 2,826 240,564
Accumulated amortisation and R EHERBEEIE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2018 R-ZZE—-N\F—H—H 94,608 3,782 1,609 99,999
Amortisation BEoH 22,011 1,107 471 23,589
Impairment loss RIEEE - 4,094 494 4,688
At 31 December 2018 and RZZE—NF+=ZA=+—H
1 January 2019 r=E—hF—HA—H 116,619 8,983 2,574 128,176
Amortisation By 28,060 1,107 252 29,419
At 31 December 2019 R=FE—h&F+=-A=+—H 144,679 10,090 2,826 157,595
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2019 R-ZB—hE+=-A=+—H 81,993 976 - 82,969
At 31 December 2018 RZZB-N\EFE+_HA=+—H 75,022 2,083 252 77,357
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24,

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(@)

The capitalised development costs for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 represented the expenditure incurred
for developing computer and mobile phone software.

The average remaining amortisation period of the computer and
mobile phone software is four years (2018: four years).

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of its
development costs on computer and mobile phone software as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018, having regard to the market
conditions of the Group’s products. These assets were used in
the Group’s Software Business segment. The management is
of the view that the carrying amount of intangible assets as at
31 December 2019 could be supported by the future economic
benefits. No impairment loss was provided.

Computer software (the “Software”) and the customer
relationship (the “Customer Relationship”) were acquired
through business combination. The Software are used for the
development of tailor-made programs to the Group’s customers
and the Customer Relationship represents certain contractual
relationship with its existing customers at the date of acquisition
of e-Perfect IT in 2014. These assets are used in the Group’s
Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Services
Business segment.

The recoverable amounts of the Software and the Customer
Relationship are allocated to CGU of Corporate Management
Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business of e-Perfect IT
(note 23).

As the economic benefits arising from these intangible assets are
totally integrated with the Corporate Management Solutions and
I.T. Contract Services Business, these carrying amounts have
been taken into consideration for the impairment assessment of
goodwill allocated to this segment (note 23).

Details of the impairment recognised are disclosed in note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE

For the year ended 31 December 2019

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

25.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(AETTHITR)

25. RIBLATWIRE

Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2019 are as follows:

RIB-NAF+-A=+—RB TEXELEHE
B BESXABZINBARMNFENT

Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
Place of incorporation/ fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary registration and operation  capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
EMERL/ BRARBERE/ FreEgs RVE/
WEARER BEREEHY aMERFE AMOERES TEER
Direct Indirect
E# %
Lucky Famous Limited British Virgin Islands (‘BVI") 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
(“Lucky Famous”)
Lucky Famous Limited RBEIHS 1REBRIET REER
(TLucky Famous | ) (RBEx#S])
Jade Fore Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Jade Fore Group Limited EBRAEE REBRIZET REER
Citi Profit Holdings Limited BvI 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Citi Profit Holdings Limited EBRUEE IRERRIET REBR
Citi Profit Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100%  Inactive
Btz 0 REBRIET gmEE
Perfect Growth Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Securities investment
(“Perfect Growth”)

ERARNA ([ER]) BE REBRIET BEHRE

Supreme Right Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Inactive
Development Limited

FRERBERATA BE REBRIET Tmex

Apperience Corporation Cayman Islands 20,666,667 ordinary shares of = 50.5%  Inactive
(“Apperience”) US$20,667

Apperience Corporation Res 20,666,667 & 220,667 7T Ty
(T Apperience |)

Imidea Limited Hong Kong 10 ordinary shares of HK$10 = 65.177%  Development and sales of
software and provision of
toolbar advertisement

Imidea Limited B 10 EBR10ET RERHERHAR
RETARES

[Obit Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 - 65.177%  Inactive

I0bit Limited EBRAES B BRIET TEEX
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

25.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2019 are as follows:

25. RMBARNKRE (&)

RIB-NAF+-A=+—R0 TEXELEH
B BERABZIBARNFENT (&)

(continued)
Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
Place of incorporation/ fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary registration and operation  capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
EMERL/ BRIRBERE/ Fredgs/ RVE/
WEARER BURBELE aMERFE MOEREA TEER
Direct Indirect
E# %

Both Talent International Limited ~ Hong Kong 10 ordinary shares of HK$10 = 65.177%  Development and sales of
software and provision of
toolbar advertisement

ERBERARAT BE 10RERBRI0BT RERHEERHIAR
RETERRES

Mission Win International Limited ~ BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding

Mission Win International Limited ~ EBR & & & IREBRIET RERER

e-Perfect IT Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 = 100%  Provision of corporate
management solutions and
|.T. contract services

L BE 10,000/% & M 10,000% 7T REPFEBBRATRR
EHRME A ORE

Wafer HK Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 = 100%  Provision of corporate
management solutions and
.T. contract services

REEE ) 10,0000% & % 10,0007 1 RUCEEBBATRR
EHMRA RS

GET Financial Group (International)  BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding

Limited

BIeRKE (BR)ERAR EBRLHE REBRIET REER

Profit Support Limited BVI 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% - Investment holding

Profit Support Limited RBEIHS 10,0008% & % 10,0005 70 REER

GET Development Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of HK$100 = 100%  B2C Online Sales Platform
and B2B Product Trading
Business

BHERBERAA ) 100R & AR 1007 7T B2CE LEET AR
BBEREHEH

EHEH%E (FY)ERRF"  The People's Republic of Registered capital of US$1,000,000 - 100%  Inactive

(T8 5%) China (‘“The PRC") (Paid up USSNil) (note i)
BHBH8RE (R BRAF  HEARLME([+E])  #FMHE71,000000%7T gme

(rga=4)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

BE_Z-NFT+-A=T—HILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2019

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

25.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(AETTHITR)

Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2019 are as follows:

25. RMBARNKRE (&)

RECE-NAF+-_A=1+—H TBYELEH
B BEERABZMBARMNFBENT (&)

(continued)
Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
Place of incorporation/ fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary registration and operation  capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
EMERE/ BRTRBERE/ FraREs/ RnE/
WEARERE BRREEDE EMERFE MERFEDL TEXY
Direct Indirect
EE &
City Dragon Global Limited BvI 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% - Investment holding
City Dragon Global Limited EBRUHE 10,0000 &1 1% 10,000% 7T REBR
City Dragon (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 - 100%  Inactive
I8 (BB AR LA &R 10,0008 & R 10,0007% 7T BE2R
Sure Team Limited BvI 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% - Investment holding
Sure Team Limited EBRUHE 10,0000 & 1 % 10,000% 7T REBR
Sure Team (H.K,) Limited Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 = 100%  Inactive
BN (BB)BRAR &R 10,0008 & A% 10,0007% 7T BE2X
Boom Max BVI 100,000 ordinary shares of = 65.177%  Investment holding
US$100,000
Boom Max RBRAHE 100,000/ &3 /%100,000% 70 REER
Profit Winner International BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Inactive
Corporation
Profit Winner International EERUHE REBRIET Emex
Corporation
Service Winner Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100%  Inactive
Service Winner Limited 5% REBRIBT TmEx
Dragon Oriental Investment Limited  BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$100 = 100%  Inactive
Dragon Oriental Investment Limited XBRE X &S 1000 & @ AR100% T EmEs
Million Worldwide Investment BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$100 = 100%  Investment holding
Limited
Milion Worldwide Investment EBRAHE 100 & BAR100% T RARK
Limited
Talent Vision Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100%  Inactive
Talent Vision Limited 3 1REBRRIET Tmex

*

PRC

Note (i):

This subsidiary is a wholly-owned foreign enterprise established in the

On 19 August 2019, the Group established a wholly owned subsidiary, & 5 &I,
in the PRC with registered capital of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,760,000). At 31 December 2019, the Group has not yet injected capital into
B 57%YI. Pursuant to the articles of association of £ 5 #3l, the capital shall be
injected to %5 5 %Il within thirty years from the date of its establishment.

* FZHBARARNHE 2RI EBERE-

BEE() |

RZZBE-—NAFENA+IA FEBRFEKI—BE2E
MEBAR S SFY - wMfME A 51,000,000 5T (HHER
#37,760,0007T) - R=T—NF+_A=+—H &%
B AR RS SRYEE - BIEE ZFY 2 AR Z24A] -
BAEAERYARE=TFRAESFRIEAN-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

25. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 25. RMBARINRE (&)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non- TRETHEBHASEM S BEANFERER
controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The summarised ([FEsEmRER ) MM B AR AR - M E R E
financial information represents amounts before inter-company ENRIE¥ AT 25

eliminations.

Boom Max Group
Boom Max% &

2019 2018
—Z-h#F —E-N\F
Principal place of business/country of TELENME Hong Kong/ Hong Kong/
incorporation R AVAETER BVI BVI
- BB/
REREZHEES RBREZEHS
% of ownership interests/voting rights IR E R TR B A 34.82% 34.82%
held by NCI R/ RREEDL
Financial information is HEERBERENT
disclosed as follows:
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
At 31 December: R+—RA=+—8:
Non-current assets EmBEE 81,993 75,022
Current assets MBEE 39,124 44,222
Current liabilities mEIBE (3,473) (8,541)
Non-current liabilities SEREBE (13,403) (11,450)
Net assets BEFE 104,241 104,253
Accumulated NCI 2EH IR E R 36,297 36,301
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

25.

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE

(AETTHITR)

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 25.

RHEBLRNKRE (&)

Boom Max Group
Boom Max% &

2019 2018
—ZE—-hEF —FE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
VYear ended 31 December: HET-_A=1+—HLLFE:

Revenue PN 73,994 85,823
Profit il 15,367 25,004
Total comprehensive income 2HENE BT 15,367 25,004
Profit allocated to NCI BB T IR MR R 15 T 5,351 8,707
Dividends paid to NCI BRI AR A ) R R (5,343) (9,458)
Net cash generated from operating activities KEESMBRSFE 54,005 43,004
Net cash used in investing activities BREEHTARSFEE (33,380) (24,739)
Net cash used in financing activities MEETHMAREFHE (15,343) (27,160)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReRBSZEWEM CRd)FE
and cash equivalents 5,282 (8,895)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-T-NF+-A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
26. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 2. R—EBERTANRE
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —FE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET FET
Unlisted investments: FELEMRE:
Share of net assets FEI5 B EFE - 6,719
Goodwill S - -
- 6,719
Details of the Group’s associates at 31 December 2019 are as follows: AEER-_T-—NF+_RA=+—HMNEE QT
HEMT
Percentage of
ownership interest/
Place of Issued and voting power/
Name incorporation paid up capital profit sharing Principal activities
Fe@gs/
FRE/
£ A BERTRARKRA MERHEIE  EEER
2019 2018
“E-NE —T-N\F
Jun Yang Energy Cayman Islands 35,566 ordinary - 35% Investment holding
shares of US$1
EGaR REHS 35,5060 & i R REER
e
Wink Sky Company Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 - 35% Investment holding
BRBERAR RRERHE MREBRIET REER
Jun Yang Solar Power Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 35% Investment holding
EGREREERAR % TREBRIAT REER
TREGREERAR The PRC Registered capital of - 35%  Investment holding
US$55,000,000
(of which US$40,000,000
has been paid up)
EREBREBERAR" i & 455,000,000 7 RERR
(E40,000,000% 7T
BER)
AEEGENERAR" The PRC Registered capital and paid up of - 35% Operation of amorphous siicon
US$3,400,000 thin-film solar photovoltaic
power station
ABEBENERAA" HE FMRHRER BEEREERAGE A REY
3,400,000 T
FEERENERAAN The PRC Registered capital and paid up of - 35% Operation of solar photovoltaic
RMB20,000,000 power station
FEREGENERAR HE AR HRERAREK BEABGERREY
20,000,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEIR)
26. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 26. A—EBEATNRE (&)

Details of the Group’s associates at 31 December 2019 are as follows:

REER-_Z-—NAF+ZA=T—HHNEELA

(continued) BT ()
Percentage of
ownership interest/
Place of Issued and voting power/
Name incorporation paid up capital profit sharing Principal activities
FERER
FRE/
£ LA 3t 2 ERTRAERA AMEBNEIE  FEEE
2019 2018
ZE-AE ZE-\F
ERHAREERAR The PRC Registered capital and paid up of - 35% Operation of amorphous silicon
RMB38,167,939 thin-film solar photovoltaic
power station
HFEBHARRERAR HE HMRERERARE BRERHIRAGRKNEY
38,167,9397C
Rongcheng Jijun Power Co., Ltd.® The PRC Registered capital of - 35% Operation of amorphous silicon
S$6,000,000 thin-film solar photovoltaic
(of which US$4,000,000 power station
has been paid up)
REEEENERAF HE & 76,000,000 7t (KA ERNREIRAGRRREY
4,000,000XTES&R)
Jining Junyang Electric Power Co.,Ltd.? The PRC Registered capital of - 35% Operation of amorphous silicon
US$17,520,000 thin-film solar photovoltaic
(of which US$14,520,000 power station
has been paid up)
EEEGENERAF e & 417,520,000 7 BEEREERAGRARER
(E14,520 0005 TEHR)
Longkou Jijun Power Co., Ltd.? The PRC Registered capital of - 35% Operation of amorphous silicon
1US$6,000,000 thin-film solar photovoltaic
(of which US$2,200,000 power station
has been paid up)
ENEEENERLR e & 456,000,000 7T BRERHEIRAGRKNTH
(E2,200000ETESR)
T REGEERRERAR The PRC Registered capital of - 35% Business not commenced
RMB10,000,000
(of which RMB2,900,000
has been paid up)
FIREGEEMEERAR" HE & 4 A K 10,000,007 EBHARR
(EH AR¥2,900,0007
B&R)
. The associates are wholly-owned foreign enterprise established in the * ZEBMERNTARPREAK I EBEE RS-
PRC.
# The associate is a sino-foreign equity joint venture in the PRC. 2 ZHENRBREZFIEGERF
e The English name of this Company is for reference and has not been e FZARRNEHEHRDE R AEERD -
registered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

26.

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

On 23 August 2019, the Group received an offer letter (“Offer Letter”)
from the legal adviser of a shareholder (“Offeror”) of Jun Yang Energy
to invite further capital contribution of approximately HK$20,000,000
by shareholders of Jun Yang Energy by way of issuance of new equity
shares of Jun Yang Energy due to financial difficulties faced by Jun
Yang Energy and its subsidiaries. All existing shareholders of Jun Yang
Energy, inclusive of Lucky Famous, would be entitled to take up their
respective new shares in proportion to their existing shareholding in
Jun Yang Energy and any new shares not taken up by any shareholder
of Jun Yang Energy would be taken up by the Offeror at the same
subscription price (“Fund Raising Proposal”). On 30 August 2019,
the Group replied to the legal adviser of the Offeror that it agreed to
the Fund Raising Proposal but would not make any further capital
contribution to participate in the Fund Raising Proposal. As at the date
of receipt of the Offer Letter by the Group, Jun Yang Energy was owned
as to approximately 35% by the Group, approximately 17.5% by the
Offeror and approximately 47.5% by another independent third party.

Upon completion of the Fund Raising Proposal which was took place
on 6 September 2019, the shareholding of the Group in Jun Yang
Energy was diluted from approximately 35% to approximately 1.67%
and the Group recognised a loss on deemed disposal of approximately
HK$2,129,000 during the year ended 31 December 2019. Accordingly,
Jun Yang Energy became an investment of the Group without control
and the fair value of the retained interest of HK$350,000 was classified
as financial assets at FVTPL (note 30).

BSERERDT 2019F 3,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

26. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 26.

The following table shows information on Jun Yang Energy. This
associate was accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method. The summarised financial information

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE

(AETTHITR)

presented was based on the HKFRS financial statements of the

associate.

B9

R—EBREATNRE (&)

TRINTEGRRZ EH B R B AERE
ERGEEUBRERAAR-MRUBERRET
FERE 2 BB EIREERB B RE -

Jun Yang Energy and its subsidiaries

EBERREMEAR
2019 2018
—Z-h#F T )\F
Principal place of business/country EBNETEE SRR TER People’s People’s
of incorporation Republic of Republic of
China/Cayman China/Cayman
Islands Islands
REARKEME PEARLME
HEHS HEHS
% of ownership interests/voting rights held NEBATEH A ERER -/- 35%/35%
by the Group RAERS L
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
At 31 December: R+=—BA=+—8:
Non-current assets EmBEE - 431,795
Current assets mENEE - 112,591
Current liabilities mEIAE - (484,373)
Non-current liabilities SEREBE - (40,815)
Net assets BEFE - 19,198
Group’s share of net assets REBMIEEERE - 6,719
Goodwill [GES - =
Group’s share of carrying amount of interests REBME#EREEE - 6,719
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=1+—HILEE:
Revenue WA 49,001 75,990
Profit/(loss) for the year AEFW (EE) 2,536 (59,853)
Other comprehensive income EfemEmas (3,374) 689
Total comprehensive income 2HEBNZRTE (838) (59,164)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

26.

27.

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the bank and cash balances of the
Group’s associates in the PRC denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
amounted to approximately HK$2,334,000. Conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

26.

27.

R—EBREATNRE (&)

RZB-N\F+-A=+—B AEEEHEK
BERRNUARE (ARBDFHEZRITERE
FEERA9752,334,00078 TT « AN 5k [ A R K L HRAK
SN - JR3E ST R BISNE B R R D) A RE - BB R
REERRE

EBHEMZEKFEUNAFEEIRNE
MEE

2019 2018
e —T-N\%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET

Listed investments, at fair value EAFEEAENLTRE
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REB L MHRAEFS 1,040 5,439

Analysed as: A ARATIER -

Non-current assets EmBEE 1,040 5,439

The fair values of listed equity securities traded in active market are
based on current closing prices in the Stock Exchange. The fair
values of listed equity securities which were suspended of trading in
an active market are estimated by using the index return method by
an independent professional valuer. Financial assets at FVTOCI are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, fair value loss of approximately
HK$590,000 (2018: HK$17,428,000) have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve (non-recycling).

BSERERDT 2019F 3,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

28.

29.

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

INVENTORIES 28. 78
2019 2018
e —E-N\#F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Finished goods E e 394 1,588
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. BEFRHEHMEWFIE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —T—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Trade receivables B 5 IR 64,938 13,218
Less: loss allowance (note 29(b)) B R (MEE29(0)) (1,179) (461)
63,759 12,757
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TETFRIE 2@ & E Ath FE WK E
(note 29(d)) (B 5E29(d) ) 21,077 19,639
Amounts due from brokers FE UL AE 42 FRIR 15 4,207
Amounts due from non-controliing interests of FE U — PRI B B 2~ B SRR AR AE 25 B IR
a subsidiary (note 29(e)) (B$5E29()) 166 122
Other loan receivable/loan receivable from HAobh FEUE R FE Uk — Bt & 2 A
an associate (note 29(f) B (ME29() ) - -
85,017 36,725
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
(@) Ageing analysis of trade receivables

According to the credit rating of different customers and service
providers, the Group allows credit periods ranged from O to 90
days (2018: 0 to 90 days) to its trade customers and service
providers. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out
in note 6(c).

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the

directors.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

20. ESREMBYRE (&)
@ EZEWERMIEREDH

RETAEF MRBHEFNEEFR K
SR TEESEPERBHEENEES
H39) FOZE90H (ZZF — \F :0E90R) -
BRAREEEERRNE - THIFENM
F16(0) °
REBBNHE RO EUERFE R BIEE
B EERNETHERANER-

B HRYEIRR (R REBERE)RED

impairment loss) based on due date is as follows: HHMBRERDITANT -
2019 2018
—Z-h#F —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Not due A8 HR 53,353 8,736
Less than 1 month past due B E A 8,142 1,193
1 to 3 months past due w1 Z=3E A 1,519 2,038

More than 3 months but less than 12 months # HA#2:831E A {8 D 7 121E A

past due 715 754
Over 12 months past due wEARRIE 1218 A 30 36
10,406 4,021
63,759 12,757

(b) Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that
recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment
loss is written off against trade receivables directly (see note 4(v)).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews trade

receivables for evidence of impairment on both individual and
collective basis.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,

b) EZRWIRMRARE

BB S REEROREBBDEREE
IRACER - BRIEAR SR B S MR IR MY AT BE 1
AR-EZBEAT RESESERLES
JE W ER SR R s (L F RE4(V)) ©

REBREHR NEERTEZHRUERE
BAE5I R R ERE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

()

(d)

Currency denomination of trade receivables

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are
denominated in the following currencies:

HE—
( LA/&E@J/T\)

20. E5KEABYRK

(©

e MR M

—NET-A=+—HLFE

5 (&)
B2 RUIRREBEN

REEE S EBREROREENA T EE
sIfE -

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
HKS$ T 7,626 2,749
Us$ ETT 55,057 9,031
Japanese yen A 1,072 977
Others Hith 4 =
63,759 12,757

Other receivable (d EiEkwFE

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 13 June
2016 in relation to the acquisition of AP Group, in the event that
the audited consolidated profit after tax of AP Group for the
period from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2017 is less than
HK$16,000,000, the vendor shall, and Universe International
Holdings Limited (now known as Universe Entertainment and
Culture Group Company Limited) (“Universe”) (stock code: 1046)
shall procure the vendor to, pay to the Group the adjustment
amount according with the formula set out in the sale and
purchase agreement (“Profit Guarantee”). The vendor is
Fragrant River which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Universe.
Further details of the formula were set out in note 46(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

As of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, included
in the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other receivables
was receivable from Fragrant River of HK$20,400,000 arising
from the Profit Guarantee in relation to the adjustments to the
consideration for the acquisition of AP Group during the year
ended 31 December 2016.

As set out in note 46(a), the Group is taking litigation process
against Fragrant River and Universe.

The Group applies general approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The calculation of the loss allowance is
set out in note 6(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

REAKREEHEETLARR-Z X
FRAT=RZEEHH HEHEEB
E-RE-A-—HBRE-_Z—tH+-A
=t AR ZEEZGRREAEN
416,000,000 7T * B 77 & I B FEIRR
ZRERAT (REEFREVEEERR
"ﬂ) (IE=F] BRHRSE - 1046) BREE

TREEHEMBEANAARESAE
SHE(CEFRED BFBEIRETLE
EMBAR - AEANME—FFHE ER
iR A B IS R MY EE46(@)

HE-_Z—hF+=-A=+—HBK=Z—N
F+ZA=+—R AEENENARE &
S REMERREREEE =S - F1+=
A=+—HALFERKEEEHEENRE
AEAER R TR BIEENE LRI
1820,400,0007% 7t ©

s 46(@)FTHE AEBEEHEIRET
PR IARERA
AEBRA-—RIDEREBTER B REE
AIFSRRENFAMEEER - AHEBER
BT EER RN 6 PSR M FE6() °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

29.

30.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

() Amounts due from non-controlling interests of a
subsidiary

The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and with no fixed
repayment terms.

()  Other loan receivable/loan receivable from an
associate

The loan due from Jun Yang Energy is unsecured, interest
free and is repayable upon demand subject to the consent of
all shareholders of Jun Yang Energy. Upon the completion of
deemed disposal, the Group reclassified the loan receivable from
an associate to other receivables.

The Group applies general approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The calculation of the loss allowance is
set out in note 6(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE

(LABTTEIR)

20. ESREMBYRRE (&)

()

()

FE W — S B R 9 SR 4 BRI AR RR IR

BHEFARERR %8B EEEERY
MR-

HitfE R E R, e — & A B &K

RWEGRERERREER RS BEIEE
KEE HEEBRERE2EBRRARRNS
1EE - RBIELETMRIL  AEEFER—
IR X R B R E T JE R B A IR -

AEBRA-RIDEREBTERHREE
RIEIRRENTRREEEE - B HEER
BT EEN A M IRRM )

30. ERBRUNFEEIIRNEREE

2019 2018
—E-NF —T—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT

Equity securities held for trading, at fair value ERAFEEFENFEEERAE S
Listed in Hong Kong REBE L™ 32,186 4,224
Unlisted equity securities FETRAES 350 =
32,536 4,224

Analysed as: AWMABLTEE :

Current assets MEEE 32,536 4,224

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are mandatorily
measured at FVTPL in accordance with HKFRS 9.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

30.

31.

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (continued) 30. EBRRBNATFEEIRNERMEE
(#&)
The investments represent listed equity securities investments that ZEREREBRBURARATFEAKTALE
offer the Group the opportunity for return through dividend income and EiREEREE N FMRAEREE KW EEE
fair value gains. They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate. The fair AR R - NERMSEEM L TRAE
values of listed equity securities traded in an active market are based FHAFEEDENRBEHROME -RIER™M
on market prices at the end of reporting period. The fair values of listed SEEEEN ETRABSFNAFEEIBBY
equity securities which are suspended of trading in an active market BEGEMERERDREZETH - JELTR
are estimated by using the index return method by an independent REHFHATEEDNKDEROHRIEET -
professional valuer. The fair value of the unlisted equity securities has FLETREESHATEBENKLSEREESE
been determined by reference to the recent transaction price. The fair BARBEBHFARENREETE - ZRE R
value of the unlisted investment fund has been determined by reference RERESGHN -_ZT— ) \F+-_A=+—HHQAFE
to the quotation provided by an administrator of the investment fund BAT REE-T—NLEF+A=+—HLHF
on the reporting date. The quotation reflected that the fair value of the E REESUSREZEER -
investment fund as 31 December 2018 is zero. During the year ended
31 December 2019, the investment fund has been fully redeemed at
zero consideration.
Financial assets at FVTPL are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. BRBHRUAATEBRNESREENBITIIE
There is no concentration of credit risk in respect of the financial assets BREBENATEBEVENSREEHNEEES
at FVTPL because these financial assets are kept in well-established FRE RARZSeMEENTRREBER
securities broker firms in Hong Kong. BRAANELFLL AT
CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. EHEE BHEE
2019 2018
Contract assets EHEE —ZE-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Arising from performance under CMS services, BT EERBAT RRE
net of loss allowances FTES MKREERE 1,804 1,401
Receivables from contracts with customers within BAMBHREENE1SHEARAN
the scope of HKFRS 15, which are included in BREFPALOZIA AW A
“Trade and other receivables” [8 5 REA U FIE] 63,759 12,757

Amounts relating to contract assets are balances due from customers
under contracts for the CMS services that arise when the Group
receives payments from customers in line with a series of performance
related milestones or payment for the services is not due from the
customer until the services are completed and therefore a contact asset
is recognised over the period in which the services are performed to
represent the entity’s right to consideration for the services transferred
to date.

HANEERMNSRARBOETERARANTR
REANEEETFPHOER  TRAKERE &
51| B2 7R #0 4R B 1) B2 22 [ B B B P AN SRR R AR 75
TRETERZERBAREEL ARaNE
ERBEITREMEARR KREBRLESFE
7 B IR 7 Y ER A (B B R R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

31.

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. BHEE SHNEE (&)
(continued)
The increase in contract assets as at 31 December 2019 was mainly BHEER_E—NF+-_A=+—HEMNEE
due to the increase in work completed but not billed as at 31 December RZE-—NF+ZA=+—HERIRBKRHAR
2019. TR TIRIEAATE
The amount of revenue recognised during the year from performance FARBEERBEX (KEDER) BOEEIRER
obligation satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous period is HK$NIil, MWASBASE L TEARETLESER
mainly due to the changes in estimate of the stage of completion of R RIRGE LR TER PR ER (A EH B AR Bk o
certain CMS services contracts.
No contract assets that is expected to be recovered after more than RZE-—NEFERZZE—N\F+ZA=+—80 #
one year as at 31 December 2019 and 2018. EIEFRNBA —FRIEMNENEE-
2019 2018
Contract liabilities BRERE ZE-hF —EB-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Billings in advance of performance obligation BHE ETER K
- CMS services —EERBATRERBE = (12)
- |.T. contract services — BB E DRSS (3,188) (5,892)
— Sale of goods —HEEMD (300) =
(3,488) (5,904)

Contract liabilities relating to contract for CMS services and |.T. contract
services are balances due to customers under contracts for CMS
services and |.T. contract services. These arise if a particular milestone
payment exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the cost-to-
cost method. Contract liabilities relating to contract for sale of goods are
mainly progress payment made by customers under contracts for B2B
Product Trading business.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,

O EEIRERRT RRG RE AR KA QREHE
BOANBEAREBELEREEERATERRBELE
AMEAORBENEFPNER NEETEET
TEPE B SRR IBIE 5 /3 LL R IR A AN L A HE AR
WA - Al& HERATRIE N - B EERA WA R
BHBBEEIEREFIREBBEME HEBEL
B FE SR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

31. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(continued)

The decrease in contract liabilities as at 31 December 2019 was mainly
due to less advance payment from customers in relation to renewal of

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

31. BHNEE EHEE (&)

ANBBER-E-ASETZA=+— AR TE
BREKAEFRERETEER OOE SHHR

fixed price contracts. FrEte
Movements in contract liabilities: AHBEEH:
2019 2018
—2-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Balance at 1 January R—A—B#&#% 5,904 2,672
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of FRERRBIEFTAELH
recognising revenue during the year was included ERECR N
3 AN ESNETIIN
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the BHENHRERD
period (5,664) (2,485)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of biling in ~ Fl X E IR #R R TT ARG K
advance of CMS services and I.T. contract services & alioHX & 40 AR 75 TS 3K
BHAKBELM 2,948 5,717
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of HiEEEmENARMm
billing in advance of sale of goods BHAKHABEM 300 -
Balance at 31 December R+—A=+—H&#% 3,488 5,904

The amount of bilings in advance of performance received that is
expected to be recognised as income after more than one year is
approximately HK$247,000 (2018: HK$240,000).

WEIWEAOBNREEE (FBiHERNBE—FEER
BWA) 49 5247,000% 7T ( =Z — )\ : 240,000
HIT) e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

32.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

32, EEFRTERURRERREEEY

2019 2018

—E-hE —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FExT FHET

Cash and bank balances BHe RIRITHEH 80,723 147,699
Pledged bank deposits B P IRITER 627 1,637
81,350 149,336

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates.

At 31 December 2019, the Group’s pledged bank deposits represented
deposits of approximately HK$627,000 (2018: HK$1,637,000) which
were pledged to banks to secure banking facilities to the extent of
HK$500,000 (2018: HK$1,500,000) granted to the Group. The deposits
included approximately HK$627,000 (2018: HK$624,000) and HK$Nil
(2018: HK$1,013,000) which are denominated in US$ and HK$
respectively. The pledged bank deposits are interest bearing at fixed
rate of 0.45% (2018: ranging from 0.55% to 1.00%) per annum.

At 31 December 2019, the Group had available undrawn secured
and unsecured banking facilities of approximately HK$362,000 (2018:
HK$1,370,000) and HK$495,000 (2018: HK$496,000) respectively.

The pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents of the
Group are denominated in the following currencies:

FRIBITHRSLRARITE A FRN R BER
B 5 B M) R BRI S o

R-ZZE—NAE+_A=Z+—B AEENEHE
FERTT 7 SR8 T R 17 A9 13 30 49627,0007% T
(=ZT— )\ :1,637,000/8 7T ) * {E B &= @ ER
= #500,0007%% 7T (== — )\ 4 : 1,500,000/ 7t )
IRITREER - FREFR £627,0008 T (=T
—N\F:624,0008T) REBT(ZFE—/\F:
1,013,000 7T ) 53 BILAZE T R A& 518 - B IR IR
TEFRETEEMNRA045E (— 22— N\F :NF
0.55E 1,002 )& B -

R-Z—AFE+_A=+—8 REENTZHHE
RIZEUAE R R IR TRLE 9 B £ /8362,000
7T (ZZ — U4 1 1,370,000 7T ) 2495,000/8
7T (=ZF—/\%F : 496,000 7T) °

AEBMDEMRTERALIRE MRS EEY
ARSI S FIE :

2019 2018

—E-hE —ZT-N\EF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Us$ e 55,825 31,696
RMB AR 2,166 522
HK$ BT 22,565 117,079
EUR BT 794 39
81,350 149,336

As at 31 December 2019, bank balances and pledged bank deposits
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$1,963,000 (2018: HK$344,000) were kept in banks in the
PRC. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,

RZE—NAE+-A=+—8 REBUARE
HIME R IRTT 484 R B A ERIT1F 50 40 51,963,000
B (ZZF— \4F : 344,000/ 7T ) 7 AR E R
RAT o #5 AR H AR SN 78 4R 4% 7 B SN B 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HEZ-NFT_A=+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

33. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

(AETTHITR)

33. EEKEAMENRE

2019 2018
= B JyY-
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Trade payables B S ENIRR 2,828 2,242
Accrued expenses and other payables FEAT & A R E A 5KIE 14,556 7,357
17,384 9,599
(a) Ageing analysis of trade payables @ EBEZEMERIVIEKRERIN

B 5 RN RFREWEE &, IR B B

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date of

receipt of goods/services, is as follows: BRECHMT AT :
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAET
Less than 3 months DHAGME A 2,098 2,141
More than 3 months but less than 12 months HBiB3ME BB R121E A 340 73
More than 12 months iBiE121E A 390 28
2,828 2,242
(b) Currency denomination of trade payables b) EZENERRNEWEEN

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are AEBEESRNEXRNEABEUATER

denominated in the following currencies: FI1E -
2019 2018
—EB-NF T )\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT
uss$ e 1,979 1,952
HK$ BT 849 290
2,828 2,242
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-T-NF+-A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
34. LEASE LIABILITIES 34. HEAE
Present value of minimum
Minimum lease payments lease payments
BERALHR BEALARNERE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F —Z-hE ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHET THER T
Within one year —FR 2,265 - 2,217 -
In the second to fifth years, inclusive MERLF (REERMT) 451 - 446 =
2,716 - 2,663 =
Less: Future finance charges B ARREES H (53) - - -
Present value of lease obligations HERKZRE 2,663 = 2,663 =
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 A 12EAREIREESE (WA
months (shown under current liabilities) ~ EI & EE T 5I7R) (2,217) -
Amount due for settlement after 12 BB EHE
12 months 446 =
All lease payables are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. FrB M E RN RIEAE TEHE -
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified REBEFREET B EVIREREBMIE®R
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 ERAFICRTARN -_ZE—NF—A—B2H
January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which were VEBAERELFIRIEE S ERNE17H D
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. Comparative BAKEHENHERANEERE - RZZ—N
information as at 31 December 2018 has not been restated. Further FHZA=-T—HMLAREFTIESH -FHB
details on the impact of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in note BEERBUBRELENE 16K 2 E—PHEFS
3. FHOMIFES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

35. DEFERRED TAX

(@)

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

35. IEFEHIR

Deferred tax liabilities (@ ELHEEE
Intangible
assets
HK$’000
FHExT
At 1 January 2018 R-ZE—N\F—H—H 12,301
Credit to profit and loss FFAEZE
(note 14(a)) (FMsE14(0)) (466)
At 31 December 2018 and RZE-NF+ZA=+—HK
1 January 2019 —E-NEF—HA—H 11,835
Charge to profit or loss (note 14(a)) MBI (FEE14()) 1,691
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—-NF+=-A=+—H 13,526

(b) Deferred tax assets

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$272,267,000 (2018:
HK$254,950,000) available for offset against future profits. No
deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses carried forward has
been recognised due to the unpredictability of the future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
approximately RMB632,000 (equivalent to HK$732,000) (2018:
Nil) that will expire in 2024. Other tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

b) EEFREEE
RBEHR AEEERSHAHIEES
8 #272,267,0008 L (=T — )\ F:
254,950,000/ 70 ) + A S AR AE F o B
AN B R BETE AT A 12 A3 F 3RO - Bl 4
RAEERIEEBRERTMETCHEEE - K
BRAREBERESR S -MFEHN
# A R 632,0007T (#8 & 7732,0007% 7tT.)
ZE-N\F )RR R IEE A
IR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-T-NF+-A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LAETTHITR)
36. SHARE CAPITAL 36. A
Nominal value Number of
per share shares Amount
SREE BB -]
HK$ ‘000 HK$’'000
ow T & FHET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares LmAR
At 1 January 2018, R=—_ZT—-N\F—AH—A8"
31 December 2018, —ZT-NEF+=A
1 January 2019 and =+—H8-—T—h*F
31 December 2019 —A—BER-ZT—h*F
+=-—A=+—H 0.01 80,000,000 800,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREBR:
Ordinary shares LiEAR
At 1 January 2018, RZZE-N\F—H—81-
31 December 2018, —ZE-NEFE+=HA
1 January 2019 and =+—B -ZZT—-h%E
31 December 2019 —A—ARZZE—NF
+=—A=+—H 0.01 444,448 4,444
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as TERBFEAGRKITREIRAKRE W H#E
declared from time to time and are entitied to one vote per share at REARNBARE LIRER—ERERR-FTELBE
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard RERANBIFBEEFAYZHREEZ -

to the Company’s residual assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

36.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The Group’s primarily objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for the shareholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between higher shareholder returns that
might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes judgement
as to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group and the Company monitor its capital structure on the basis
of a debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, adjusted net debts is defined
as total debts (which includes trade and other payables and amount
due to a subsidiary, which is applicable). Equity comprises share capital
and reserves.

During 2019, the Group’s strategy was to maintain a debt-to-equity
ratio at not more than 45% (2018: 45%). In order to maintain or adjust
the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise
new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debts.

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

36.

2019
—E-hE
HK$’000

TER

BRA& (&)

AREEREREBE £ REAEENHEGE
B + % 8 BRI K T 0 B A 2 T R B A
BiRA BTG BA - 16T 8 5018 AR R 2
B

REETEG N PR R EREE AR - AR
B 8 FOK T RJ B A AR B = HE AR [ S B ER A
FEHREBERMRPTE RS RRE 2 AT &
b A 7 BR AR B 4B B AN SR L T o

AEBRARRIREEHRRL X AELEERE
ERGEE B KRBEBFERCREBLERE
(BEESEEMRNRAREN —BHE QR
A (ER) ) R BERARREE-

RZZ—NF AEBIRDA R AEFEEYR
FHH R EBBA5% (T — )\F  45% ) B 7K F o
BRFRFAEZL R AL ARAKRIIRMS
MRE SR BITHRG MRRBEEN &R
FEERESLEEENRE-

The Group
rE

The Company
NN

2019

—E-hF

HK$’000

TET

2018
—E-NF
HK$'000
FEL

2018
—Z-N\#E
HK$'000
FET

Debts &%
Equity s
Debt-to-equity ratio BEYERLER

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for the Group to
maintain its listing on the GEM of the Stock Exchange it has to have a
public float of at least 25% of the shares. The Group receives a report
from the share registrars weekly on substantial share interests showing
the non-public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with the
25% limit throughout the year. As at 31 December 2019, approximately
25% (2018: 25%) of the shares were in public hands.

50,794

269,852

19%

41,888 62,212 23,049

342,765 157,222 237,437

12% 40% 10%
AR R M A B RS INRE I E AR

BT ARBR ©

WS EERER/AEEBEBEL2B6BAR
Fr A% 2 DA M 15 EL B 32 PTGEMBY T (i - AR5
EGEHRERMBFELREMREERMHESM
BEHBRIEFARFRENTRE  RENFAN—EE
FHEBLRRERE - R_E—NF+A=1+—
B #25% (—ZF—\F:26% ) Rt ARAL
KA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-T-NF+-A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 37. RRFHBRRARRZAEED
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the Company @ ARARGFEAMRE
2019 2018
e —=—)\F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FExT FHT
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment S ER Y e 32 57
Investments in subsidiaries RETB R RRRE 234 -
266 57
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and deposits ENRIBERLS 250 519
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE Wi B 8 X B RRIE 204,404 195,490
Cash and cash equivalents ReRAEEEY 14,514 64,420
219,168 260,429
Current liabilities REBAE
Accrued expenses and other payables FE{~ 2 PR I E A R SR IE 2,589 2,396
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAHHT B A R FIE 59,623 20,653
62,212 23,049
Net current assets REBEEFE 156,956 237,380
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABRARSEE 157,222 237,437
NET ASSETS EEFE 157,222 237,437
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital EEEN 4,444 4,444
Reserves (ke 38(b) 152,778 232,993
TOTAL EQUITY R 157,222 237,437
Approved by the Board of Directors on 20 March 2020 and are KEEEN _T_TF=-HA-THIET
signed on its behalf by: AUTESREES:
Wong Jing Shong Zhang Long
i REE
Director Director
EFE EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

37. RQRAMBRRERHAEELE (&)

(continued)
(b) Reserve movements of the Company (b) ARDFFHEEER
Share
Share Share Contributed option Accumulated
capital premium surplus reserve losses Total
BA R EE 8BS BRERE 2iER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fitn Fitn Fitn Fitn Fin Fitn
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\5-A-A 4,444 517,181 988,713 1,420 (948,815) 562,943
Share option lapsed BRMERE - - - (1,420) 1,420 =
Loss and total comprehensive income ~ AFEBER 2 EMEHE
for the year S S = = (325,506) (325,506)
At 31 December 2018 and RZB-\E+ZA=1+-H
1 January 2019 R-E-NE-R-H 4,484 517,181 988,713 = (1,272,901) 237,437
Loss and total comprehensive income ~ AFEBER2EMEHE
for the year = = = = (80,215) (80,215)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-A%+=F=+-R 4,444 517,181 988,713 = (1,353,116) 157222
38. RESERVES 38. f#fE
(@ Group @ Z*&£H
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein AEBRERESHESENGEERRE
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and R EWR KRGS ERTERES -
other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity.
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves b) FEHNHEEREN

U

(i)

Share premium

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the funds
in the share premium account of the Company may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value of share capital of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the reorganisation
scheme (the “Group Reorganisation”) to rationalise the
structure of the Group in preparation for the public listing
of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange set out
in the Company’s prospectus dated 18 December 2001,
over the nominal value of the shares of the Company
issued in exchange thereof.

0 BRUEE

BREARE-NN—FR8E AR
AR R ERAIABRARA RS
ik

i) EHELS

AEENEHRBIEREART A
RIEZ—F+ AT N\BNRBRKE
RFFE - REHA R RN R
LB A B RN EARE
(TREEA]) AU BB F R
REEBBAR R RRZAMEITHR
DEEMNZHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

38.

39.

RESERVES (continued)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) Contributed surplus (continued)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the excess of the fair value of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group Reorganisation over the nominal
value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange
thereof.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
contributed surplus account is available for distribution to
shareholders. However, the Company cannot declare or
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed
surplus if:

— the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

— the realisable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium
account.

(i) Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets
at FVTOCI held at the end of the reporting period and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy in note
4().

(iv)  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 4(d).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the Company to
grant options to either directors or employees of the Group in order
to recognise and motivate their contribution, to provide incentives and
to help the Group in retaining its existing employees and recruiting
additional employees by providing them with a direct economic interest
in attaining the long term business objectives of the Group. The share
option scheme was approved by shareholders in an extraordinary
general meeting on 24 December 2007. The share option scheme was
valid and effective until 24 December 2017. All the outstanding options
granted under the old share option scheme were lapsed on 14 July
2018. A new share option scheme was approved by the shareholders in
an annual general meeting on 13 June 2017 and adopted on 15 June
2017.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,

BHE"T

—NE+-A=+—HILFE

(ABTTSIR)

38.

39.

féte ()
b) REENEERBDN (E)
)  EHELS (E

EAN ﬂ%i%%ﬁhﬂfﬁléﬁﬁ
WK B ARNATFEEBAAR
ﬁxﬁﬁ% mhﬁﬁﬁm%ﬁo

REARE-NN\—FREE BH
”ﬁ%Tﬁ”ﬁ%k$7ﬁﬁﬁ%
EUTER MARBANEEIRLIK
H%E'ﬁ§§%§%¢¢ﬁ DK

DR R AR R A A
BEEIMEE X

- $

-  AREEEMNIEREELKR
NEEeEIREABERAEH
17 R AN DA B B4 i (B BR e 4
Ao

i)  REBGRE
RESHRHERERNREHRTEDN
FEBEH A 2 E U ES AR A @m%m
CMEENRAAFEEEZ S FHE
WARIE M sE4() P 2 5T BUR IR 1 ©

) ELFEE

REE R E L B RETERNMEE
FEHBRMREENAEINEEZRE -

R IR I EEA()FT B & A TR R
B
LR 47 5 B 9 32 A4

BREFINENRBEARTRAREESZNE
BRTERE ASTNRABREZER IR
BANEDAEERZERAERENFEE SR
B AUNERERAKENRZER B REIEMI
BEEEENGD BREAIN_ZZLF+_-H
Z O HRBCRE RIS B AR A - B A
HEWERPE S+ F+ B -+mAFF
BRIFEBRERT IR D E AT ERBREE R
TE-NFLATHBA KRR FBREAEN
T—+FRNAT=ZANBRRAF RS ERRIE
ERZFB—tFRNATHRERE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

39.

40.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The Company by ordinary resolution in general meeting may at any time
terminate the operation of the share option scheme and in such event
no further options will be offered but in all other respects the provisions
of the share option scheme shall remain in force to the extent necessary
to give effect to the exercise of any options granted prior to such
termination.

No option was granted under the existing share option scheme up to
date of approval of this report.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest
immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary established in the PRC are
members of a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. This subsidiary is required to contribute certain percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and wages to the central pension
scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations of all existing
and future retired employees of this subsidiary. The only obligation of
this subsidiary with respect to the central pension scheme is to meet
the required contributions under the scheme.

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

39.

BRHRERZMN (F)

KA T A BER IR R & A RS SR AR B IR
MRS RZERAT B EREEMERE:
HERFTA B 75 T - PR Bl G X E A B
EREBAK LR TOEMBRENTEERR
=

BEEARRSHEZ B BIEBBRBBERETE
B R A -

REHRKBRNEE

RNEEREE L LD FEASZ R HIERAELEE
Bl AZERBRBEVNEENES  FHBGER
BestE ([RES:TE]) -RBEetE Y —EH
B EAEABTENATHIGENRTE - RIFARE
et BREREEESARAEREERBAYK
AHBS%H R - T A B WA 8 _E R £30,000%
TC ° BLEZET B PTVERR SR BN SR 8 -

A E B0 AR B B SZ Y B B A BN R B R 7T TR
FERNFPRELEFTEKE - ZMBRRERR
BEEEAFERIENETESI AT REZS
I RERRNTBRE S - 075 ™ BUR e
EEZMERBMARE RARIEREEHRIK
BNEFE-ZWEBRRARPRELZSENME—
BEERREBIEHAME N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 41.

CASH FLOWS

(@) Disposals of a subsidiary

Disposal of entire interest in Nobel Education

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

(@

On 4 October 2018, the Group disposed of its 50% entire equity
interest in Nobel Education (‘Disposal of Nobel Education”),
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group before

disposal, for cash consideration of HK$1,100,000.

The Disposal of Nobel Education did not constitute a notifiable
transaction of the Company under Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing

Rules.

Net assets of Nobel Education at the date of disposal were as

RERETREBRME

HE—BHELF
HELTZHE 2RV RE

RZZE-NF+ANR - AEELEEER
L40H B B 2 EP50% MR HE (4401 2
BHEERE]) LHRBAENHEN /A
SENEZFZENBAR R2RER
1,100,000/ 7T

LHMRHEHEFRL TEKGEM LT A
AETNBRTZARAATRERS -

LHRHERHERANEEFENT

follows:
HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment (note 21) Y B R E (MEE21) 338
Goodwill (note 23) 2 (K3E23) 762
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk H b FE U RIE 820
Cash and cash equivalents RERRESEEY 195
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk H b FE R 5RIE (449)
Loan from third parties FE=ZFEXR (1,520)
Carrying amount of net assets disposed of EHEEEFENK@E 146
Non-controlling interest derecognised BUBTER ) FEIE R 308
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFE 454
Gain on disposal of the subsidiary HEZ M B AR A s
Consideration RE 1,100
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFE (454)
Gain on disposal* o s 646
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEARNRESRAFRE:
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BERERERAEEEY (195)
Cash consideration received BEWRENRE 1,100
905
* The gain on disposal is included in “other gains and losses”. * HE KT A [E bz REE] -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows

from financing activities.

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

4. ZEBRERERKET (E)
b) BETEFELEEENEHIER

TREALAEERETIMELENEEE
B BEREKFRESE REZHHE
ENAEARREREBEENARKEDRE
BERFEEGEARERERADERE
BEEYFELANRERENZFAE:

Impact

on initial Restated

application of ~ balance at
1 January  HKFRS16 1 January Interest 31 December
2019 (note 3) 2019 Addition  Cash flows expenses 2019

HERER R®
BAUMBHE —T-NF —Z-NF
ZE-NE ERF6%H —A-AK +=A
—A—B ¥Z(M#F3) EEIKER RE Bew  FERX  =t-A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TR TER TER TR TER
Lease liabilties (note 34) HEBE (F3k34) = 3,018 3,018 1,658 (2,116) 103 2,663
- 3,018 3,018 1,658 (2,116) 103 2,663

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flows for

© MHERSRHARE

BFRAEEFAGRRRERERNFARKE

leases comprise the following: ATREIR:
2019 2018
—E-hE —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Within operating cash flows EERENEAN 652 5,555
Within financing cash flows MERESREN 2,013 =
Lease rental paid BfffL 2,665 5,555
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

41.

42,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (continued)

(d) Major non-cash transactions

(i) During the year, the Group entered into new lease
agreements for the use of office premise and office
equipment for 2 years and 5 years respectively. On
the lease commencement, the Group recognised

approximately HK$1,658,000 of right-of-use assets and
HK$1,658,000 lease liabilities.

(ii) During the year, the Group deemed disposal of its
investment in an associate which resulted in a loss of
approximately HK$2,129,000 and classified the fair value
of its retained interest of HK$350,000 to financial assets at
FVTPL (notes 26 and 30).

DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

With effect from 1 April 2018, the financial results, assets and liabilities
of AP Group Investment and its subsidiaries (collectively “AP Group”
or “Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) had been deconsolidated from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. As set out in note 46(b)
to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has been in
legal disputes with the former directors of AP Group Investment during
the year ended 31 December 2018. The directors of the Company
considered that the Company had lost its control over AP Group
during the year and accordingly the Company did not have the ability
to direct the relevant activities of AP Group. After the resignation of
the former directors of AP Group Investment, the former directors of
AP Group Investment failed to deliver up all the accounting books and
financial records of, and all business records in connection with, the
running of the AP Group to the Group. The Group was unable to locate
complete set of books and records of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries.
The Group recorded a loss on deconsolidation of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries of approximately HK$3,454,000 for the year ended 31
December 2018.

The following is the financial information, before intra-group balances
and transactions elimination, of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

4. GEREREBRMEE (H)

d FEFREXRSH

) REFE AERESRRERRIE
MERRAERBILREMERE
FOHEERZE -REERKE &
£ [E # R 41,658,000 T AEE
7 121,658,000/ THHE B F

i) RAFE AEFERELEER
—HBEARZIRE BREE
2,129,000 Tk EIRBHEHZ 2 AT
fE{E350,0008 L H FHEFE BBz A
AEEEINEZSMEE (H26Kk
30) °

42. MBARBUELZE AR
B-Z—N\FMA—B BPEBEERREK
BAR (ABAIEHEE] K [BUEGLE AR
BRRNUBKEE EERBBEREAEEZ
AP HBERICESRA AR MR & B RE
Ml sr4B0)FTE A AR R EHEERRATES
REBE-Z—N\E+-_A=+—BLFERLZ
MR- ANREFRA ANRREREFEREE
PHEBAEHIE AR R L EETEHEBER
BEBMEES  - BHEEIERAITESRTR B
BEEERAIEESRERANSEIERAEEE
PEBEEEE RS U RITAER
ik AEBEZEDRBEUELRE ARKNB AR Z
TEEMELHE - AEBREBEE_TE—N\F+=
A=+—BA L FERICHELERAE AR B A R85
BUB#R A ABRE 18 493,454,0008 7T ©

AT REUHEER S ABRHT B 2~ B0k S B A R R
RBMBH A TS AR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

42. DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(@)

(b)

Loss on deconsolidation of the Deconsolidated (@

Subsidiaries

Net liabilities of the AP Group at the date of deconsolidation were

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE

(LABTTEIR)

42, MELREBUHEARS AR (&)

EUHG S AR E D RBUEGRE AR
53]

EHEERBUERA ARA SN B EFE

as follows: R
HK$'000
T
Property, plant and equipment ey 124
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk H b U GRIE 1,599
Tax recoverable AU B R 267
Inventories rE 612
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEY 409
Trade and other payables 5 R H A ER KIE (4,865)
Amounts due to group companies I EBRARRIE (356)
Non-controlling interest deconsolidated BUB#R A ABRMIEIE Bl 1,083
Net liabilities of the Deconsolidated HURGRE ARMB AR AEFE
Subsidiaries (1,127)
Goodwill (note 23) 2 (Kt3E23) 4,581
Loss on deconsolidation* BUB#R A ABREE" 3,454
* The loss on deconsolidation is included in “other gains and losses”. * BUBAR A ABRBE A [HE bl R ES
#le
Transactions of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries b) FABZEZZ-—N\E=B=+—HIL=
included in the consolidated statement of profit or BAFREEREBREERZEVHEARE AR
loss of the Group for the three months ended 31 MEBARRS
March 2018
HK$’'000
FHEIT
Revenue LN 3,112
Cost of sales HE KA (350)
Other revenue and the other H A A R H A Wz 2 B 185 58
gains and losses, net 13
Administrative expenses THAX (2,548)
Income tax expense s RimsZ (12)
Profit for the three months ended HE-_T - \F=A=+—HIE=@AEF
31 March 2018 215
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44,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

45.

COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

43. RIE

M| EHROEARAFEMT :

2019 2018
—E-NEF —FE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Contracted but not provided for: BRTABRBE
— development costs for intangible assets —EEEMRENRAR 35,887 19,318

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

At 31 December 2018 the total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

REHERS

RZB-NF+-A=+—B TARHELLEH
EIH TR R RS E (SRR A THR%
f:

2018
—E—N\F
HK$'000
FHET

—fFRQ

Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for
certain of its offices. Leases are negotiated for an average term of 3
years and rentals are fixed over the lease terms and do not include
contingent rentals.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office equipment.
As at 31 December 2019, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to
the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed in note 22.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Other than the outcome of litigations as disclosed in note 46, as at 31

December 2019, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (2018: Nil).

BSERERDT 2019F 3,

E_FEELF (BREEEMF)

2,082
1,422

3,504

REMENFIEAREREE THERERNHE
¢ - HEHRTHAN=FHE HeRBEEHR
BEATBEHAEE-

AEBEHITUMAERBERAEE-R=_F—N
FrZA=+—H EHEEHES B T2 I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

46. LITIGATIONS

(@)

AP Acquisition Litigation

References are made to the announcements of Company dated
18 June 2016, 23 June 2016 and 1 July 2016 in relation to,
among other matters, the acquisition of 51% equity interest in
AP Group Investment (the “Acquisition”) and the announcements
of the Company dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018 and 16
July 2018 in relation to the adjustment to consideration for the
Acquisition.

On 13 June 2016, Lucky Famous, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement (“SP
Agreement”) with Fragrant River Entertainment Culture (Holdings)
Limited (“Vendor”) and Universe (“Guarantor”), pursuant to which
the Group conditionally agreed to acquire, and the Vendor
conditionally agreed to sell 51% equity interest of AP Group
Investment, at the consideration of HK$20,400,000, subject to
downward adjustments as described below, which was settled
by way of allotment and issued of 40,800,000 new ordinary
shares of the Company, credited as fully paid, at the issue price
of HK$0.50 per share to the Vendor (or its nominee), on the
date of completion. The AP Group was principally engaged in
the provision of self-improvement and self-enhancement training
programmes in Hong Kong. Completion of this transaction took
place on 1 July 2016.

e MR M

HE-F-NF+-A=+—ALFE

(AETTHITR)

46.

(@)

BN

E PR

BIRMARRBHAZZT—R"FAA+=
H —ZE—XRXEXA-+=AKE T~ F
tA—BMAE AAB@(EPIE) K
BEHEEIERS1%RE (TWEEE]) &
AARBBAA-ZT—N\FA+=H =%
—NEXNAZtTARABRZZ—NFLA+~
AzRE NAEBARBEEEARNRE

RZEBE—R"EXA+=B ARA2EWEB
‘A a]Lucky FamousE2 &5T 1244301k (32 A%)
BRAR ([EFH]) REBF ([ERAL G
—HhEERE ([BEEHE]) Bt A8
BRGERABRBEMESEKRTERELER
B B2 A% H951 %A% 7 - (& A20,400,000
BT (R T X AET T HA)  ERBN
TR B R ER050BTZRITE BEA
(SRE R HE A)FR % K 8 1740,800,00088 A
RIVERR 2 AR R LBz FREHE -
EREETENE BN ERUEHEEREA
R EBIEENEIEE WX ER TN
FrA—HEK-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

46. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(@)

AP Acquisition Litigation (continued)

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the SP
Agreement, in the event that the audited consolidated profit
after tax of AP Group Investment attributable to its owners from
1 January 2016 to 31 December 2017 (‘FY 2016 & 2017”)
(which would only include income or gain generated by activities
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the AP Group)
(“FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit”) is less than HK$16,000,000, the
Vendor shall, and the Guarantor shall procure the Vendor to,
pay to the Lucky Famous (or to its order) an adjustment amount
(“Adjustment Amount”) in cash within 14 days after the audited
consolidated financial statements of AP Group Investment
for FY2016 & 2017 (“FY2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts”)
are available. The Adjustment Amount shall be determined in
accordance with the formula set out below:

A = HK$20,400,000 - (NP/2) x 5 x 51%
Where:
“A” means the amount of the Adjustment Amount in HK$; and

“NP” means the FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit. Where the FY2016 &
2017 Net Profit is a negative figure, “NP” shall be deemed to be
zero.

The FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit shall be based on the FY2016 &
2017 Audited Accounts which shall be prepared in accordance
with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and audited,
adjusted for any non-recurring items.

Based on the FY2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts, the AP Group
recorded a net loss of HK$189,799. In accordance with the SP
Agreement, the FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit of the AP Group was
deemed to be zero. Accordingly, the Group had requested the
Vendor and the Guarantor to pay the Adjustment Amount of
HK$20,400,000 on or before 26 June 2018 according to the
terms and conditions of the SP Agreement. On 22 June 2018,
the Group received a letter from the legal adviser acting for the
Vendor and the Guarantor that they will defend the purported
claim of the Group for the payment of the Adjustment Amount
alleged by the Group.

BSERERDT 2019F 3,

HE-2-NFt-A=+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

wan ()

(@)

EPWBRR ()

BIRE BREOGRRES  WR =T —
F—A—RAE-_Z—+t&+-_A=+—8H
(ZE—AUFERZZE—tHF])EHE
EERES AEMELCEZGERTIE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

46. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(@)

AP Acquisition Litigation (continued)

Up to 26 June 2018, i.e. the last date on which the Vendor and
the Guarantor shall pay the Adjustment Amount after the FY2016
& 2017 Audited Accounts were made available to them, the
Group had not received any payment of the Adjustment Amount
from any of the Vendor and the Guarantor.

The Board considered that the Vendor and the Guarantor have
breached their contractual obligations by failing to repay the
Group the Adjustment Amount in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the SP Agreement. In order to safeguard
the legitimate rights and interests of the Group, after seeking
legal advice, the Group has commenced legal proceeding (‘AP
Acquisition Litigation”) against the Vendor as the 1st defendant
and the Guarantor as the 2nd defendant. A writ of summons with
an indorsement of claim were filed by Lucky Famous as plaintiff
at the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong
on 16 July 2018. Based on the writ, the Group claimed against
the Vendor and the Guarantor for (a) the Adjustment Amount of
HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or
other reliefs.

An amended writ of summons with an indorsement of claim were
filed at the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong
Kong on 26 September 2019. Based on the amended writ, the
Group claimed against the Vendor and the Guarantor for (a) the
Adjustment Amount of HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c) costs;
and (d) further and/or other relief, and also against Mr. Chan Sze
Long (“Chan”) and Ms. Lim Wah Elsa (“Lim”) for (e) damages
in the sum of HK$20,400,000; (f) interests; (g) costs; and (n)
further and/or other relief. The Board considered that Chan and
Lim, who are the former directors of AP Group Investment until
their respective resignations on 18 July 2018, have potentially
breached their duties and obligations in contract and tort by
failing to, amongst other things, prepare audited consolidated
financial statements of AP Group Investment for the year ended
31 December 2015, provide the auditors of AP Group Investment
with the written information that they requested to support their
audit, and keep and/or preserve adequate accounting records in
respect of the transactions entered into by AP Group Investment,
its financial position and its financial performance.

Details of the AP Acquisition Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018
and 16 July 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

46. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

AP Management Litigation

On 26 July 2018, the Company as the 1st plaintiff and AP Group
Investment as the 2nd plaintiff, issued a writ of summons in the
High Court of Hong Kong against Mr. Chan Sze Long (i.e. 1st
Defendant) as the 1st defendant and Ms. Lim Wah Elsa (i.e. 2nd
Defendant) as the 2nd defendant for the matters as detailed
below (“AP Management Litigation”). The 1st Defendant and the
2nd Defendant are former directors of AP Group Investment until
their respective resignations on 18 July 2018. The 1st Defendant
and/or his controlled company, and the controlled company
of the 2nd Defendant, are also former directors of the other
members of the AP Group at all material times.

The Company is a majority shareholder holding 51% interest
in AP Group Investment through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Lucky Famous. As a result of the 51% shareholding in AP
Group Investment, the financial results and assets and liabilities
of AP Group Investment and its subsidiaries were consolidated
into the Group’s consolidated financial statements prior to the
deconsolidation of the AP Group becoming effective on 1 April
2018. The AP Group was principally engaged in the provision
of self-improvement and self-enhancement training programs in
Hong Kong at all material times.

At all material times and during the tenure of office of the
Defendants as directors of AP Group Investment, in reliance of
the experience and expertise of the Defendants in running the
AP Group, it was agreed by the parties that the Defendants
were wholly responsible for the efficient and proper management
and operation of the AP Group, including but not limited to,
the efficient daily operations of the AP Group, keeping proper
books and records of the AP Group at all times for inspection by
the Group and the provision of weekly cash and bank balance
reports, annual budget and monthly financial reports of AP
Group Investment, including that of all the subsidiaries of the
AP Group to the Company within 15 days after each month’s
end. After the resignations of the Defendants as directors of AP
Group Investment on 18 July 2018 and up to the date of this
report, the Defendants failed to deliver up all the accounting
books and financial records of, and all businesses records in
connection with, the running of the AP Group, including but not
limited to records in relation to the students’ records, instructors’
records and information on potential litigations, for the period of
seven years immediately prior to the date of their resignations as
director of AP Group Investment on 18 July 2018 (“Full Business
Records”) to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

46. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

()

AP Management Litigation (continued)

In order to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the
Group, after seeking legal advice, the Group has commenced
legal proceeding against the Defendants. The Group claimed
against the Defendants for the reliefs, including but not limited
to, delivering up of the Full Business Records, accounting for the
assets of the AP Group for the period from 1 April 2018 to 18
July 2018 that were in the power, possession or control of the
Defendants and damages to be assessed.

Details of the AP Management Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 27 July 2018.

Perfect Growth Litigation

On 3 July 2018, Perfect Growth, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, received an Amended Writ of Summons
(*Amended Writ") with an Amended Statement of Claim
(“Amended Statement of Claim”) issued in the Court of First
Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong by Convoy Global
Holdings Limited (“1st Plaintiff’), Convoy Collateral Limited
(“2nd Plaintiff’) and CSL Securities Limited (“3rd Plaintiff”) (1st
Plaintiff, 2nd Plaintiff and 3rd Plaintiff collectively referred to as the
“Plaintiffs”) against, among other defendants, Perfect Growth as
the 34th defendant (“Perfect Growth Litigation”). Perfect Growth
was joined as one of the defendants by way of the Amended
Writ.

Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim attached to the
Amended Writ, Perfect Growth was named as one of the Alleged
Independent Placees (being placees of the placing of shares of
the 1st Plaintiff carried out in around October 2015 (“October
2015 Placing”) and was allotted with some shares of the 1st
Plaintiff pursuant to the October 2015 Placing.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

46. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(c)

Perfect Growth Litigation (continued)

In the Perfect Growth Litigation, the reliefs claimed by the
Plaintiffs against Perfect Growth are as follows:

(i) the 1st Plaintiff seeks a declaration and an order as
against, among others, Perfect Growth, that the allotment
of the 1st Plaintiff’'s shares to, among others, Perfect
Growth pursuant to the October 2015 Placing is null and
void, or has been rescinded and be set aside;

(ii) the 1st Plaintiff seeks an account of profits and an order
for payment of any sums found to be due, equitable
compensation to be assessed and/or damages to be
assessed for dishonest assistance, unlawful means
conspiracy and/or lawful means conspiracy as against,
among others, Perfect Growth, in relation to, among other
matters, the October 2015 Placing and the allotment of
the 1st Plaintiff’'s shares pursuant to the same; and

(i) the Plaintiffs seek as against, among others, Perfect
Growth (a) general or special damages; (b) interests; (c)
costs; (d) further and/or other reliefs.

On 22 November 2018, Perfect Growth filed its Defence to the
Amended Statement of Claim.

On 3 December 2019, the Plaintiffs filed its Reply to Perfect
Growth’s Defence. The Plaintiffs have not, however, filed its
Reply to each of the other defendants’ defence and as such the
pleadings of the Perfect Growth Litigation have not been closed
as yet.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying values of the shares
of the 1st plaintiff's held by the Group were approximately
HK$1,040,000 and HK$800 included in financial assets at
FVIOCI and financial assets at FVTPL respectively.

Details of the Perfect Growth Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 5 July 2018.
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47.

48.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following transactions with its related parties during the year.

(@) Transactions with key management personnel

All key management personnel are directors of the Company and
their remuneration are disclosed in note 16.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group paid
financial advisory fee of approximately HK$1,310,000 to a
company which is controlled by Mr. Wong Hin Shek, a former
executive director of the Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

After the COVID-19 outbreak in early 2020, a series of precautionary
and control measures have been and continued to be implemented
across the globe. The Group is paying close attention to the
development of, and the disruption to business and economic activities
caused by, the COVID-19 outbreak and evaluate its impact on the
financial position, cash flows and operating results of the Group. Given
the dynamic nature of the COVID-19 outbreak, it is not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of its impact on the Group’s financial
position, cash flows and operating results at the date on which these
consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL INFORMATION

AFHMBEHRE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the five years ended 31 December 2015, 2016,

2017, 2018 and 2019.
RESULTS

UTFAREEBE"F—HE —F—A%F —F—+
F CFN\FR-F-NF+-A=t—RLEEEF

ENEHBEEARAERBERE-

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=1+-HLEE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“B-hE C—T-N\F ZEB—+tF ZT-R§ C"T-IfF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FTHET FHET FHT FTHET
Continuing operations BERSEXEK
Revenue WA 369,839 133,230 186,967 193,534 324,729
(Loss)/profit from operations B (FR)/ER (58,570) (215,584) (485,228) 91532 123,049
Finance costs BMERA (103) - (13,720) (22,562) (5,635)
Share of profit/(loss) of an associate I — B & AREF
(E#8) 887 (21,704) (15,644) (5,550) (61)
Share of loss of a joint venture ElE—HaEbEBE - (1,174) (2,932) (5) =
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (B518) /& F (57,786) (238,462) (517,524) 63,415 117,363
Income tax (expenses)/credit s (M%) /#% (3,894) (5,830) 14,443 (29,576) (23,940)
(Loss)/profit after tax REFELEELRBE
from continuing operations (B8]) /%A (61,680) (244,292) (503,081) 33,839 93,423
Profit after tax from RECKRILEEER
discontinued operations BB &SR - 25 3,871 1,155 =
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (BE) /BT (61,680) (244,267) (499,210) 34,994 93,423
(Loss)/profit attributable to BN AL (BR)/
Al
- Owners of the Company R YN 2= DN (67,200) (251,411) (512,327) 17,002 60,510
- Non-controlling interests —FERER 5,520 7,144 13,117 17,902 32,913
(61,680) (044,267) (499,210) 34,994 93,423
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 December
W+=—A=+-H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
ZB-NE —E-N\F ZT—+F CE-RE "T-0fF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FHET FET THET FTHET
Total assets BERE 370,896 433,035 705,680 1,469,512 1,434,324
Total liabilties B EEE (64,320) (53,723) (56,847) (387,062) (380,508)
Non-controlling interests S IRIE (36,724) (36,547) (37,470) (34,915) (37,868)
Total equity attributable to EARHEEAERS
owners of the Company R 269,852 342,765 611,363 1,047,535 1,015,953
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